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COMMENT ON FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements in this Form 10-K, other than purely historical information, including estimates, projections, statements relating to our business plans, objectives and expected operating results, and
the assumptions upon which those statements are based, are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act
of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, and future events and circumstances could differ significantly from those
anticipated in the forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements generally are identified by the words “believe,” “project,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “intend,” “strategy,”
“future,” “opportunity,” “goal,” “plan,” “may,” “should,” “will,” “would,” “will be,” “will continue,” “will likely result,” and similar expressions. Forward-looking statements are based on current
expectations and assumptions that are subject to risks and uncertainties which may cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in our forward-looking statements, including
the risks and uncertainties described in “Risk Factors” (Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K), “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” (Part II, Item 7
of this Form 10-K), and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk” (Part II, Item 7A of this Form 10-K). We undertake no duty to update or revise publicly any of the forwardlooking statements after the date of this report or to conform such statements to actual results or to changes in our expectations, whether because of new information, future events, or otherwise.

PART I

Item 1.

BUSINESS

OUR COMPANY
TrueBlue, Inc. (the “company,” “TrueBlue,” “we,” “us” and “our”) is a leading provider of specialized workforce solutions that help clients achieve business growth and improve productivity. In 2019,
we connected approximately 724,000 people with work and served approximately 139,000 clients. Our PeopleReady segment offers on-demand, industrial staffing, PeopleManagement segment offers
contingent, on-site industrial staffing and commercial driver services, and PeopleScout segment offers recruitment process outsourcing (“RPO”) and managed service provider (“MSP”) solutions to a
wide variety of industries. We are headquartered in Tacoma, Washington.
We began operations in 1989, specializing in on-demand general labor staffing services with the objective of providing clients with talent and flexible workforce solutions to enhance the performance of
their businesses. We grew our on-demand, general labor staffing services through organic geographic expansion throughout the United States, Canada and Puerto Rico. Commencing in 2004, we began
expanding through acquisitions to provide a full range of blue-collar staffing solutions, and to help our clients be more productive with a reliable contingent labor workforce to rapidly respond to
changing business needs. In 2014, we expanded through acquisitions to provide complementary outsourced service offerings in permanent employment RPO and employer recruitment branding services,
as well as outsourced management of clients’ contingent labor vendors.
BUSINESS OVERVIEW
We report our business as three reportable segments described below and in Note 16: Segment Information, to our consolidated financial statements found in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

PeopleReady provides access to qualified workers in the United States, Canada and Puerto Rico through a wide range of staffing solutions for on-demand contingent general and skilled labor.
PeopleReady connects people with work in a broad range of industries that include construction, manufacturing and logistics, warehousing and distribution, waste and recycling, energy, retail,
hospitality, and others.
PeopleReady helped approximately 138,000 clients in fiscal 2019 be more productive by providing easy access to dependable, blue-collar contingent labor. Through our PeopleReady service line, we
connected approximately 317,000 people with work in fiscal 2019. We have a network of 614 branches across all 50 states, Canada and Puerto Rico. Complementing our branch network is our mobile
application, JobStackTM, which connects workers with jobs, creates a virtual exchange between our workers and clients, and allows our branch resources to expand their recruiting, sales and service
delivery efforts. JobStack is helping to competitively differentiate our services, expand our reach into new demographics, and improve both service delivery and work order fill rates as we lead our
business into a digital future.
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PeopleManagement provides recruitment and on-site management of a facility’s contingent industrial workforce. In comparison with PeopleReady, services are larger in scale, longer in duration, and
dedicated service teams are located at the client’s facility. We provide scalable solutions to meet the volume requirements of labor-intensive manufacturing, distribution and fulfillment facilities. Our
dedicated service teams work closely with on-site management as an integral part of the production and logistics process, managing all or a subset of the contingent labor for a facility or operational
function. Client on-site staffing is large-scale sourcing, screening, recruiting and management of the contingent workforce at a client’s facility in order to achieve faster hiring, lower total cost of
workforce, increased safety and compliance, improved retention, greater volume flexibility, and enhanced strategic decision-making through robust reporting and analytics. Client contracts are generally
multi-year in duration and pricing is typically based on either an hourly or productivity-based cost per unit model. The productivity-based model leverages a strategically engineered on-site solution to
incentivize performance improvements in cost, quality and on-time delivery using a fixed price-per-unit approach. Both models are impacted by factors such as geography, volume, job type, and degree
of recruiting difficulty.
Effective December 30, 2019 (first day of our 2020 fiscal year), we combined our two on-site contingent industrial workforce operating segments, Staff Management | SMX and SIMOS Insourcing
Solutions into one operating segment titled “On-site,” which continues to be reported under PeopleManagement. On-site includes our branded service offerings for hourly and productivity-based
industrial staffing solutions serving the same industries and customers.
PeopleManagement also provides dedicated and contingent commercial truck drivers to the transportation and distribution industries through our Centerline Drivers (“Centerline”) brand. Centerline
delivers compliant drivers specifically matched to each client’s needs, allowing them to improve productivity, control costs and deliver improved service.
Effective March 12, 2018, we divested the PlaneTechs, LLC business. For additional information, see Note 2: Acquisition and Divestiture, to our consolidated financial statements found in Part II,
Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

PeopleScout provides RPO of end-to-end talent acquisition services from candidate sourcing and engagement through the onboarding of employees. Our solution is highly scalable and flexible, which
allows for outsourcing of all or a subset of skill categories across a series of recruitment, hiring and onboarding steps. Our solution delivers improved talent quality and candidate experience, faster
hiring, increased scalability, lower cost of recruitment, greater flexibility and increased compliance. Our clients outsource the recruitment process to PeopleScout in all major industries and jobs. We
leverage our proprietary technology platform (AffinixTM) for sourcing, screening and delivering a permanent workforce, along with dedicated service delivery teams to work as an integrated partner with
our clients. Client contracts are generally multi-year in duration and pricing is typically composed of a fee for each hire and talent consulting fees. Pricing is impacted by factors such as geography,
volume, job type, degree of recruiting difficulty, and the scope of outsourced recruitment and employer branding services included.
PeopleScout also includes our MSP business which manages our clients’ contingent labor programs including vendor selection, performance management, compliance monitoring and risk management.
As the client’s exclusive MSP, we have dedicated service delivery teams which work as an integrated partner with our client to increase the productivity of their contingent workforce program.
Effective June 12, 2018, we acquired TMP Holdings LTD (“TMP”) through our PeopleScout subsidiary. Accordingly, the results associated with the acquisition are included in our PeopleScout
operating segment. TMP is a mid-sized RPO and employer branding practice operating in the United Kingdom, which is the second largest RPO market in the world. This acquisition increases our
ability to win multi-continent engagements by adding a physical presence in Europe, referenceable clients and employer branding capabilities. For additional information, see Note 2: Acquisition and
Divestiture, to our consolidated financial statements found in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
INDUSTRY AND MARKET DYNAMICS
The staffing industry, which includes our PeopleReady and PeopleManagement services, supplies contingent workforce solutions to minimize the cost and effort of hiring and managing permanent
employees. This allows for rapid response to changes in business conditions through the ability to replace absent employees, fill new positions, and convert fixed or permanent labor costs to variable
costs. Staffing companies act as intermediaries in matching available contingent workers to employer work assignments. Work
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assignments vary widely in duration, skill level and required experience. The staffing industry is large and highly fragmented with many competing companies. No single company has a dominant share
of the industry. Staffing companies compete both to recruit and retain a supply of contingent workers, and to attract and retain clients who will employ these workers. Client demand for contingent
staffing services is dependent on the overall strength of the economy and workforce flexibility trends. This creates volatility for the staffing industry based on overall economic conditions. Historically,
in periods of economic growth, the number of companies providing contingent workforce solutions has increased due to low barriers to entry whereas during recessionary periods, the number of
companies has decreased through consolidation, bankruptcies or other events.
Our solutions address the following key trends contributing to anticipated staffing growth:
•

Workforce flexibility: The staffing industry continues to experience increased demand in relation to total job growth as demand for a flexible workforce continues to grow with competitive and
economic pressures to reduce costs, meet dynamic seasonal demands and respond to rapidly changing market conditions.

•

Workforce productivity: Companies are under increasing competitive pressures to improve productivity through workforce solutions that improve performance.

•

Worker preferences and access to talent: Workers are demanding more flexibility in how, when and where they work as well as access to contingent work opportunities through mobile
technology. Baby boomers are leaving the workforce resulting in a talent shortage in what have traditionally been blue-collar trades. The remaining workers are in greater demand and have more
power to find the employment situation they want.

The human resource outsourcing industry involves transitioning various functions handled by internal human resources and labor procurement to outside service providers on a permanent or project
basis. Human resource departments are faced with increasingly complex operational and regulatory requirements, a tightening labor market, increased candidate expectations, an expanding talent
technology landscape, and pressure to achieve efficiencies, which increase the need to migrate non-core functions to outsourced providers. The human resource outsourcing industry includes RPO and
MSP solutions which allow clients to more effectively find and engage high-quality talent, leverage talent acquisition technology, and scale their talent acquisition function to keep pace with changing
business needs. PeopleScout is a leader in RPO and MSP services.
Our solutions address the following key trends contributing to anticipated RPO growth:
•

Scalability: RPO providers can add significant scalability to a company’s recruiting and hiring efforts, including accommodating seasonal, project or peak hiring needs without sacrificing quality,
which enables clients to focus on their core business. Providers also help clients increase efficiency and drive better performance by standardizing processes, reducing time to fill, and onboarding
the best fit talent into a client’s organization.

•

Talent access and engagement: As competition for qualified candidates increases, clients are relying on RPO providers to elevate the employer brand, build talent communities, create a world
class candidate experience, leverage innovative talent technology, and facilitate effective recruitment marketing and candidate communication strategies.

•

Leveraging talent acquisition technology: Automation, artificial intelligence and machine learning are transforming talent acquisition. The fragmented talent technology ecosystem is becoming
more crowded, with significant investments flowing in and new technology coming online rapidly. RPO providers are continuously identifying, evaluating and investing in new technology to
leverage as part of their talent technology stack to best meet today’s candidate’s expectations of a personalized, mobile-optimized and efficient hiring process. RPO providers are uniquely positioned
to successfully integrate and deploy new talent technology based on the volume of candidate engagements they manage and their understanding of the talent landscape, thereby reducing the
investments required to be made by clients.

Our solutions address the following key trends contributing to anticipated MSP growth:
•

Vendor consolidation and cost savings: Vendor consolidation can achieve significant efficiencies through enhanced scale and cost advantages such as a single point of contact to manage multiple
outside vendors, standardized contracts, consistency among contractors and processes, centralized invoicing and reporting, and maintaining robust performance tracking and analytics.

•

Access to talent: An MSP solution allows a company access to a large variety of staffing vendors with the efficiency of working with one supplier. An MSP can access numerous vendors to find the
best talent at the best price more quickly, thereby delivering a better outcome for the client.

•

Compliance pressure: Demand for contingent employee sourcing and workforce vendor management solutions is driven by increasing worker eligibility legislation and compliance monitoring to
ensure correct worker classification in order to properly
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address tax withholding, overtime, Social Security, unemployment and health care obligations to avoid government penalties and lawsuits.
BUSINESS STRATEGY
Market leadership through organic growth of our specialized workforce solutions
Our clients have a variety of challenges in running their businesses, many of which are unique to the industries in which they operate, their competitive pressures and business performance. We are
industry leaders dedicated to staffing solutions tailored to our clients’ needs and the industries in which they operate. Our differentiated solutions keep pace with their changing needs and are as follows:
•

We will continue to evaluate opportunities to expand our market presence for specialized blue-collar staffing services, expand our geographical reach through new physical locations, expand use of
existing locations to provide the full range of blue-collar staffing services, and dispatch our contingent workers to areas without a physical location. Continued investment in specialized sales,
recruiting and service expertise will create a more seamless experience for our clients to access all our services with more comprehensive solutions to enhance their performance and our growth. Our
service lines offer complementary workforce solutions with unique value propositions to meet our clients’ demand for talent.

•

We will continue to invest in technology that increases our ability to attract more clients and employees as well as reduce the cost of delivering our services. We are committed to leveraging
technology to improve the experience of our contingent workers, permanent employee candidates and clients. Our technological innovations make it easier for our clients to do business with us, and
easier to connect contingent workers with work opportunities and candidates to permanent employment opportunities. We are making significant investments in online and mobile applications to
improve the access, speed and ease of connecting our clients with high-quality contingent and permanent employee workforce solutions.
◦

Complementing our PeopleReady branch network is our JobStack platform which connects our contingent workers and clients through real time 24/7 digital exchange with easy-to-use mobile
apps. JobStack currently fills a job every nine seconds and enables our branches to expand their recruiting, sales and service delivery efforts. JobStack is helping to competitively differentiate
our services, expand our reach into new demographics, and improve both service delivery and work order fill rates as we lead our business into a digital future. Currently 87% of PeopleReady’s
workers use JobStack to find on-demand work. In 2018, we introduced JobStack to our clients, and we ended 2019 with approximately 21,300 registered clients using JobStack to order
workers, rate their performance, and approve their time worked. In 2019, approximately 48% of the orders filled by our PeopleReady branches were digitally filled through JobStack. We
continue to expand functionality to further leverage this technology to transform our business, and further enhance our client and worker retention.

◦

Complementing our PeopleScout dedicated service delivery teams is our mobile-enabled cloud-based proprietary platform, Affinix, used for sourcing, screening and delivering a permanent
workforce. Affinix creates a consumer-like candidate experience and streamlines the sourcing process. Affinix delivers speed and scalability while leveraging recruitment marketing, machine
learning, predictive analytics and other emerging technology to make the end-to-end process seamless for the candidate. We will continue to invest in Affinix to further improve our ability to
quickly and efficiently source the most attractive talent at the best price.

•

We are recognized as an industry leader for RPO services. The RPO industry is in the early majority stage of its adoption cycle, and therefore, we believe it has higher growth potential. We have a
differentiated service that leverages innovative technology for high-volume sourcing and dedicated client service teams for connecting people to opportunities. We have a track record of helping our
clients reduce the cost of hiring, add significant scalability to recruiting and hiring, and access numerous sources to quickly find the best talent, thereby delivering a better outcome for the client.
Companies are facing rapidly changing employment demographics, a shortage of talent, and dynamic changes to how people connect with work opportunities. Our solution addresses these growing
challenges. We expanded our services with the TMP acquisition, which increases our ability to win multi-continent engagements by adding a physical presence in Europe, referenceable clients, and
employer branding capabilities.

•

Our MSP solution is focused primarily on domestic middle-market companies with a growing dependence on contingent labor. Our managed service provider solutions have enabled our clients to
efficiently source, engage, fulfill, measure and manage all categories of contingent and externally sourced labor. We believe our MSP solution is uniquely positioned to manage the full range of our
clients’ labor needs.
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Growth through strategic acquisitions
Strategic acquisitions continue to be a key growth strategy with a focus on globalizing our RPO services. We believe we have a core competence in assessing, valuing and integrating acquisitions
culminating in higher shareholder returns. We are excited about the future of human resource outsourcing and believe we can continue to create shareholder value through acquisitions, which expand our
service offerings in high-growth markets, enhance our use of technology to better serve our clients, and increase our own efficiency.
CLIENTS
Our clients range from small and medium-sized businesses to Fortune 100 companies.
During fiscal 2019, we served approximately 139,000 clients in industries including construction, energy, manufacturing, warehousing and distribution, waste and recycling, energy, transportation, retail,
hospitality, general labor and many more. Our ten largest clients accounted for 16.5% of total revenue for fiscal 2019, 16.1% for fiscal 2018 and 17.6% for fiscal 2017. Our single largest client for fiscal
2019 accounted for 3.0% of total company revenue.
No single client represented more than 10.0% of total company revenue for fiscal 2019, 2018 or 2017.
EMPLOYEES
As of December 29, 2019, we employed approximately 6,200 full-time equivalent employees.
Contingent workers
We recruit contingent workers daily so that we can be responsive to the planned and unplanned needs of the clients we serve. We attract our pool of contingent workers through our proprietary mobile
applications, online resources, extensive internal databases, advertising, job fairs and various other methods. We identify the skills, knowledge, abilities and personal characteristics of a contingent
worker and match their competencies and capabilities to the client’s requirements. This enables our clients to obtain immediate value by placing a highly productive employee on the job site. We use a
variety of proprietary programs and methods for identifying and assessing the skill level of our contingent workers when selecting a particular individual for a specific assignment and retaining those
workers for future assignments. We believe that our programs and methods enable us to offer a higher quality of service by increasing productivity, decreasing turnover, reducing absenteeism and
improving worker safety.
Workers come to us because of the flexibility we offer to fill a short-term financial need and/or provide longer-term contingent flexible labor opportunities. Workers may be assigned to different jobs
and job sites, and their assignments could last for a few hours or extend for several weeks or many months. We provide our workers meaningful work and the opportunity to improve their skills. We
provide a bridge to permanent, full-time employment for thousands of contingent workers each year. We are considered the legal employer of our workers, and laws regulating the employment
relationship are applicable to our operations. We consider our relationships with our contingent workers to be good.
We remain focused and committed to worker safety. We have developed an integrated risk management program that focuses on loss analysis, education, and safety improvement programs to reduce our
risk exposure and operational costs. We regularly analyze our workers’ compensation claims to identify trends. This allows us to focus our resources on those areas that may have the greatest impact on
us, price our services appropriately, and adjust our sales and operational approach in these areas. We have also developed educational materials for distribution to our clients and workers, as well as
client site visits to address specific safety risks unique to their industry.
COMPETITION
Contingent staffing services
The staffing industry is large and highly fragmented with large publicly-held companies as well as privately-owned companies on a national, regional and local level. No single company has a dominant
share of the industry. We compete primarily with local and regional companies. We also experience competition from internet-based companies providing a variety of flexible workforce solutions. The
strongest staffing services competitor in a particular market is a company with established relationships and a track record of meeting the client’s needs.
Competition exists in attracting clients as well as qualified contingent workers. Competitive forces have historically limited our ability to raise our prices to immediately and fully offset the increased
costs of doing business, some of which include increased contingent worker wages, costs for workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance and health care.
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The most significant competitive factors are price, ability to promptly fill client orders, success in meeting clients’ expectations of recruiting contingent workers, and appropriately addressing client
service issues. We believe we derive a competitive advantage from our service history, our specialized approach in serving the industries of our clients, and our mobile application, JobStack, which
connects workers with jobs, and creates a virtual exchange between our workers and clients. JobStack is helping to competitively differentiate our services, expand our reach into new demographics, and
improve our recruiting, sales and service delivery. Our national presence, industry specialization, investment in technology, and proprietary systems and processes together with specialized programs
focused on worker safety, risk management, and legal and regulatory compliance are key differentiators from many of our competitors.
Human resource outsourcing
The strongest competitors are companies specializing in RPO services and business process outsourcing companies that also offer RPO services. No one provider dominates the market. Competition also
includes internal human resource departments that have not or are not considering outsourcing. The most significant competitive factors for RPO services are the ability to reduce client cost by deploying
an RPO solution and reducing the internal human resource cost structure of our clients. Important factors for success in RPO services include the ability to add significant scalability to a client’s
recruiting and hiring efforts, including accommodating seasonal and irregular hiring; the ability to increase efficiency by standardizing processes and facilitating transitions for candidates and
employees; and the ability to source the most attractive talent at the best price. Our tailored solutions, client partnership, proprietary technology and service delivery are key differentiators from many of
our competitors.
CYCLICAL AND SEASONAL NATURE OF OUR BUSINESS
The workforce solutions business has historically been cyclical, often acting as an indicator of both economic downturns and upswings. Clients tend to use contingent workers to supplement their
existing workforce and generally hire permanent workers when long-term demand is expected to increase. As a consequence, our revenue from services tends to increase quickly when the economy
begins to grow. Conversely, our revenue from services decreases quickly when the economy begins to weaken and thus contingent staff positions are eliminated, permanent hiring is frozen and turnover
replacement diminishes.
Our business experiences seasonal fluctuations for contingent staffing services. Demand is lower during the first and second quarters, due in part to limitations to outside work during the winter months
and slowdown in manufacturing and logistics after the holiday season. Our working capital requirements are primarily driven by contingent worker payroll and client accounts receivable. Since receipts
from clients lag payroll to contingent workers, working capital requirements increase substantially in periods of growth. Demand for contingent labor peaks during the third quarter for outdoor work and
the fourth quarter for manufacturing, assembly, warehousing, distribution and logistics for the holiday season.
REGULATION
Our services are subject to a variety of complex federal and state laws and regulations. We continuously monitor legislation and regulatory changes for their potential effect on our business. We invest in
technology and process improvements to implement required changes while minimizing the impact on our operating efficiency and effectiveness. Regulatory cost increases are passed through to our
clients to the fullest extent possible.
FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT GEOGRAPHIC AREAS
For information regarding revenue from operations and long-lived assets by domestic and foreign operations, please refer to the information presented in Note 16: Segment Information , to our
consolidated financial statements found in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
AVAILABLE INFORMATION
Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, along with all other reports and amendments filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), are publicly available, free of charge, on our
website at www.trueblue.com as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. The SEC also maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information
statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov. Our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and Board
Committee Charters are also posted to our website. The information on our website is not part of this or any other report we file with, or furnish to, the SEC.
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Item 1A.

RISK FACTORS

Investing in our securities involves risk. The following risk factors and all other information set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K should be considered in evaluating our future prospects. If any
of the events described below occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, or access to the capital markets could be materially and adversely affected.
Demand for our workforce solutions is significantly affected by fluctuations in general economic conditions.
The demand for workforce solutions is highly dependent upon the state of the economy and the workforce needs of our clients, which creates uncertainty and volatility. National and global economic
activity is slowed by many factors, including rising interest rates, political and legislative changes, epidemics, other significant health concerns, and global trade uncertainties. As economic activity
slows, companies tend to reduce their use of contingent workers and recruitment of new employees. For example, we have recently experienced reduced demand from our construction and
manufacturing customers. Significant declines in demand of any region or industry in which we have a major presence reduces the demand for our services and thereby significantly decreases our
revenues and profits. Deterioration in economic conditions or the financial or credit markets could also have an adverse impact on our clients’ ability to pay for services we have already provided.
It is difficult for us to forecast future demand for our services due to the inherent uncertainty in forecasting the direction and strength of economic cycles and the project nature of our staffing
assignments. The uncertainty can be exacerbated by volatile economic conditions, which has caused and may continue to cause clients to reduce or defer projects for which they utilize our services. The
negative impact to our business sometimes occurs before a decline in economic activity is seen in the broader economy. When it is difficult for us to accurately forecast future demand, we may not be
able to determine the optimal level of personnel and investment necessary to profitably take advantage of growth opportunities.
We may be unable to attract sufficient qualified contingent workers and candidates to meet the needs of our clients.
We compete to meet our clients’ needs for workforce solutions, therefore, we must continually attract qualified contingent workers and candidates to fill positions. Attracting qualified workers and
candidates depends on factors such as desirability of the assignment, location, the associated wages and other benefits. Unemployment in the United States has been low in the past few years, and has
recently decreased further, making it challenging to find sufficient eligible workers and candidates to meet our clients’ orders. Further increases in employment rates could increase these difficulties. We
have experienced shortages of qualified workers and candidates and may experience such shortages in the future. Further, if there is a shortage, the cost to employ or recruit these individuals could
increase and our ability to generate revenue would be harmed if we could not fill positions. If we are unable to pass those costs through to our clients, it could materially and adversely affect our
business. Organized labor periodically engages in efforts to represent various groups of our contingent workers. If we are subject to unreasonable collective bargaining agreements or work disruptions,
our business could be adversely affected.
We may not achieve the intended effects of our business strategy which could negatively impact our results.
Our business strategy focuses on driving growth in our PeopleReady, PeopleManagement and PeopleScout business lines by investing in innovative technology, acquisitions and initiatives which drive
organic growth. Our investments and acquisitions may not achieve our desired returns and the results of our initiatives may not be as expected or may be impacted by matters outside of our control. If we
are unsuccessful in executing any of these strategies, we may not achieve our goal of revenue and profitability growth, which could negatively impact financial results.
Our workforce solutions are subject to extensive government regulation and the imposition of additional regulations, which could materially harm our future earnings.
Our workforce solutions are subject to extensive government regulation. The cost to comply, and any inability to comply with government regulation, could have a material adverse effect on our
business and financial results. Increases or changes in government regulation of the workplace or of the employer-employee relationship, or judicial or administrative proceedings related to such
regulation, could materially harm our business.
Our temporary staffing services employ contingent workers. The wage rates we pay to contingent workers are based on many factors including government-mandated minimum wage requirements,
payroll-related taxes and benefits. If we are not able to increase the fees charged to clients to absorb any increased costs related to these factors, our results of operations and financial condition could be
adversely affected.
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We offer our contingent workers in the United States government-mandated health insurance in compliance with the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively, the “ACA”). Because the requirements, regulations, and interpretations of the ACA may change, the ultimate financial effect of the ACA is not yet known, and
changes in its requirements and interpretations could increase or change our costs. In addition, because of the uncertainty surrounding a potential repeal or replacement of the ACA, we cannot predict
with any certainty the likely impact of the ACA’s repeal or the adoption of any other health care reform legislation on our financial condition or operating results. Whether or not there is a change in
health care legislation in the United States the costs of our health care expenditures may increase. If we are unable to comply with changes to the ACA, or any future health care legislation in the United
States, or sufficiently raise the rates we charge our clients to cover any additional costs, such noncompliance or increases in costs could materially harm our business.
We may experience employment related claims, commercial indemnification claims and other legal proceedings that could materially harm our business.
We are in the business of employing people in the workplaces of our clients. We incur a risk of liability for claims relating to personal injury, wage and hour violations, immigration, discrimination,
harassment and other liabilities arising from the actions of our clients and/or contingent workers. Some or all of these claims may give rise to negative publicity, investigations, litigation or settlements.
We may incur costs or other material adverse impacts on our financial statements for the period in which the effect of an unfavorable final outcome becomes probable and can be reasonably estimated.
We may have liability to our clients for the action or inactions of our employees, that may cause harm to our clients or third parties. In some cases, we must indemnify our clients for certain acts of our
contingent workers or arising from our contingent workers presence on the client’s job site and certain clients have negotiated broad indemnification provisions. We may also incur fines, penalties, and
losses that are not covered by insurance or negative publicity with respect to these matters.
We maintain insurance with respect to some potential claims and costs with deductibles. We cannot be certain we will be able to obtain appropriate types or levels of insurance in the future or that
adequate replacement policies will be available on acceptable terms. Should the final judgments or settlements exceed our insurance coverage, they could have a material effect on our business. Our
ability to obtain insurance, its coverage levels, deductibles and premiums, are all dependent on market factors, our loss history, and insurance providers’ assessments of our overall risk profile. Further,
we cannot be certain our current and former insurance carriers will be able to pay claims we make under such policies.
We are dependent on obtaining workers’ compensation and other insurance coverage at commercially reasonable terms. Unexpected changes in claim trends on our workers’ compensation may
negatively impact our financial condition.
Our temporary staffing services employ workers for which we provide workers’ compensation insurance. Our workers’ compensation insurance policies are renewed annually. The majority of our
insurance policies are with AIG. Our insurance carriers require us to collateralize a significant portion of our workers’ compensation obligation. The majority of collateral is held in trust by a third-party
for the payment of these claims. The loss or decline in value of the collateral could require us to seek additional sources of capital to pay our workers’ compensation claims. As our business grows or if
our financial results deteriorate, the amount of collateral required will likely increase and the timing of providing collateral could be accelerated. Resources to meet these requirements may not be
available. We cannot be certain we will be able to obtain appropriate types or levels of insurance in the future or that adequate replacement policies will be available on acceptable terms. The loss of our
workers’ compensation insurance coverage would prevent us from operating as a staffing services business in the majority of our markets. Further, we cannot be certain that our current and former
insurance carriers will be able to pay claims we make under such policies.
We self-insure, or otherwise bear financial responsibility for, a significant portion of expected losses under our workers’ compensation program. We have experienced unexpected changes in claim
trends, including the severity and frequency of claims, changes in state laws regarding benefit levels and allowable claims, actuarial estimates, and medical cost inflation, and may experience such
changes in the future which could result in costs that are significantly different than initially anticipated or reported and could cause us to record different reserves in our financial statements. There is a
risk that we will not be able to increase the fees charged to our clients in a timely manner and in a sufficient amount to cover increased costs as a result of any changes in claims-related liabilities.
We actively manage the safety of our contingent workers through our safety programs and actively control costs with our network of workers’ compensation related service providers. These activities
have had a positive impact creating favorable adjustments to workers’ compensation liabilities recorded in prior periods. The benefit of these adjustments is likely to decline and there can be no
assurance that we will be able to continue to reduce accident rates and control costs to produce these results in the future.
Some clients require extensive insurance coverage and request insurance endorsements that are not available under standard policies. There can be no assurance that we will be able to negotiate
acceptable compromises with clients or negotiate appropriate
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changes in our insurance contracts. An inability to meet client insurance requirements may adversely affect our ability to take on new clients or continue providing services to existing clients.
We operate in a highly competitive industry and may be unable to retain clients or market share.
Our industry is highly competitive and rapidly innovating, with low barriers to entry. We compete in global, national, regional and local markets with full-service and specialized temporary staffing
companies as well as business process outsourcing companies that also offer our services. Our competitors offer a variety of flexible workforce solutions. Therefore, there is no assurance that we will be
able to retain clients or market share in the future, nor can there be any assurance that we will, in light of competitive pressures, be able to remain profitable or maintain our current profit margins.
Advances in technology may disrupt the labor and recruiting markets and we must constantly improve our technology to meet the expectations of clients, candidates and employees.
The increased use of internet-based and mobile technology is attracting additional technology-oriented companies and resources to the staffing industry. Our candidates and clients increasingly demand
technological innovation to improve the access to and delivery of our services. Our clients increasingly rely on automation, artificial intelligence, machine learning and other new technologies to reduce
their dependence on labor needs, which may reduce demand for our services and impact our operations. We face extensive pressure for lower prices and new service offerings and must continue to invest
in and implement new technology and industry developments in order to remain relevant to our clients and candidates. As a result of this increasing dependence upon technology, we must timely and
effectively identify, develop, or license technology from third parties, and integrate such enhanced or expanded technologies into the solutions that we provide. In addition, our business relies on a
variety of technologies, including those that support recruiting, hiring, paying, order management, billing, collecting, contingent worker data analytics and client data analytics. If we do not sufficiently
invest in and implement new technology, or evolve our business at sufficient speed and scale, our business results of operations may decline materially. Acquiring technological expertise and developing
new technologies for our business may require us to incur significant expenses and costs. For some solutions, we depend on key vendors and partners to provide technology and support. If these third
parties fail to perform their obligations or cease to work with us, our ability to execute on our strategic initiatives could be negatively affected.
Our business and operations have undergone, and will continue to undergo, significant change as we seek to improve our operational and support effectiveness, which if not managed could have
an adverse outcome on our business and results of operations.
We have significantly changed our operations and internal processes in recent periods, and we will continue making similar changes, in order to improve our operational effectiveness. These efforts
strain our systems, management, administrative, operations and financial infrastructure. For example, we are currently combining some of our operating segments. We believe these efforts are important
to our long-term success. Managing and cascading these changes throughout the company will continue to require the further attention of our management team and refinement to our operational,
financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures. These activities will require ongoing expenditures and allocation of valuable management and employee resources. If we fail to
manage these changes effectively, our costs and expenses may increase more than we expect and our business, financial condition and results of operations may be harmed.
We are at risk of damage to our brands and reputation, which is important to our success.
Our ability to attract and retain clients, contingent workers, candidates, and employees is affected by external perceptions of our brands and reputation. Negative perceptions or publicity could damage
our reputation with current or perspective clients and employees. Negative perceptions or publicity regarding our vendors, clients, or business partners may adversely affect our brand and reputation. We
may not be successful in detecting, preventing, or negating all changes in or impacts on our reputation. If any factor, including poor performance or negative publicity, whether or not true, hurts our
reputation, we may experience negative repercussions which could harm our business.
The expansion of social media platforms creates new risks and challenges that could cause damage to our brand and reputation.
The use of social media platforms, including social media websites and other forms of internet-based communications, has rapidly increased allowing individuals access to a broad audience of
consumers and other interested parties. For example, unfavorable comments about a work site could make recruiting or hiring at that site more challenging. The inappropriate or unauthorized use of such
platforms by our clients or employees could violate privacy laws, cause damage to our brand, or lead to litigation which could harm our business.
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Our level of debt and restrictions in our credit agreement could negatively affect our operations and limit our liquidity and our ability to react to changes in the economy.
Extensions of credit under our revolving credit agreement (“Revolving Credit Facility”) are limited. Our Revolving Credit Facility contains restrictive covenants that require us to maintain certain
financial conditions. Our failure to comply with these restrictive covenants could result in an event of default, which, if not cured or waived, could require us to repay these borrowings before their due
date. We may not have sufficient funds on hand to repay these loans, and if we are forced to refinance these borrowings on less favorable terms, or are unable to refinance at all, our results of operations
and financial condition could be materially adversely affected by increased costs and rates.
Our principal sources of liquidity are funds generated from operating activities, available cash and cash equivalents, and borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility. We must have sufficient sources
of liquidity to meet our working capital requirements, fund our workers’ compensation collateral requirements, service our outstanding indebtedness, and finance investment opportunities. Without
sufficient liquidity, we could be forced to curtail our operations or we may not be able to pursue promising business opportunities.
In the event that our debt levels increase, it could have significant consequences for the operation of our business including requiring us to dedicate a significant portion of our cash flow from operations
to servicing our debt rather than using it for our operations; limiting our ability to obtain additional debt financing for future working capital, capital expenditures, or other corporate purposes; limiting
our ability to take advantage of significant business opportunities, such as acquisitions; limiting our ability to react to changes in market or industry conditions; and putting us at a disadvantage compared
to competitors with less debt.
The loss of, continued reduction or substantial decline in revenue from larger clients could have a material adverse effect on our revenues, profitability and liquidity.
We experience revenue concentration with large clients. Generally, our contracts do not contain guarantees of minimum duration, revenue levels, or profitability. Our clients may terminate their
contracts or materially reduce their requested levels of service at any time. Although we have no clients that represents over 10% of our consolidated revenue, there are clients that exceed 10% of
revenues within some of our operating segments. The deterioration of the financial condition of a large client could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations. In addition, a significant change to the business, staffing or recruiting model of these clients, for example a decision to insource our services, has had and could again have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. The loss of, or reduced demand for our services from larger clients, has had, and in the future could have, a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Client concentration exposes us to concentrated credit risk, as a significant portion of our accounts receivable may be from a small number of
clients. If we are unable to collect our receivables, or are required to take additional reserves, our results and cash flows will be adversely affected.
Failure of our information technology systems could adversely affect our operating results.
The efficient operation of our business and applications and services we provide is dependent on reliable technology. We rely on our information technology systems to monitor and control our
operations, adjust to changing market conditions, implement strategic initiatives, and provide services to clients. We rely heavily on proprietary and third-party information technology systems, mobile
device technology data centers, cloud-based environments and other technology. We take various precautions and have enhanced controls around these systems, but information technology systems are
susceptible to damage, disruptions, or shutdowns due to failures during the process of upgrading or replacing software, databases, power outages, hardware failures, computer viruses, malicious attacks,
telecommunication failures, user errors or catastrophic events. The failure of technology and our applications and services, and our information systems to perform as anticipated could disrupt our
business and result in decreased revenue and increased overhead costs, causing our business and results of operations to suffer materially.
Cyber security vulnerabilities and incidents could lead to the improper disclosure of information about our clients, candidates and employees.
Our business requires the use, processing, and storage of confidential information about applicants, candidates, contingent workers, other employees and clients. We use information technology and
other computer resources to carry out operational and support activities and maintain our business records. We rely on information technology systems to process, transmit, and store electronic
information and to communicate among our locations around the world and with our clients, partners, and employees. The breadth and complexity of this infrastructure increases the potential risk of
security breaches which could lead to potential unauthorized disclosure of confidential information.
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Our systems and networks are vulnerable to computer viruses, malware, hackers and other security issues, including physical and electronic break-ins, disruptions from unauthorized access and
tampering, social engineering attacks, impersonation of authorized users, and coordinated denial-of-services attacks. We have experienced cyber security incidents and attacks which have not had a
material impact on our business or results of operations, however, there is no assurance that such impacts will not be material in the future. The security controls over sensitive or confidential
information and other practices we and our third-party vendors follow may not prevent the improper access to, disclosure of, or loss of such information. Continued investments in cyber security will
increase our costs and a failure to prevent access to our systems could lead to penalties, litigation, and damage to our reputation. Perceptions that we do not adequately protect the privacy of information
could harm our relationship with clients and employees.
Data security, data privacy and data protection laws and other technology regulations increase our costs.
Laws and regulations related to privacy and data protection are evolving and generally becoming more stringent. We may fail to implement practices and procedures that comply with increasing
international and domestic privacy regulations, such as the General Data Protection Regulations or the California Consumer Privacy Act. Several additional U.S. states have issued cyber security
regulations that outline a variety of required security measures for protection of data. These regulations are designed to protect client, candidate, contingent worker, and employee data and require that
we meet stringent requirements regarding the handling of personal data, including the use, protection and transfer of personal data. As these laws continue to change, we may be required to make
changes to our services, solutions or products to meet the new legal requirements. Changes in these laws may increase our costs to comply as well as our potential costs through higher potential penalties
for non-compliance. Failure to protect the integrity and security of such confidential and/or proprietary information could expose us to regulatory fines, litigation, contractual liability, damage to our
reputation and increased compliance costs.
Improper disclosure of, or access to our clients’ information could materially harm our business.
Our contingent workers and employees may have access to or exposure to confidential information about applicants, candidates, contingent workers, other employees and clients. The security controls
over sensitive or confidential information and other practices we, our clients and our third-party vendors follow may not prevent the improper access to, disclosure of, or loss of such information. Failure
to protect the integrity and security of such confidential and/or proprietary information could expose us to regulatory fines, litigation, contractual liability, damage to our reputation and increased
compliance costs.
Failure to protect our intellectual property could harm our business, and we face the risk that our services or products may infringe upon the intellectual property rights of others.
We have invested in developing specialized technology and intellectual property, proprietary systems, processes and methodologies that we believe provide us a competitive advantage in serving clients.
We cannot guarantee that trade secrets, trademark, and copyright law protections are adequate to deter misappropriation of our intellectual property, which is an important part of our business. We may
be unable to detect the unauthorized use of our intellectual property and take the necessary steps to enforce our rights. We cannot be sure that our services and products, or the products of others that we
offer to our clients, do not infringe on the intellectual property rights of third parties, and we may have infringement claims asserted against us or our clients. These claims may harm our reputation,
result in financial liability and prevent us from offering some services or products to clients.
Our facilities, operations and information technology systems are vulnerable to damage and interruption.
Our primary computer systems, headquarters, support facilities and operations are vulnerable to damage or interruption from power outages, computer and telecommunications failures, computer
viruses, employee errors, security breaches, natural disasters and catastrophic events. Failure of our systems or damage to our facilities may cause significant interruption to our business, and require
significant additional capital and management resources to resolve, causing material harm to our business.
Acquisitions may have an adverse effect on our business.
We may continue making acquisitions a part of our business strategy. This strategy may be impeded, however, and we may not achieve our long-term growth goals if we cannot identify suitable
acquisition candidates or if acquisition candidates are not available under acceptable terms. We may have difficulty integrating acquired companies into our operating, financial planning, and financial
reporting systems and may not effectively manage acquired companies to achieve expected growth.
Future acquisitions could result in incurring additional debt and contingent liabilities, an increase in interest expense, amortization expense, and charges related to integration costs. Additional
indebtedness could also include covenants or other restrictions that would impede our ability to manage our operations. We may also issue equity securities to pay for an acquisition, which could result
in dilution to our shareholders. Any acquisitions we announce could be viewed negatively by investors, which may adversely affect the price of our common stock. Acquisitions can also result in the
addition of goodwill and intangible assets to our financial statements and we may be required to record a significant charge in our financial statements during the period in which we determine
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an impairment of our acquired goodwill and intangible assets has occurred, which would negatively impact our financial results. The potential loss of key executives, employees, clients, suppliers,
vendors, and other business partners of businesses we acquire may adversely impact the value of the assets, operations, or business we acquire. These events could cause material harm to our business,
operating results or financial condition.
New business initiatives may have an adverse effect on our business.
We expect to continue adjusting the composition of our business lines and entering into new business initiatives as part of our business strategy. New business initiatives, strategic business partners or
changes in the composition of our business mix can be distracting to our management and disruptive to our operations, causing our business and results of operations to suffer materially. New business
initiatives, including initiatives outside of our workforce solutions business, in new markets, or new geographies, could involve significant unanticipated challenges and risks including not advancing our
business strategy, not realizing our anticipated return on investment, experiencing difficulty in implementing initiatives, or diverting management’s attention from our other businesses. These events
could cause material harm to our business, operating results or financial condition.
Our results of operations could materially deteriorate if we fail to attract, develop and retain qualified employees.
Our performance is dependent on attracting and retaining qualified employees who are able to meet the needs of our clients. We believe our competitive advantage is providing unique solutions for each
client, which requires us to have trained and engaged employees. Our success depends upon our ability to attract, develop and retain a sufficient number of qualified employees, including management,
sales, recruiting, service, technology and administrative personnel. The turnover rate in the employment services industry is high, and qualified individuals may be difficult to attract and hire. Our
inability to recruit, train and motivate a sufficient number of qualified individuals may delay or affect the speed and quality of our strategy execution and planned growth. Delayed expansion, significant
increases in employee turnover rates, or significant increases in labor costs could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We may have additional tax liabilities that exceed our estimates.
We are subject to federal taxes, a multitude of state and local taxes in the United States, and taxes in foreign jurisdictions. We face continued uncertainty surrounding the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and
any reduction or change in tax credits which we utilize, such as the Work Opportunity Tax Credit. In the ordinary course of our business, there are transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. We are regularly subject to audit by tax authorities. Although we believe our tax estimates are reasonable, the final determination of tax audits and any related litigation could
be materially different from our historical tax provisions and accruals. The results of an audit or litigation with tax authorities could materially harm our business. Changes in interpretation of existing
laws and regulations by a taxing authority could result in penalties and increased costs in the future. The taxing authorities of the jurisdictions in which we operate may challenge our methodologies for
valuing intercompany arrangements or may change their laws, which could increase our worldwide effective tax rate and harm our financial position and results of operations.
The price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly, which may result in losses for investors.
The market price for our common stock may be subject to significant volatility. Our stock price can fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control. These factors
include, but are not limited to, changes in general economic conditions; announcement of new services or acquisitions by us or our competitors; changes in financial estimates or other statements by
securities analysts; changes in industry trends or conditions; regulatory developments and any major change in our board or management. In addition, the stock market in general has experienced
extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated to the operating performance of listed companies. These broad market and industry factors may impact the price of our common
stock, regardless of our operating performance.
We cannot guarantee that we will repurchase our common stock pursuant to our share repurchase program or that our share repurchase program will enhance long-term shareholder value.
Our Board of Directors has authorized a share repurchase program. Under the program, we are authorized to repurchase shares of common stock for a set aggregate purchase price, and we may choose to
purchase shares in the open market, from individual holders, through an accelerated share repurchase program or otherwise. Although the Board of Directors has authorized a share repurchase program,
the share repurchase program does not obligate the company to repurchase any specific dollar amount or to acquire any specific number of shares. The timing and amount of the repurchases, if any, will
depend upon several factors, including market and business conditions, the trading price of the company’s common stock and the nature of other investment opportunities. The repurchase program may
be limited, suspended or discontinued at any time without prior notice. In addition, repurchases of our common stock pursuant to our share repurchase program could affect our stock price and increase
its volatility. The existence of a share repurchase program could cause our stock price to be higher than it would be in the absence of such a program and
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could potentially reduce the market liquidity for our stock. Additionally, our share repurchase program could diminish our cash reserves, which may impact our ability to finance future growth and to
pursue possible future strategic opportunities and acquisitions. There can be no assurance that these share repurchases will enhance shareholder value because the market price of our common stock may
decline below the level at which we repurchased shares of stock. Although our share repurchase program is intended to enhance long-term shareholder value, there is no assurance that it will do so and
short-term stock price fluctuations could reduce the program’s effectiveness.
Failure to maintain adequate financial and management processes and controls could lead to errors in our financial reporting.
If our management is unable to certify the effectiveness of our internal controls, including those over our third-party vendors, or if our independent registered public accounting firm cannot render an
opinion on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting, or if material weaknesses in our internal controls are identified, we could be subject to regulatory scrutiny and a loss of
public confidence. In addition, if we do not maintain adequate financial and management personnel, processes and controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial performance on a timely
basis, which could cause our stock price to fall.
Outsourcing certain aspects of our business could result in disruption and increased costs.
We have outsourced certain aspects of our business to third-party vendors. These relationships subject us to risks including disruptions in our business and increased costs. For example, we license
software from third parties, much of which is central to our systems and our business. The licenses are generally terminable if we breach our obligations under the license agreements. If any of these
relationships were terminated, or if any of these parties were to cease doing business or supporting the applications we currently utilize, we may be forced to spend significant time and money to replace
the licensed software. In addition, we have engaged third parties to host and manage certain aspects of our data center, information and technology infrastructure, mobile applications, and electronic pay
solutions, to provide certain back office support activities, and to support business process outsourcing for our clients. We are subject to the risks associated with the vendors’ inability to provide these
services in a manner that meets our needs. If the cost of these services is more than expected, if we or the vendors fail to adequately protect our data and information is lost, or if our ability to deliver our
services is interrupted, then our business and results of operations may be negatively impacted.
We face risks in operating internationally.
A portion of our business operations and support functions are located outside of the United States. These international operations are subject to a number of risks, including political and economic
conditions in those foreign countries, foreign currency fluctuations, the burden of complying with various foreign laws and technical standards, unpredictable changes in foreign regulations, U.S. legal
requirements governing U.S. companies operating in foreign countries, legal and cultural differences in the conduct of business, potential adverse tax consequences and difficulty in staffing and
managing international operations. We recently acquired operations in the United Kingdom, which could be negatively impacted as clients in the United Kingdom encounter uncertainties related to the
United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union. We could also be exposed to fines and penalties under U.S. or foreign laws, for instance, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, prohibiting improper
payments to governmental officials and others for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Although we have implemented policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with these laws,
we cannot be sure that our employees, contractors or agents will not violate such policies. Any such violations could materially damage our reputation, brands, business and operating results. Further,
changes in U.S. laws and policies governing foreign investment and use of foreign operations or workers, and any negative sentiments towards the United States resulting from such changes, could
adversely affect our operations.

Item 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.

Item 2.

PROPERTIES

We lease building space for all our PeopleReady branches, except for two that we own in Florida, and our PeopleManagement recruitment offices. In addition, we lease office spaces for our
PeopleReady, PeopleManagement, and PeopleScout centralized support functions. Under the majority of our leases, we have the right to terminate the lease with 90 days’ notice. We do not anticipate
any difficulty in renewing these leases or in finding alternative sites in the ordinary course of business. We own an office building in Tacoma, Washington, which serves as our corporate headquarters.
Management believes all our facilities are currently suitable for their intended use.
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Item 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Note 9: Commitments and Contingencies, to our consolidated financial statements found in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 4.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Market information
Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol TBI.
Holders of the corporation’s common stock
We had approximately 503 shareholders of record as of January 31, 2020. This number does not include shareholders for whom shares were held in “nominee” or “street name.”
Dividends
No cash dividends have been declared on our common stock to date nor have any decisions been made to pay a dividend in the future. Payment of dividends is evaluated on a periodic basis and if a
dividend were paid, it would be subject to the covenants of our revolving credit agreement, which may have the effect of restricting our ability to pay dividends.
Stock repurchases
The table below includes repurchases of our common stock pursuant to publicly announced plans or programs and those not made pursuant to publicly announced plans or programs during the thirteen
weeks ended December 29, 2019.

Period

Total number
of shares
purchased (1)

Weighted
average price
paid per
share (2)

Total number of shares
purchased as part of
publicly announced plans
or programs (3)

Maximum number of shares (or
approximate dollar value) that
may yet be purchased under
plans or programs at period
end (4)

09/30/2019 through 10/27/2019

3,030

$21.12

280,154

$120.8 million

10/28/2019 through 11/24/2019

4,458

$23.03

17,600

$120.4 million

11/25/2019 through 12/29/2019

5,243

$23.20

62,838

$119.0 million

12,731

$22.65

360,592

Total

(1) During the thirteen weeks ended December 29, 2019, we purchased 12,731 shares in order to satisfy employee tax withholding obligations upon the vesting of restricted stock. These shares were not acquired
pursuant to our publicly announced share repurchase program.
(2) Weighted average price paid per share does not include any adjustments for commissions.
(3) The weighted average price per share for shares repurchased under the share repurchase program during the period was $21.51.
(4) On September 17, 2017, our Board of Directors authorized a $100 million share repurchase program of our outstanding common stock. As of December 29, 2019, $19.0 million remains available for repurchase. On
October 16, 2019, our Board of Directors authorized an additional $100 million share repurchase program of our outstanding common stock. These share repurchase programs do not obligate us to acquire any
particular amount of common stock and do not have expiration dates.

TrueBlue stock comparative performance graph
The following graph depicts our stock price performance from December 26, 2014 through December 29, 2019, relative to the performance of the S&P SmallCap 600 Index and S&P 1500 Human
Resources and Employment Services Index.
All indices shown in the graph have been reset to a base of 100 as of December 26, 2014 and assume an investment of $100 on that date and the reinvestment of dividends, if any, paid since that date.
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COMPARISON OF 5-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

Total return analysis
TrueBlue, Inc.
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Item 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data is derived from our audited consolidated financial statements. The data below should be read in conjunction with Item 1A. Risk Factors, Item 7. Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Summary consolidated financial and operating data
as of and for the fiscal years ended (1)
Statements of operations data:

(52 weeks)

(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue from services

2019

$

Cost of services

(53 weeks)

2018

2,368,779

$

2017

2,499,207

$

(52 weeks)

2016

2,508,771

$

2015

2,750,640

$

2,695,680

1,742,621

1,833,607

1,874,298

2,070,922

2,060,007

Gross profit

626,158

665,600

634,473

679,718

635,673

Selling, general and administrative expense

522,430

550,632

510,794

546,477

495,988

37,549

41,049

46,115

46,692

41,843

—

—

—

103,544

3,865

1,744

70,044

75,663

6,971

9,909

Depreciation and amortization
Goodwill and intangible asset impairment charge
Interest and other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before tax expense (benefit)
Income tax expense (benefit)

(14)

—

(3,345)

(1,395)

77,550

(20,340)

96,447

22,094

(5,089)

25,200

Net income (loss)

$

63,073

$

65,754

$

55,456

$

(15,251)

$

71,247

Net income (loss) per diluted share

$

1.61

$

1.63

$

1.34

$

(0.37)

$

1.71

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding

39,179

40,275

41,441

41,648

41,622

Balance sheet data(2):
(in thousands)

Working capital
Total assets

2019

$

190,927

2018

$

204,301

2017

$

215,860

2016

$

176,668

2015

$

314,989

1,136,155

1,114,844

1,109,031

1,130,445

1,259,442

Long-term liabilities

279,376

297,879

341,765

354,131

495,893

Total liabilities

510,182

523,405

554,184

605,266

723,869

(1) In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2016, we changed our fiscal year-end from the last Friday in December to the Sunday closest to the last day in December. In addition, the 2016 fiscal year included 53 weeks, with the
53rd week falling in our fourth quarter. All other years presented include 52 weeks.
(2) Fiscal year 2015 data has been impacted by the adoption and retrospective application of ASU 2015-17, which classifies all deferred income taxes as non-current.

The operating results reported above include the results of acquisitions subsequent to their respective purchase dates. In June 2018, we acquired TMP Holdings LTD. In January 2016, we acquired the
recruitment process outsourcing business of Aon Hewitt. In December 2015, we acquired SIMOS Insourcing Solutions Corporation. Additionally, in March 2018, we divested PlaneTechs, LLC.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) is designed to provide the reader of our accompanying consolidated financial statements (“financial
statements”) with a narrative from the perspective of management on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and certain other factors that may affect future results. MD&A is provided as
a supplement to, and should be read in conjunction with, our financial statements and the accompanying notes to our financial statements.

OVERVIEW
TrueBlue, Inc. (the “company,” “TrueBlue,” “we,” “us” and “our”) is a leading provider of specialized workforce solutions that help clients achieve business growth and improve productivity. In 2019,
we connected approximately 724,000 people with work and served approximately 139,000 clients. We report our business as three reportable segments: PeopleReady, PeopleManagement and
PeopleScout. Our PeopleReady segment offers on-demand, industrial staffing; PeopleManagement segment offers contingent, on-site industrial staffing and commercial driver services; and PeopleScout
segment offers recruitment process outsourcing (“RPO”) and managed service provider (“MSP”) solutions to a wide variety of industries. See Note 16: Segment Information, to our consolidated
financial statements found in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for additional details on our operating and reportable segments.
We experienced challenges in fiscal 2019, evidenced by a 5.2% revenue decline and a 4.1% decline in net income. Some of the decline in revenue was expected and came from a small number of large
clients that experienced issues within their businesses. As the year unfolded, we saw a broader softening in revenue trends, similar to other industrial staffing providers, as clients pulled back in response
to lower volumes. While overall job data was positive for the United States, the contingent portion, which makes up approximately 2% of the workforce, experienced a pull back as businesses used
contingent services more sparingly in light of economic uncertainty.
Fiscal 2019 highlights
Revenue from services
Total company revenue declined 5.2% to $2.4 billion, for the year ended December 29, 2019, compared to the prior year. This decline was primarily driven by less demand for our services attributable to
lower volumes within the businesses of our clients and continued economic uncertainty. Revenue trends slowed over the course of the year as clients moderated contingent labor spend. Declines were
broad-based across multiple geographies and industries with manufacturing experiencing the most pressure.
PeopleReady, our largest segment, experienced a revenue decline of 3.2%, due primarily to less demand for our services and continued economic uncertainty. PeopleManagement, our lowest margin
segment, experienced a revenue decline of 11.8%. In addition to less demand from existing clients, PeopleManagement experienced the impact of the loss of several key clients in the prior year.
PeopleScout, our highest margin segment, experienced revenue growth of 1.4%. Our year-over-year PeopleScout trends are impacted by our acquisition on June 12, 2018 of TMP Holdings LTD
(“TMP”). The TMP acquisition contributed 9.9% growth to PeopleScout for the year ended December 29, 2019, compared to the prior year. In addition to less demand from existing clients, PeopleScout
continues to experience the impact of the loss of a large client after being acquired in the first quarter of 2019 and lower volume and margin on another large industrial client due to adverse business
conditions.
Gross profit
Total company gross profit as a percentage of revenue for the year ended December 29, 2019 was 26.4%, compared to 26.6% for the prior year. The decrease was primarily due to client mix, partially
offset by a decrease to workers’ compensation cost.
Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expense
Total company SG&A expense decreased by $29 million to $522 million, or 22.1% of revenue for the year ended December 29, 2019, compared to $551 million, or 22.0% of revenue for the prior year.
The decrease in SG&A expense is primarily due to cost control programs, while remaining committed to investing in customer acquisition and retention initiatives to drive growth, and our digital
strategies to differentiate our services and grow market share.
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Income from operations
Total company income from operations was $66 million, or 2.8% of revenue for the year ended December 29, 2019, compared to $74 million, or 3.0% of revenue for the prior year. The decrease in gross
profit from the decline in revenue was largely offset by the decrease in SG&A expense due to cost control programs.
Net income
Net income was $63 million, 2.7% of revenue or $1.61 per diluted share for the year ended December 29, 2019, compared to $66 million, 2.6% of revenue or $1.63 per diluted share for the prior year.
The net income decline was primarily driven by declining income from operations partially offset by lower interest expense due to a lower debt balance of $37 million at the end of 2019 compared to
$80 million at the end of 2018.
Additional highlights
We believe we are taking the right steps with our disciplined cost management to address the continued economic uncertainty and slowed contingent labor spend while investing in strategic growth
initiatives to produce long-term growth for shareholders. We also believe we are in a strong financial position to fund working capital needs for growth opportunities. As of December 29, 2019, we had
cash and cash equivalents of $38 million and $257 million available under our revolving credit agreement (“Revolving Credit Facility”) for total liquidity of $295 million.
We continue to return cash to shareholders through our share repurchase program. We repurchased $39 million of common stock during the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019, which leaves $119
million available under the existing authorizations.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following table presents selected financial data for fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018 for the total company:
Years ended
(in thousands, except percentages and per share data)

2019

Revenue from services

$

Total revenue decline %

% of revenue

2,368,779

2018

$

(5.2)%

Gross profit

$

% of revenue

2,499,207
(0.4)%

626,158

26.4% $

665,600

26.6%

522,430

22.1%

550,632

22.0%

Depreciation and amortization

37,549

1.6%

41,049

1.6%

Income from operations

66,179

2.8%

73,919

3.0%

Selling, general and administrative expense

Interest and other income (expense), net
Income before tax expense
Income tax expense

3,865

1,744

70,044

75,663

6,971

9,909

Net income

$

63,073

2.7% $

65,754

Net income per diluted share

$

1.61

$

1.63

2.6%

We report our business as three reportable segments described below and in Note 16: Segment Information, to our consolidated financial statements found in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
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•

PeopleReady provides access to reliable workers in the United States, Canada and Puerto Rico through a wide range of staffing solutions for on-demand contingent general and skilled labor.
PeopleReady connects people to work in a broad range of industries that include construction, manufacturing and logistics, warehousing and distribution, waste and recycling, energy, retail,
hospitality, and others. PeopleReady helped approximately 138,000 clients in fiscal 2019 to be more productive by providing easy access to dependable, blue-collar contingent labor. Through our
PeopleReady service line, we connected approximately 317,000 people with work in fiscal 2019. We have a network of 614 branches across all 50 states, Canada and Puerto Rico. Complementing
our branch network is our mobile application, JobStackTM, which connects workers with jobs, creates a virtual exchange between our workers and clients, and allows our branch resources to expand
their recruiting and sales efforts and service delivery. JobStack is helping to competitively differentiate our services, expand our reach into new demographics, and improve both service delivery and
work order fill rates as we lead our business into a digital future.

•

PeopleManagement predominantly provides a wide range of on-site contingent staffing and workforce management solutions to larger multi-site manufacturing, distribution and fulfillment clients.
In comparison with PeopleReady, services are larger in scale, longer in duration, and dedicated service teams are located at the client’s facility. Effective December 30, 2019 (first day of our 2020
fiscal year), we combined our two on-site contingent industrial workforce operating segments, Staff Management | SMX (“Staff Management”) and SIMOS Insourcing Solutions (“SIMOS”) into
one operating segment titled “On-site,” which continues to be reported under PeopleManagement. On-site includes our branded service offerings for hourly and productivity-based industrial staffing
solutions serving the same industries and similar customers. PeopleManagement also includes Centerline Drivers (“Centerline”), which specializes in dedicated and contingent commercial truck
drivers to the transportation and distribution industries. Effective March 12, 2018, we divested the PlaneTechs, LLC (“PlaneTechs”) business from our PeopleManagement reportable segment.

•

PeopleScout provides recruitment process outsourcing of end-to-end talent acquisition services from candidate sourcing and engagement through the onboarding of employees. Our solution is
highly scalable and flexible, which allows for the outsourcing of all or a subset of skill categories across a series of recruitment, hiring and onboarding steps. Our solution delivers improved talent
quality and candidate experience, faster hiring, increased scalability, lower cost of recruitment, greater flexibility, and increased compliance. Our clients outsource the recruitment process to
PeopleScout in all major industries and jobs. We leverage our proprietary technology platform (AffinixTM) for sourcing, screening and delivering a permanent workforce, along with dedicated
service delivery teams to work as an integrated partner with our clients. Affinix uses artificial intelligence and machine learning to search the web and source candidates, which means we can create
the first slate of candidates for a job posting within minutes rather than days.
Our year-over-year trends are impacted by our acquisition on June 12, 2018 of TMP, a mid-sized RPO and employer branding services provider operating in the United Kingdom, which is the
second largest RPO market in the world. This acquisition increases our ability to win multi-continent engagements by adding a physical presence in Europe, referenceable clients and employer
branding capabilities. This acquisition expands and complements our PeopleScout services and has been integrated into this operating segment.
Our PeopleScout reportable segment also includes a managed service provider business, which provides clients with improved quality and spend management of their contingent labor vendors.

Global employment trends are reshaping and redefining traditional employment models, sourcing strategies and human resource capability requirements due to changing demographics, worker
shortages, employee preferences, and employer workforce needs. In response, the staffing industry has accelerated its evolution from commercial staffing into specialized and outsourced staffing
solutions. Client demand for staffing services is dependent on the overall strength of the labor market and trends toward greater workforce flexibility. Improving economic growth typically results in
increasing demand for labor, resulting in greater demand for our staffing services. This may create volatility based on overall economic conditions.
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Revenue from services
Revenue from services by reportable segment was as follows:
Years ended

(in thousands, except percentages)

Growth
(decline)
%

2019

Segment % of
total

Segment % of
total

2018

Revenue from services:
PeopleReady

$

1,474,062

(3.2)%

62.2% $

1,522,076

PeopleManagement

642,233

(11.8)

27.1

728,254

PeopleScout

252,484

1.4

10.7

248,877

Total company

$

2,368,779

(5.2)%

100.0% $

2,499,207

60.9%
29.1
10.0
100.0%

Total company revenue declined to $2.4 billion for the year ended December 29, 2019, a 5.2% decrease compared to the prior year.
PeopleReady
PeopleReady revenue declined to $1.5 billion for the year ended December 29, 2019, a 3.2% decrease compared to the prior year. The revenue decline was primarily due to less demand for our services
attributable to lower volumes within the businesses of our clients and continued economic uncertainty. Revenue trends slowed over the course of the year as clients moderated contingent labor spend.
Declines were broad-based across multiple geographies and industries.
We believe the decline was partially offset by the strategic use of our industry-leading JobStack mobile application that digitally connects workers with jobs. During fiscal 2019, PeopleReady dispatched
4 million shifts via JobStack and achieved a digital fill rate of 48%. The mobile application is used by 21,300 clients with 87% worker adoption, which is up 8.7% and 62.6%, respectively, compared to
the prior year.
Wage growth has accelerated due to various minimum wage increases and a need for higher wages to attract talent in tight labor markets. We have increased bill rates for the higher wages, payroll
burdens and our traditional mark-ups. While we believe our pricing strategy is the right long-term decision, these actions can have an impact on our revenue trends in the near term.
PeopleManagement
PeopleManagement revenue declined to $642 million for the year ended December 29, 2019, an 11.8% decrease compared to the prior year. The decline included 3.3% from the loss of Amazon’s
Canadian business in the second half of 2018 when they insourced the recruitment and management of contingent labor for their warehouse fulfillment centers, 2.1% from the substantially reduced
volumes and price reductions with a large existing retail client, and 1.1% from the divestiture of our PlaneTechs business in mid-March 2018. The remaining decline of 5.3% was primarily due to
slowing demand attributable to lower volumes within the business of our existing clients and continued economic uncertainty.
PeopleScout
PeopleScout revenue grew to $252 million for the year ended December 29, 2019, an 1.4% increase compared to the prior year. The increase was due primarily to the acquisition of TMP during the
second quarter of 2018, which represents a 9.9% increase in PeopleScout’s revenue for the year ended December 29, 2019, compared to the prior year. Revenue growth was constrained primarily due to
the loss of one large client after being acquired by a strategic buyer in the prior year and substantially reduced project-based recruiting volumes at another large client, which declined throughout the year
due to adverse business conditions resulting in no order volume in the fourth quarter of 2019.
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Gross profit
Gross profit was as follows:
Years ended
(in thousands, except percentages)

2019

Gross profit

2018

$

626,158

Percentage of revenue

$

665,600

26.4%

26.6%

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue declined to 26.4% for the year ended December 29, 2019, compared to 26.6% for the prior year. The decline was primarily due to client mix, which was partially
offset by lower workers’ compensation costs. The lower workers’ compensation costs of 0.2% was from additional insurance coverage in our staffing business associated with former workers’
compensation carriers that are in liquidation. This was due to improvements in their balance sheets which allowed these carriers to cover a larger proportion of outstanding claims.
Improvements to the gross margin of our staffing businesses were more than offset by declines to the PeopleScout gross margin primarily due to the lower margins associated with the acquired TMP
business due to the pass-through nature of recruitment media purchases made on behalf of certain clients, the loss of one large client after being acquired by a strategic buyer in the prior year and
substantially reduced project-based recruiting volumes at another large client due to adverse business conditions.
We continue to manage the rising cost of claims by reducing workplace accidents. Continued favorable adjustments to our workers’ compensation liabilities are dependent on our ability to continue to
lower accident rates and claim costs. For additional discussion on the adjustments to our workers’ compensation liability, see the “Workers’ compensation insurance, collateral and claims reserves”
section within Liquidity and Capital Resources.
Selling, general and administrative expense
SG&A expense was as follows:
Years ended
(in thousands, except percentages)

2019

Selling, general and administrative expense

$

2018

522,430

Percentage of revenue

$

550,632

22.1%

22.0%

Total company SG&A expense decreased by $29 million to $522 million, or 22.1% of revenue for the year ended December 29, 2019, compared to $551 million, or 22.0% of revenue for the prior year.
The decrease in SG&A expense was primarily due to cost control programs, while remaining committed to investing in customer acquisition and retention initiatives to drive growth and our digital
strategies to differentiate our services and grow market share.
Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization was as follows:
Years ended
(in thousands, except percentages)

2019

Depreciation and amortization

$

Percentage of revenue

2018

37,549
1.6%

$

41,049
1.6%

Depreciation and amortization decreased primarily due to several intangible assets which became fully amortized in the second quarter of 2019, which resulted in a decline in amortization expense for
the year ended December 29, 2019.
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Income taxes
The income tax expense and the effective income tax rate were as follows:
Years ended
(in thousands, except percentages)

2019

Income tax expense

$

2018

6,971

Effective income tax rate

$

9,909

10.0%

13.1%

Our tax provision and our effective tax rate are subject to variation due to several factors, including variability in accurately predicting our pre-tax and taxable income and loss by jurisdiction, tax credits,
government audit developments, changes in laws, regulations and administrative practices, and relative changes of expenses or losses for which tax benefits are not recognized. Additionally, our
effective tax rate can be more or less volatile based on the amount of pre-tax income. For example, the impact of tax credits and non-deductible expenses on our effective tax rate is greater when our pretax income is lower.
Our effective tax rate for the year ended December 29, 2019 was 10.0% compared to 13.1% for the prior year. A significant driver of fluctuations in our effective income tax rate is the Work
Opportunity Tax Credit (“WOTC”). WOTC is designed to encourage hiring of workers from certain disadvantaged targeted categories and is generally calculated as a percentage of wages over a twelve
month period up to worker maximums by targeted category. Based on historical results and business trends, we estimate the amount of WOTC we expect to earn related to wages of the current year.
However, the estimate is subject to variation because 1) a small percentage of our workers qualify for one or more of the many targeted categories; 2) the targeted categories are subject to different
incentive credit rates and limitations; 3) credits fluctuate depending on economic conditions and qualified worker retention periods; and 4) state and federal offices can delay their credit certification
processing and have inconsistent certification rates. We recognize additional prior year job credits if credits in excess of original estimates have been certified by government offices. WOTC was
extended through December 31, 2020 as a result of the Further Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2020 (H.R. 1865). Approval from Congress will be required to extend WOTC beyond December 31,
2020.
Changes to our effective tax rate as a result of WOTC and other job tax credits were as follows:
Years ended
2019

Effective income tax rate without adjustments below

2018

28.1 %

29.1 %

WOTC job credits estimate from current year wages

(15.8)

(14.6)

WOTC additional job credits from prior year wages

(1.9)

(1.4)

Other job tax credits

(0.4)

—

10.0 %

13.1 %

Effective income tax rate
See Note 13: Income Taxes, to our consolidated financial statements found in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for additional information.
Segment performance

We evaluate performance based on segment revenue and segment profit. Segment profit includes revenue, related cost of services, and ongoing operating expenses directly attributable to the reportable
segment. Segment profit excludes goodwill and intangible impairment charges, depreciation and amortization expense, unallocated corporate general and administrative expense, interest, other
adjustments not considered to be ongoing. See Note 16: Segment Information, to our consolidated financial statements found in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for additional details on our
reportable segments, as well as a reconciliation of segment profit to income before tax expense.
Segment profit should not be considered a measure of financial performance in isolation or as an alternative to net income in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies.
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PeopleReady segment performance was as follows:
Years ended
(in thousands, except percentages)

2019

2018

Revenue from services

$

1,474,062

$

1,522,076

Segment profit

$

82,106

$

85,998

Percentage of revenue

5.6%

5.7%

PeopleReady segment profit declined to $82 million, or 5.6% of revenue for the year ended December 29, 2019, compared to $86 million, or 5.7% of revenue for the prior year. The decline was
primarily due to less demand for our services attributable to lower volumes within the businesses of our clients and continued economic uncertainty. Revenue trends slowed over the course of the year as
clients moderated contingent labor spend. Declines were broad based across multiple geographies and industries. The decline in revenue was largely offset by our cost control programs which have
reduced our SG&A expense in line with our plans.
PeopleManagement segment performance was as follows:
Years ended
(in thousands, except percentages)

2019

2018

Revenue from services

$

642,233

$

728,254

Segment profit

$

12,593

$

21,627

Percentage of revenue

2.0%

3.0%

PeopleManagement segment profit decreased to $13 million, or 2.0% of revenue for the year ended December 29, 2019, compared to $22 million, or 3.0% of revenue for the prior year. The decline in
revenue and related segment profit was primarily due to the loss of Amazon’s Canadian business in the second half of fiscal 2018 and volume and price reductions at another large industrial workforce
client. Additionally, PeopleManagement experienced lower volumes due to our clients experiencing slowing demand in their businesses. Due to the decline in revenue, we put in place cost control
measures and have reduced SG&A expense in line with our plans.
PeopleScout segment performance was as follows:
Years ended
(in thousands, except percentages)

2019

2018

Revenue from services

$

252,484

$

248,877

Segment profit

$

37,831

$

47,383

Percentage of revenue

15.0%

19.0%

PeopleScout segment profit decreased to $38 million, or 15.0% of revenue for the year ended December 29, 2019, compared to $47 million, or 19.0% of revenue for the prior year. The decline in
segment profit and profit margin was primarily driven by the acquisition of TMP and client mix. TMP margins are lower than those of PeopleScout due to the pass-through nature of media-related
purchases on behalf of certain clients. Client mix margins were impacted by substantially reduced project-based recruiting volumes at a large industrial client due to adverse business conditions and the
loss of another higher margin client which was acquired by a strategic buyer in late 2018. Due to the decline in segment profit, we put in place cost control measures and have reduced SG&A expense in
line with our plans.
FISCAL 2018 AS COMPARED TO FISCAL 2017
See Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, found in Part II of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2018
for discussion of fiscal 2018 compared to fiscal 2017.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK
We have limited visibility into future demand for our services. However, we believe there is value in providing highlights of our expectations for future financial performance. The following highlights
represent our expectations regarding operating trends for fiscal 2020. These expectations are subject to revision as our business changes with the overall economy.
•

We expect additional pressure on our revenue trends in 2020 due primarily to a widespread decline in same client demand as clients continue to experience weaker volumes within their own
businesses across most geographies and industries. PeopleReady, our largest segment, experienced year-over-year revenue declines in 2019 and experienced growing revenue pressure as the year
progressed. Similar to PeopleReady, PeopleManagement, our lowest margin segment, experienced less demand from existing clients and continued economic uncertainty. PeopleScout, our highest
margin segment, passed the one-year anniversary of the TMP acquisition in June 2019. PeopleScout will experience further pressure due to the continued impact of the loss of a key client that was
acquired by a strategic buyer which will anniversary in the first quarter of 2020 and substantially reduced project-based recruiting volumes at another large industrial client due to adverse business
conditions which will anniversary in the third quarter of 2020. We expect continued challenges in the industrial markets we serve, but we are encouraged by recent improvements in the demand
trend for PeopleReady services.

•

We believe there is a changing pace of underlying economic activity in some of the industries we serve. Our belief is based on our same client revenue trends and the softening demand for our
PeopleReady services. Given the project-based nature of PeopleReady’s business, we believe it is often an early indicator of changing demand patterns. We remain focused on client expansion and
retention, disciplined cost management, and investing in our digital strategies to differentiate our service offerings.

•

We are committed to technological innovation to transform our business for a digital future that makes it easier for our clients to do business with us and easier to connect people to work. We
continue making investments in online and mobile applications to improve access to workers and candidates, as well as improve the speed and ease of connecting our clients and workers for our
staffing businesses, and candidates for our recruitment process outsourcing business. We expect these investments will increase the competitive differentiation of our services over the long-term,
improve the efficiency of our service delivery, and reduce our PeopleReady dependence on local branches to find contingent workers and connect them with work. Examples include our new
JobStack mobile application in the PeopleReady business and our Affinix talent acquisition technology in our PeopleScout business. PeopleReady’s JobStack app has filled more than six million
shifts since its inception and is currently filling a job every nine seconds. PeopleScout’s Affinix is helping clients improve time to fill, candidate flow and candidate satisfaction. We believe our
digital strategies provide further opportunity to differentiate our services, capture additional market share and deliver industry-leading growth.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
LIQUIDITY
Cash flows from operating activities
Our cash flows from operating activities for fiscal 2019 as compared to fiscal 2018 were as follows:
Years ended
(in thousands)

2019

Net income

$

2018

63,073

$

65,754

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization

37,549

41,049

Provision for doubtful accounts

7,661

10,042

Non-cash lease expense, net of changes in operating lease liabilities

(355)

Stock-based compensation

—

9,769

Other operating activities

13,876

(326)

3,225

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of amounts acquired and divested:
Accounts receivable

5,450

Income tax receivable

11,640

(6,480)

(996)

Change in all other assets

(12,575)

(12,928)

Workers’ compensation claims reserve

(10,828)

(7,877)

Change in all other liabilities

593

Net cash provided by operating activities

$

93,531

1,907
$

125,692

Net cash provided by operating activities was $94 million for the year ended December 29, 2019, compared to $126 million for the prior year. Net cash provided by operating activities is primarily due
to net income of $63 million for the year ended December 29, 2019 compared to $66 million for the prior year.
Changes to adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities for fiscal 2019 were primarily due to:
•

Depreciation and amortization decreased primarily due to certain fixed assets and intangible assets becoming fully depreciated during the prior year. Additionally, a greater portion of our investment
funds are being directed toward non-capitalized third-party cloud-based solutions.

•

Provision for doubtful accounts decreased primarily due to the overall reduction in revenue during fiscal 2019. Additionally, 2019 benefited from the recovery of receivables which had been
reserved for in 2018 when a customer filed for bankruptcy protection.

•

Stock-based compensation decreased primarily due to $4 million of accelerated stock compensation costs associated with the CEO transition in fiscal 2018.

Changes to operating assets and liabilities, net of amounts acquired and divested for fiscal 2019 were primarily due to:
•

The decrease in accounts receivable in fiscal 2019 was primarily due to the decline in revenue due to less demand for our services attributable to lower volumes within the businesses of our clients.
This was partially offset by higher days sales outstanding due to continued economic uncertainty and longer payment terms.

•

The increase in income tax receivable in fiscal 2019 was primarily due to delays in foreign jurisdiction processing of refunds and higher than expected WOTC benefits.

•

Change in all other assets decreased primarily due to unrealized gains on deferred compensation assets as both equity and bond markets strengthened into fiscal 2019, verses unrealized losses in
fiscal 2018 after a sharp decline in equity markets in the fourth quarter of 2018.

•

Generally, our workers’ compensation claims reserve for estimated claims decreases as contingent labor services declines, as is the case in the current and prior year. Additionally, our worker safety
programs have had a positive impact and have created favorable adjustments to our workers’ compensation liabilities recorded in each period. Continued favorable adjustments to our workers’
compensation liabilities are dependent on our ability to continue to lower accident rates and claim costs.
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Cash flows from investing activities
Our cash flows from investing activities for fiscal 2019 as compared to fiscal 2018 were as follows:
Years ended
(in thousands)

2019

Capital expenditures

$

2018

(28,119) $

(17,054)

215

(12,155)

Acquisition of business, net of divestiture of business
Purchases and sales of restricted investments

18,483

Net cash used in investing activities

$

(21,631) $

8,694
(20,515)

Net cash used in investing activities was $22 million for the year ended December 29, 2019, compared to $21 million for the prior year.
•

Capital expenditures increased in fiscal 2019 primarily due to investments in a cost savings initiative to upgrade our telephone system to voice over internet protocol, an expansion of our India
shared services center, a computer hardware upgrade cycle, and further investment in software technology to support our digital strategy.

•

Net cash used in investing activities in fiscal 2018 was impacted by the acquisition of the outstanding equity interests of TMP for a cash purchase price of $23 million, net of cash acquired of $7
million. The acquisition was partially offset by the divestiture of all the assets and certain liabilities of our PlaneTechs business for a sales price of $11 million. See Note 2: Acquisition and
Divestiture, to our consolidated financial statements found in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for additional details on the purchase of TMP and divestiture of PlaneTechs.

•

Restricted investments consist primarily of collateral that has been provided or pledged to insurance carriers and state workers’ compensation programs. The decrease in the cash provided by the
selling of securities was primarily due to lower collateral requirements from our workers’ compensation insurance providers, as well as the timing of collateral payments.

Cash flows from financing activities
Our cash flows from financing activities for fiscal 2019 as compared to fiscal 2018 were as follows:
Years ended
(in thousands)

2019

Purchases and retirement of common stock

$

Net proceeds from employee stock purchase plans
Common stock repurchases for taxes upon vesting of restricted stock
Net change in Revolving Credit Facility
Payments on debt

2018

(38,826) $

1,503

(2,222)

(3,404)

(42,900)

(15,900)

—

Other

(296)

Net cash used in financing activities

$

(34,818)

1,329

(82,915) $

(22,397)
—
(75,016)

Net cash used in financing activities was $83 million for the year ended December 29, 2019, compared to $75 million for the prior year.
•

During fiscal 2019, we repurchased $39 million of common stock as compared to $35 million for the prior year. As of December 29, 2019, $119 million remains available for repurchase of common
stock under existing authorizations.

•

During fiscal 2019, we increased net repayments on our Revolving Credit Facility of $43 million as compared to $16 million for the comparable period in the prior year. Draws on the Revolving
Credit Facility during fiscal 2018 enabled the pre-payment of the outstanding balance of our existing long-term debt of $22 million with Synovus Bank on June 25, 2018.

FISCAL 2018 AS COMPARED TO FISCAL 2017
See Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, found in Part II of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2018
for discussion of fiscal 2018 compared to fiscal 2017.

Page - 30

Table of Contents

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL RESOURCES
Revolving credit facility
See Note 8: Long-term Debt, to our consolidated financial statements found in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for details on our Revolving Credit Facility.
Restricted cash and investments
Restricted cash and investments consist principally of collateral that has been provided or pledged to insurance carriers for workers’ compensation and state workers’ compensation programs. Our
insurance carriers and certain state workers’ compensation programs require us to collateralize a portion of our workers’ compensation obligation. We have agreements with certain financial institutions
that allow us to restrict cash and cash equivalents and investments for the purpose of providing collateral instruments to our insurance carriers to satisfy workers’ compensation claims. At December 29,
2019, we had restricted cash and investments totaling $231 million. The majority of our collateral obligations are held in a trust at the Bank of New York Mellon (“Trust”). See Note 4: Restricted Cash
and Investments, to our consolidated financial statements found in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for details on our restricted cash and investments.
We established investment policy directives for the Trust with the first priority to preserve capital, second to ensure sufficient liquidity to pay workers’ compensation claims, third to diversify the
investment portfolio and fourth to maximize after-tax returns. Trust investments must meet minimum acceptable quality standards. The primary investments include U.S. Treasury securities, U.S. agency
debentures, U.S. agency mortgages, corporate securities and municipal securities. For those investments rated by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations the minimum ratings at time of
purchase are:
S&P

Moody’s

Fitch

Short-term rating

A-1/SP-1

P-1/MIG-1

F-1

Long-term rating

A

A2

A

Workers’ compensation insurance, collateral and claims reserves
Workers’ compensation insurance
We provide workers’ compensation insurance for our contingent and permanent employees. The majority of our current workers’ compensation insurance policies cover claims for a particular event
above a $2 million deductible limit, on a “per occurrence” basis and accordingly, we are substantially self-insured.
For workers’ compensation claims originating in Washington, North Dakota, Ohio, Wyoming, Canada and Puerto Rico (our “monopolistic jurisdictions”), we pay workers’ compensation insurance
premiums and obtain full coverage under government-administered programs (with the exception of PeopleReady in Ohio where we have a self-insured policy). Accordingly, because we are not the
primary obligor, our financial statements do not reflect the liability for workers’ compensation claims in these monopolistic jurisdictions.
Workers’ compensation collateral
Our insurance carriers and certain state workers’ compensation programs require us to collateralize a portion of our workers’ compensation obligation, for which they become responsible should we
become insolvent. The collateral typically takes the form of cash and cash-backed instruments, highly rated investment grade securities, letters of credit, and/or surety bonds. On a regular basis, these
entities assess the amount of collateral they will require from us relative to our workers’ compensation obligation. Such amounts can increase or decrease independent of our assessments and reserves.
We generally anticipate that our collateral commitments will continue to grow as we grow our business. We pay our premiums and deposit our collateral in installments. The majority of the restricted
cash and investments collateralizing our self-insured workers’ compensation policies are held in the Trust.
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Our total collateral commitments were made up of the following components for the fiscal period end dates presented:

(in thousands)

December 30,
2018

December 29, 2019

Cash collateral held by workers’ compensation insurance carriers

$

22,256 $

Cash and cash equivalents held in Trust
Investments held in Trust
Letters of credit (1)
Surety bonds (2)
Total collateral commitments

$

22,264

23,681

28,021

149,373

156,618

6,202

6,691

20,731

21,881

222,243 $

235,475

(1) We have agreements with certain financial institutions to issue letters of credit as collateral.
(2) Our surety bonds are issued by independent insurance companies on our behalf and bear annual fees based on a percentage of the bond, which is determined by each independent surety carrier. These fees do not
exceed 2.0% of the bond amount, subject to a minimum charge. The terms of these bonds are subject to review and renewal every one to four years and most bonds can be canceled by the sureties with as little as 60
days’ notice.

Workers’ compensation reserve
The following table provides a reconciliation of our collateral commitments to our workers’ compensation reserve as of the fiscal period end dates presented:

(in thousands)

December 30,
2018

December 29, 2019

Total workers’ compensation reserve

$

Add back discount on workers’ compensation reserve (1)
Less excess claims reserve (2)
Reimbursable payments to insurance provider (3)
Other (4)
Total collateral commitments

$

255,618

$

266,446

19,316

18,179

(45,253)

(48,229)

8,121

7,866

(15,559)

(8,787)

222,243

$

235,475

(1) Our workers’ compensation reserves are discounted to their estimated net present value while our collateral commitments are based on the gross, undiscounted reserve.
(2) Excess claims reserve includes the estimated obligation for claims above our deductible limits. These are the responsibility of the insurance carriers against which there are no collateral requirements.
(3) This amount is included in restricted cash and represents a timing difference between claim payments made by our insurance carrier and the reimbursement from cash held in the Trust. When claims are paid by our
carrier, the amount is removed from the workers’ compensation reserve but not removed from collateral until reimbursed to the carrier.
(4) Represents the difference between the self-insured reserves and collateral commitments.

Our workers’ compensation reserve is established using estimates of the future cost of claims and related expenses, which are discounted to their estimated net present value. We discount our workers’
compensation liability as we believe the estimated future cash outflows are readily determinable.
Our workers’ compensation reserve for deductible and self-insured claims is established using estimates of the future cost of claims and related expenses that have been reported but not settled, as well
as those that have been incurred but not reported. Reserves are estimated for claims incurred in the current year, as well as claims incurred during prior years.
Management evaluates the adequacy of the workers’ compensation reserves in conjunction with an independent quarterly actuarial assessment. Factors considered in establishing and adjusting these
reserves include, among other things:
•

changes in medical and time loss (“indemnity”) costs;

•

changes in mix between medical only and indemnity claims;

•

regulatory and legislative developments impacting benefits and settlement requirements;

•

type and location of work performed;
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•

the impact of safety initiatives; and

•

positive or adverse development of claims.

Our workers’ compensation claims reserves are discounted to their estimated net present value using discount rates based on returns of “risk-free” U.S. Treasury instruments with maturities comparable
to the weighted average lives of our workers’ compensation claims. At December 29, 2019, the weighted average discount rate was 2.0%. The claim payments are made over an estimated weighted
average period of approximately 5 years.
Our workers’ compensation reserves include estimated expenses related to claims above our self-insured limits (“excess claims”), and a corresponding receivable for the insurance coverage on excess
claims based on the contractual policy agreements we have with insurance carriers. We discount this reserve and corresponding receivable to its estimated net present value using the discount rates based
on average returns of “risk-free” U.S. Treasury instruments available during the year in which the liability was incurred. At December 29, 2019, the weighted average rate was 2.4%. The claim payments
are made and the corresponding reimbursements from our insurance carriers are received over an estimated weighted average period of approximately 16 years. The discounted workers’ compensation
reserve for excess claims was $45 million and $48 million as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively. The discounted receivables from insurance companies, net of valuation
allowance, were $45 million as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018.
The following table provides an analysis of changes in our workers’ compensation claims reserves:
Years ended
(in thousands)

2019

Beginning balance

$

Self-insurance reserve expenses related to current year, net

2018

266,446 $

274,323

78,367

79,874

Payments related to current year claims (1)

(14,997)

(17,413)

Payments related to claims from prior years (1)

(48,177)

(47,242)

Changes to prior years’ self-insurance reserve, net (2)

(21,748)

(24,899)

Amortization of prior years’ discount (3)

(1,393)

2,404

Net change in excess claims reserve (4)

(2,880)

Ending balance

255,618

Less current portion

73,020

Long-term portion

$

182,598 $

(601)
266,446
76,421
190,025

(1) Payments made against self-insured claims are made over a weighted average period of approximately 5 years at December 29, 2019.
(2) Changes in reserve estimates are reflected in cost of services on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income in the period when the changes are made.
(3) The discount is amortized over the estimated weighted average life. In addition, any changes to the estimated weighted average lives and corresponding discount rates for actual payments made are reflected in cost
of services on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income in the period when the changes in estimates are made.
(4) Changes to our excess claims are discounted to its estimated net present value using the risk-free rates associated with the actuarially determined weighted average lives of our excess claims. Certain workers’
compensation insurance companies with which we formerly did business are in liquidation and have failed to pay a number of excess claims to date. We have recorded a valuation allowance against all of the
insurance receivables from the insurance companies in liquidation.

We continue to actively manage workers’ compensation cost through the safety of our contingent workers with our safety programs and actively control costs with our network of service
providers. These actions have had a positive impact creating favorable adjustments to workers’ compensation liabilities recorded in the current and prior periods. Continued favorable adjustments to our
workers’ compensation liabilities are dependent on our ability to continue to aggressively lower accident rates and costs of our claims. We expect diminishing favorable adjustments to our workers’
compensation liabilities as the opportunity for significant reduction to frequency and severity of accident rates diminishes.
Future outlook
We believe we are in a strong financial position to fund working capital needs for growth opportunities. As of December 29, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of $38 million and $257 million
available under our Revolving Credit Facility for total liquidity of $295 million.

Page - 33

Table of Contents

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

We continue to return cash to shareholders through our share repurchase program. During the year ended December 29, 2019, we repurchased $39 million of common stock. As of December 29, 2019,
$119 million remains available for repurchase of common stock under existing authorizations.
We believe that cash provided from operations and our capital resources will be adequate to meet our cash requirements for the foreseeable future.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS
The following table provides a summary of our contractual obligations as of the end of fiscal 2019. We expect to fund these commitments with existing cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and
investments, and cash flows from operations.
Payments due by period
(in thousands)
Contractual obligations

Total

Long-term debt obligations, including interest and fees (1):

$

Workers’ compensation claims (2)

31,861

Less than 1 year

$

229,681

Deferred compensation (3)

1,610

1-3 years

$

73,729

30,251

3-5 years

$

More than 5 years

— $

—

63,804

25,956

66,192

8,232

2,930

2,383

1,343

1,576

Operating leases (4)

49,100

16,328

19,798

8,062

4,912

Purchase obligations (5)

29,811

13,837

14,730

1,244

Total contractual cash obligations

$

348,685

$

108,434

$

130,966

$

36,605 $

—
72,680

(1) Interest and fees are calculated based on the rates in effect at December 29, 2019. Our Revolving Credit Facility expires in 2023. For additional information, see Note 8: Long-term Debt to the consolidated financial
statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
(2) Excludes estimated expenses related to claims above our self-insured limits, for which we have a corresponding receivable based on the contractual policy agreements we have with insurance carriers. For additional
information, see Note 7: Workers’ Compensation Insurance and Reserves to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
(3) Represents scheduled distributions based on the elections of plan participants. Additional payments may be made if plan participants terminate, retire, or schedule additional distributions during the periods
presented. For additional information, see Note 12: Defined Contribution Plans to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
(4) Excludes all payments related to branch leases with short-term cancellation provisions, typically within 90 days. Operating lease payments exclude approximately $37 million of legally binding minimum lease
payments for leases signed but not yet commenced. For additional information, see Note 9: Commitments and Contingencies to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
(5) Purchase obligations include agreements to purchase goods and services that are enforceable, legally binding and specify all significant terms. Purchase obligations do not include agreements that are cancelable
without significant penalty.

Liability for unrecognized tax benefits has been excluded from the table above, as the timing and/or amounts of any cash payment is uncertain. For additional information, see Note 13: Income Taxes, to
the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

SUMMARY OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations discusses our financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis,
management evaluates its estimates and judgments. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
Management believes that the following accounting estimates are the most critical to understand and evaluate our reported financial results, and they require management’s most subjective or complex
judgments, resulting from the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.
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Workers’ compensation reserve
We maintain reserves for workers’ compensation claims, including the excess claims portion above our deductible, using actuarial estimates of the future cost of claims and related expenses. These
estimates include claims that have been reported but not settled and claims that have been incurred but not reported. These reserves, which reflect potential liabilities to be paid in future periods based on
estimated payment patterns, are discounted to estimated net present value using discount rates based on average returns on “risk-free” U.S. Treasury instruments, which are evaluated on a quarterly basis.
We evaluate the reserves regularly throughout the year and make adjustments accordingly. If the actual cost of such claims and related expenses exceed the amount estimated, additional reserves may be
required. Changes in reserve estimates are reflected in cost of services on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income in the period when the changes in estimates are made.
Our workers’ compensation reserves include estimated expenses related to excess claims and a corresponding receivable for the insurance coverage on excess claims based on the contractual policy
agreements we have with insurance companies. We discount the reserve and its corresponding receivable to their estimated net present values using the risk-free rates associated with the actuarially
determined weighted average lives of our excess claims. When appropriate, we record a valuation allowance against the insurance receivable to reflect amounts that may not be realized.
There are two main factors that impact workers’ compensation cost: the number of claims and the cost per claim. The number of claims is driven by the volume of hours worked, the business mix which
reflects the type of work performed, and the safety of the environment where the work is performed. The cost per claim is driven primarily by the severity of the injury, the state in which the injury
occurs, related medical costs, and lost-time wage costs. A 5% change in one or more of the above factors would result in a change to workers’ compensation cost of approximately $4 million. Our
reserve balances have been positively impacted primarily by the success of our accident prevention programs. In the event that we are not able to further reduce our accident rates, the positive impacts to
our reserve balance will diminish.
Allowance for doubtful accounts
We establish an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated probable losses resulting from the failure of our clients to make required payments. The allowance for doubtful accounts is determined
based on historical write-off experience, expectations of future write-offs, and current economic data, and represents our best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses. The allowance for doubtful
accounts is reviewed quarterly and past due balances are written-off when it is likely the receivable will not be collected. If the financial condition of our clients were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.
Business combinations
We account for our business acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting. The purchase price of an acquisition is allocated to the underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed based
upon their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. We determine the estimated fair values after review and consideration of relevant information including discounted cash flows, quoted market
prices and estimates made by management. Determining the fair value of an acquired company is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions. The significant
judgments include estimation of future cash flows, which is dependent on forecasts; estimation of the long-term rate of growth; estimation of the useful life over which cash flows will occur; and
determination of a weighted average cost of capital, which is risk-adjusted to reflect the specific risk profile of the business being purchased. Intangible assets that arise from contractual/legal rights, or
are capable of being separated, are measured and recorded at fair value and amortized over the estimated useful life. If practicable, assets acquired and liabilities assumed arising from contingencies are
measured and recorded at fair value. If not practicable, such assets and liabilities are measured and recorded when it is probable that a gain or loss has occurred and the amount can be reasonably
estimated. The residual balance of the purchase price, after fair value allocations to all identified assets and liabilities, represents goodwill.
Goodwill acquired in business combinations is assigned to the reporting unit(s) expected to benefit from the combination as of the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
Our acquisitions may include contingent consideration, which require us to recognize the fair value of the estimated liability at the time of the acquisition. Subsequent changes in the estimate of the
amount to be paid under the contingent consideration arrangement are recognized on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. Cash payments for contingent or deferred
consideration are classified within cash flows from investing activities for the purchase price fair value of the contingent consideration while amounts paid in excess are classified within cash flows from
operating activities on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets
We evaluate goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment on an annual basis as of the first day of our fiscal second quarter, and whenever events or circumstances make it more likely
than not that an impairment may have occurred. These events or circumstances could include a significant change in the business climate, legal factors, operating performance indicators, competition,
client engagement, or sale or disposition of a significant portion of a reporting unit. We monitor the existence of potential impairment indicators throughout the fiscal year.
Goodwill
We test for goodwill impairment at the reporting unit level. We consider our operating segments to be our reporting units for goodwill impairment testing. As of December 29, 2019, our operating
segments are PeopleReady, Centerline, Staff Management, SIMOS, PeopleScout, and PeopleScout MSP. The impairment test involves comparing the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying
value, including goodwill. Fair value reflects the price a market participant would be willing to pay in a potential sale of the reporting unit. If the fair value exceeds the carrying value, we conclude that
no goodwill impairment has occurred. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, we recognize an impairment loss in an amount equal to the excess, not to exceed the carrying value
of the goodwill.
Determining the fair value of a reporting unit involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions to evaluate the impact of operational and macroeconomic changes on each reporting unit. The fair
value of each reporting unit is a weighted average of the income and market valuation approaches. The income approach applies a fair value methodology based on discounted cash flows. This analysis
requires significant estimates and judgments, including estimation of future cash flows, which is dependent on internal forecasts, estimation of the long-term rate of growth for our business, estimation of
the useful life over which cash flows will occur, and determination of our weighted average cost of capital, which is risk-adjusted to reflect the specific risk profile of the reporting unit being tested. We
also apply a market approach, which identifies similar publicly traded companies and develops a correlation, referred to as a multiple, to apply to the operating results of the reporting units. The primary
market multiples to which we compare are revenue and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization. The income and market approaches were equally weighted in our most recent
annual impairment test. These combined fair values are reconciled to our aggregate market value of our shares of common stock outstanding on the date of valuation. We base fair value estimates on
assumptions we believe to be reasonable but that are unpredictable and inherently uncertain. Actual future results may differ from those estimates. We consider a reporting unit’s fair value to be
substantially in excess of its carrying value at a 20% premium or greater.
Annual impairment test
Based on our 2019 annual impairment test, the estimated fair value of all our reporting units were substantially in excess of their carrying value, except our SIMOS reporting unit, which was in excess of
its carrying value by approximately 10%. The current carrying value of goodwill for this reporting unit is $35 million. There are two key clients that individually account for more than 10% of revenue
for the SIMOS reporting unit. For each client we service multiple sites. The loss of a key client, loss of a significant number of key sites, or a significant downturn in the economy could give rise to an
impairment. Should any one of these events occur, we may need to record an impairment loss to goodwill for the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value, not to exceed
the total amount of goodwill. A discount rate of 12.5% was used in calculating the fair value of this reporting unit. In the event that the discount rate increases by approximately 1 percentage point, the
forecasted revenue growth rate declines by approximately 3 percentage points, or gross margin as a percentage of revenue declines by approximately 1 percentage point, the carrying value of the
reporting unit would have exceeded its fair value. Should any one of these events occur, we may need to record an impairment loss to goodwill for the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the
reporting unit’s fair value, not to exceed the total amount of goodwill.
Our weighted average cost of capital for all our reporting units ranged from 11.5% to 12.5%, and our control premium was 15.2%, which management has determined to be reasonable.
Interim impairment test
Effective December 30, 2019 (the first day of fiscal 2020), our SIMOS and Staff Management | SMX reporting units were combined into one reporting unit (On-site) due to common customers and
contingent workers, similar nature of services and economic characteristics. Therefore, we tested the SIMOS reporting unit for impairment prior to the combination due to its sensitivity to impairment as
of our annual impairment test, as explained above. Our SMX reporting unit’s fair value was substantially in excess of its carrying as of the annual impairment test, or approximately 48%, and there were
no indicators of impairment during the interim period. Therefore, no interim impairment test was performed. Based on the interim impairment test of our SIMOS reporting unit, the estimated fair value
was in excess of its carrying value by approximately 7%. A discount rate of 12.0% was used in calculating the fair value of this reporting unit. If the discount rate was approximately 1 percentage point
higher, the forecasted
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revenue growth rate was approximately 5 percentage points lower, or gross margin as a percentage of revenue was approximately 1 percentage point lower, the carrying value of the reporting unit would
have exceeded its fair value.
Based on the results of our annual and interim impairment tests, there was no impairment loss recognized for the year ended December 29, 2019. Based on our 2018 and 2017 annual impairment tests, all
reporting units’ fair values were substantially in excess of their respective carrying values. Accordingly, there was no impairment loss recognized for the years ended December 30, 2018 or
December 31, 2017.
Indefinite-lived intangible assets
We have indefinite-lived intangible assets related to our Staff Management and PeopleScout trade names. We test our trade names annually for impairment, and when indicators of potential impairment
exist. We utilize the relief from royalty method to determine the fair value of each of our trade names. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, we recognize an impairment loss in an amount equal to
the excess, not to exceed the carrying value. Management uses considerable judgment to determine key assumptions, including projected revenue, royalty rates and appropriate discount rates.
We performed our annual indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment test for 2019, 2018 and 2017 and determined that the estimated fair values exceeded the carrying amounts for our indefinite-lived
trade names. Accordingly, no impairment loss was recognized for the years ended December 29, 2019, December 30, 2018 or December 31, 2017.
Finite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets
We review intangible assets that have finite useful lives and other long-lived assets whenever an event or change in circumstances indicates that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable.
Factors considered important that could result in an impairment review include, but are not limited to, significant underperformance relative to historical or planned operating results, or significant
changes in business strategies. We estimate the recoverability of these assets by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to the future undiscounted cash flows that we expect the asset to generate. An
impairment loss is recognized when the estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset plus net proceeds expected from disposition of the asset (if any) are less than the
carrying value of the asset. When an impairment loss is recognized, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its estimated fair value based on discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation
techniques.
No impairment loss was recognized for the years ended December 29, 2019, December 30, 2018 or December 31, 2017.
Estimated contingent legal and regulatory liabilities
From time to time we are subject to compliance audits by federal, state and local authorities relating to a variety of regulations including wage and hour laws, taxes, workers’ compensation, immigration,
and safety. We are also subject to legal proceedings in the ordinary course of our operations. We have established reserves for contingent legal and regulatory liabilities. We record a liability when our
management determines that it is probable that a legal claim will result in an adverse outcome and the amount of liability can be reasonably estimated. To the extent that an insurance company or other
third-party is legally obligated to reimburse us for a liability, we record a receivable for the amount of the probable reimbursement. We evaluate our estimated liability regularly throughout the year and
make adjustments as needed. If the actual outcome of these matters is different than expected, an adjustment is charged or credited to expense in the period the outcome occurs or the period in which the
estimate changes.
Income taxes and related valuation allowances
We account for income taxes by recording taxes payable or refundable for the current year and deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in
our financial statements or tax returns. We measure these expected future tax consequences based upon the provisions of tax law as currently enacted; the effects of future changes in tax laws are not
anticipated. Future tax law changes, such as changes to federal and state corporate tax rates and the mix of states and their taxable income, could have a material impact on our financial condition or
results of operations. When appropriate, we record a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets to offset future tax benefits that may not be realized. In determining whether a valuation allowance is
appropriate, we consider whether it is more likely than not that all or some portion of our deferred tax assets will not be realized, based in part upon management’s judgments regarding future events and
past operating results.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
See Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates, each of which could adversely affect the value of our investments. We do not currently use
derivative financial instruments.
Interest rate risks
Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our investment portfolio and our long-term debt. The interest on our long-term debt is based on the London Interbank Offered
Rate (“LIBOR”). In the event LIBOR is replaced, TrueBlue has agreed with its lenders to adopt a successor rate benchmark.
Trust assets
Restricted cash and investments consist principally of collateral that has been provided or pledged to insurance carriers for workers’ compensation and state workers’ compensation programs. Our
insurance carriers and certain state workers’ compensation programs require us to collateralize a portion of the workers’ compensation obligation. The collateral typically takes the form of cash and cash
equivalents and highly rated investment grade securities, primarily in municipal debt securities, corporate debt securities and agency mortgage-backed securities. The majority of our collateral
obligations are held in a trust (“Trust”) at the Bank of New York Mellon. The individual investments within the Trust are subject to credit risk due to possible rating changes, default or impairment. We
monitor the portfolio to ensure this risk does not exceed prudent levels. We consistently apply and adhere to our investment policy of holding high-quality, diversified securities. We have the positive
intent and ability to hold these investments until maturity and accordingly have classified them as held-to-maturity. For additional information, see Note 4: Restricted Cash and Investments, to the
consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Long-term debt
We are subject to the risk of fluctuating interest rates under our revolving credit agreement (“Revolving Credit Facility”), which bears interest at variable rates. For additional information, see Note 8:
Long-term Debt, to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Based on the principal balance of our outstanding Revolving Credit Facility of $37 million as of December 29, 2019, an increase or decrease of the interest rate by 10% over the next year would not have
a material effect on our annual interest expense.
Foreign currency exchange rate risk
The majority of our revenue, expense, liabilities and capital purchasing activities are transacted in U.S. dollars. However, because a portion of our operations consists of activities outside of the United
States, we have minimal transactions in other currencies, primarily the Canadian and Australian dollars, and Great Britain pound. We have not hedged our foreign currency translation risk. We have the
ability to hold our foreign currency denominated assets indefinitely and do not expect that a sudden or significant change in foreign exchange rates will have a material impact on future operating results
or cash flows.
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Item 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of TrueBlue, Inc.
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of TrueBlue, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, and the related consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 29, 2019 and the related notes and schedule
listed in the Index at Item 15(a)(2) (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 29, 2019, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 29, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report
dated February 24, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matters
The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit
committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of
critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions
on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
Goodwill - SIMOS Reporting Unit - Refer to Note 6 to the Financial Statements

Critical Audit Matter Description
The Company’s evaluation of the SIMOS Insourcing Solutions Reporting Unit (“SIMOS”) goodwill for impairment involves the comparison of the estimated reporting unit fair value to its carrying
value. The Company equally weighted the discounted cash flow model and market approach to estimate fair value, which requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions related to
forecasts of future revenues and earnings. Changes in these assumptions could have a significant impact on either the fair value, the amount of any goodwill impairment charge, or both. The total
goodwill balance as of December 29, 2019 (the measurement date) allocated to SIMOS was $35 million. The estimated fair value of SIMOS exceeded its carrying value by approximately 7% as of the
measurement date. Based on the fact that the estimated fair value of the SIMOS reporting unit exceeded the carrying values, no impairment was recognized.
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Given the nature of SIMOS’ operations, the method used to determine its fair value, and the difference between its fair value and carrying value, auditing management’s judgments regarding forecasts of
future revenue and cash flows for SIMOS involved enhanced auditor judgment.
How the Critical Audit Matter was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to forecasts of future revenue and earnings for the SIMOS reporting unit included the following, among others:
•

We tested the effectiveness of controls over management’s evaluation of goodwill for impairment, including those over the forecast of future revenue and earnings.

•

We evaluated management’s ability to accurately forecast future revenues and earnings by comparing actual results to management’s historical forecasts.

•

We evaluated the reasonableness of management’s revenue and earnings forecast by comparing the forecasts to:

•

•

Historical revenues and earnings; and

•

Internal communications between management, brand presidents, and the Board of Directors, including assessment of current and future growth opportunities.

We further evaluated the reasonableness of management’s forecast by evaluating alternative assumptions about future revenue and cash flows, using both the Company’s internal information
and analyst and industry reports.

Workers’ Compensation Claims Reserves - Refer to Note 1 and Note 7 to the Financial Statements
Critical Audit Matter Description
The Company bears the financial responsibility for a significant portion of expected losses under its workers’ compensation program and records reserves for workers’ compensation claims based on
estimates of the future cost of claims and related expenses, which are discounted to their estimated net present value. The determination of the undiscounted reserves requires significant estimates and
assumptions related to the future cost of claims and related expenses for claims that have been reported but not settled, as well as those that have been incurred but not reported. The undiscounted
workers’ compensation obligation was $274.9 million as of December 29, 2019.
Given the fact that changes in actuarial assumptions could have a significant impact on the reserves, auditing management judgments regarding the workers’ compensation reserves, including estimates
of the future cost of claims and related expenses, involved a high degree of auditor judgment, including the need to involve our actuarial specialists.
How the Critical Audit Matter was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to the workers’ compensation reserves included the following, among others:
•

We tested the effectiveness of controls over workers’ compensation, including those over payments and related expenses, claims data provided to the actuary, and review of actuarial results.

•

We evaluated the methods and assumptions used by management to estimate the workers’ compensation reserves by:

•

•

Making selections of the underlying data that served as the basis for the actuarial analysis, including claims payments and related expenses, to evaluate whether the inputs to the
actuarial estimate were accurate; and

•

Comparing management’s prior-year assumptions of expected future cost of claims and related expenses to actuals incurred during the current year to identify potential bias in the
determination of the workers’ compensation reserves.

With the assistance of our actuarial specialists, we developed independent estimates of the reserves and compared our estimates to the Company’s recorded reserves.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche, LLP
Seattle, Washington
February 24, 2020
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2009.
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TRUEBLUE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 29,
2019

(in thousands, except par value data)

December 30,
2018

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $4,288 and $5,026

37,608 $

46,988

342,303

355,373

Prepaid expenses, deposits and other current assets

30,717

22,141

Income tax receivable

11,105

5,325

421,733

429,827

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Restricted cash and investments
Deferred income taxes, net

66,150

57,671

230,932

235,443

3,228

4,388

237,498

237,287

Intangible assets, net

73,673

91,408

Operating lease right-of-use assets

41,082

—

Workers’ compensation claims receivable, net

44,624

44,915

Goodwill

Other assets, net

17,235

Total assets

13,905

$

1,136,155 $

1,114,844

$

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and other accrued expenses

68,406 $

62,045

Accrued wages and benefits

67,604

77,098

Current portion of workers’ compensation claims reserve

73,020

76,421

Operating lease current liabilities

14,358

—

7,418

9,962

230,806

225,526

182,598

190,025

Long-term debt

37,100

80,000

Long-term deferred compensation liabilities

26,765

21,747

Operating lease long-term liabilities

28,849

—

4,064

6,107

510,182

523,405

—

—

Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Workers’ compensation claims reserve, less current portion

Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.131 par value, 20,000 shares authorized; No shares issued and outstanding
Common stock, no par value, 100,000 shares authorized; 38,593 and 40,054 shares issued and outstanding

1

1

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

(13,238)

(14,649)

Retained earnings

639,210

606,087

Total shareholders’ equity

625,973

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

$
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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1,136,155 $

591,439
1,114,844
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TRUEBLUE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Years ended
(in thousands, except per share data)

2019

Revenue from services

$

Cost of services
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expense
Depreciation and amortization
Income from operations
Interest expense
Interest and other income
Interest and other income (expense), net
Income before tax expense
Income tax expense

2018

2,368,779

$

2,508,771

1,742,621

1,833,607

1,874,298

626,158

665,600

634,473

522,430

550,632

510,794

37,549

41,049

46,115

66,179

73,919

77,564

(2,783)

(4,881)

(5,494)

6,648

6,625

5,480

3,865

1,744

70,044

75,663

77,550

9,909

22,094

6,971

Net income

2017

2,499,207 $

(14)

$

63,073

$

65,754 $

55,456

Basic

$

1.63

$

1.64 $

1.35

Diluted

$

1.61

$

1.63 $

1.34

Net income per common share:

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic

38,778

39,985

41,202

Diluted

39,179

40,275

41,441

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustment

$

Unrealized gain on investments, net of tax

1,411

$

—

Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax

1,411

Comprehensive income

$
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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64,484

(6,320) $

3,355

—

1,274

(6,320)
$

59,434 $

4,629
60,085
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TRUEBLUE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common stock
(in thousands)

Balances,

Shares

January 1, 2017

Amount

Retained earnings

42,171 $

1 $

536,611 $

Accumulated other
comprehensive loss

(11,433) $

Net income

—

—

55,456

—

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

—

—

—

4,629

Purchases and retirement of common stock

(1,530)

Total
shareholders’ equity

525,179
55,456
4,629

—

(36,680)

—

(36,680)

418

—

(1,481)

—

(1,481)

39

—

7,744

—

41,098

1

561,650

Net income

—

—

65,754

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax

—

—

—

Issuances under equity plans, including tax benefits
Stock-based compensation
Balances,

December 31, 2017

Purchases and retirement of common stock

(1,371)

Issuances under equity plans, including tax benefits
Stock-based compensation
Change in accounting standard cumulative-effect adjustment

—

(6,804)
—
(6,320)

(34,818)

—

7,744
554,847
65,754
(6,320)
(34,818)

299

—

(1,900)

—

(1,900)

28

—

13,876

—

13,876

—

—

1,525

(1,525)

—

40,054

1

606,087

(14,649)

591,439

Net income

—

—

63,073

—

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

—

—

—

1,411

Balances,

December 30, 2018

Purchases and retirement of common stock

(1,855)

Issuances under equity plans, including tax benefits
Stock-based compensation
Balances,

December 29, 2019

—

365

—

29

—

38,593 $
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Page - 43

1 $

(38,826)

—

(893)

—

9,769
639,210 $

—
(13,238) $

63,073
1,411
(38,826)
(893)
9,769
625,973
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TRUEBLUE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended
(in thousands)

2019

2018

2017

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income

$

63,073

$

65,754

$

55,456

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization

37,549

41,049

46,115

Provision for doubtful accounts

7,661

10,042

6,808

Stock-based compensation

9,769

13,876

7,744

Deferred income taxes

1,263

(1,929)

2,440

Non-cash lease expense

14,823

Other operating activities

—

—

(1,589)

5,154

2,349

5,450

11,640

(28,483)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of amounts acquired and divested:
Accounts receivable
Income tax receivable
Other assets
Accounts payable and other accrued expenses
Accrued wages and benefits

(6,480)

(996)

(12,575)

(12,928)

14,875
5,289

6,921

3,029

(7,657)

(9,494)

(1,613)

(2,713)

Workers’ compensation claims reserve

(10,828)

(7,877)

(1,048)

Operating lease liabilities

(15,178)

—

3,166

491

93,531

125,692

100,134

(28,119)

(17,054)

(21,958)

Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

—
(1,041)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
Divestiture of business
Payments for company-owned life insurance

—

(22,742)

—

215

10,587

—

(12,210)

Purchases of restricted available-for-sale investments

—

(7,667)

Sales of restricted available-for-sale investments

—

(6,173)

(5,907)

20,859

1,991

2,897

Purchases of restricted held-to-maturity investments

(22,963)

(6,768)

(44,694)

Maturities of restricted held-to-maturity investments

28,254

19,644

17,260

—

—

Other
Net cash used in investing activities

(1,979)

(21,631)

(20,515)

(54,381)

(38,826)

(34,818)

(36,680)

1,329

1,503

1,646

(2,222)

(3,404)

(3,127)

(42,900)

(15,900)

(16,607)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Purchases and retirement of common stock
Net proceeds from employee stock purchase plans
Common stock repurchases for taxes upon vesting of restricted stock
Net change in Revolving Credit Facility
Payments on debt

—

Payment of contingent consideration at acquisition date fair value

—

Other

(22,397)

(296)

Net cash used in financing activities

$

191

28,619

102,450

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period

(75,335)

(1,542)

(10,079)

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period

—

(75,016)

936

Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

(18,300)

—

(82,915)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

(2,267)

—

(29,391)

73,831

92,371

$

2,432

$

103,222

102,450

$

73,831

4,373

$

3,811

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest

$

Income taxes

12,166

12,898

4,593

Operating lease liabilities

17,643

—

—

993

1,553

375

—

798

—

18,759

—

—

Non-cash transactions:
Property and equipment purchased but not yet paid
Divestiture non-cash consideration
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1:

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of business
TrueBlue, Inc. (the “company,” “TrueBlue,” “we,” “us” and “our”) is a leading provider of specialized workforce solutions that help clients achieve business growth and improve productivity. We serve
clients in a wide variety of industries through our PeopleReady segment which offers on-demand, industrial staffing, our PeopleManagement segment which offers contingent, on-site industrial staffing
and commercial driver services, and our PeopleScout segment which offers recruitment process outsourcing (“RPO”) and managed service provider (“MSP”) solutions to a wide variety of industries. We
are headquartered in Tacoma, Washington.
Basis of presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of TrueBlue and all of its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).
Reclassifications
Certain immaterial prior year amounts have been reclassified within current liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows to conform to current year
presentation.
Fiscal period end
The consolidated financial statements are presented on a 52/53-week fiscal year-end basis, with the last day of the fiscal year ending on the Sunday closest to the last day of December. In fiscal years
consisting of 53 weeks, the final quarter will consist of 14 weeks while fiscal years consisting of 52 weeks, all quarters will consist of 13 weeks. All years presented include 52 weeks.
Revenue recognition
We account for a contract when both parties to the contract have approved the contract, the rights of the parties are identified, payment terms are identified, the contract has commercial substance, and
collectability of consideration is probable. Revenues are recognized over time using an output measure, as the control of the promised services is transferred to the client, in an amount that reflects the
consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those services. The majority of our contracts are short-term in nature as they are filling the contingent staffing needs of our clients, or include
termination clauses that allow either party to cancel within a short notice period, without cause. Revenue includes billable travel and other reimbursable costs and are reported net of sales, use or other
transaction taxes collected from clients and remitted to taxing authorities. Payment terms vary by client and the services offered, however we do not extend payment terms beyond one year. Substantially
all of our contracts include payment terms of 90 days or less.
We primarily record revenue on a gross basis as a principal versus on a net basis as an agent on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. We have determined that gross
reporting as a principal is the appropriate treatment based upon the following key factors:
•

We maintain the direct contractual relationship with the client and are responsible for fulfilling the service promised to the client.

•

We demonstrate control over the services provided to our clients by being the employer of record for the individuals performing the service.

•

We establish our worker’s billing rate.

Contingent staffing
We recognize revenue for our PeopleReady and PeopleManagement contingent staffing services over time as services are performed in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled
to collect in exchange for our services, which is generally calculated as hours worked multiplied by the agreed-upon hourly bill rate. The client simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the
services as they are provided. We do not incur costs to obtain our contingent staffing contracts. Costs are incurred to fulfill some contingent staffing contracts, however these costs are not material and
are expensed as incurred.
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Human resource outsourcing
We primarily recognize revenue for our PeopleScout outsourced recruitment of permanent employees over time in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for
our services. The client simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the services as they are provided. We do not incur costs to obtain our outsourced recruitment of permanent employee
contracts. The costs to fulfill these contracts are not material and are expensed as incurred.
Unsatisfied performance obligations
As a practical expedient, we do not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for (i) contracts with an expected original duration of one year or less and (ii) contracts for which we
recognize revenue at the amount to which we have the right to invoice for services performed.
Cost of services
Cost of services refers to costs directly associated with the earning of revenue and primarily includes wages and related payroll taxes and workers’ compensation expenses. Cost of services also includes
billable travel as well as other reimbursable and non-reimbursable expenses.
Advertising costs
Advertising costs consist primarily of print and other promotional activities. We expense advertisements as of the first date the advertisements take place. Advertising expenses included in selling,
general and administrative (“SG&A”) expense were $6.8 million, $8.1 million and $7.3 million in fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities
We consider all highly liquid instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less at date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Investments with original maturities greater than three
months are classified as marketable securities. We do not buy and hold securities principally for the purpose of selling them in the near future. Our investment policy is focused on the preservation of
capital, liquidity and return. From time to time, we may sell certain securities but the objective is not to generate profits on short-term differences in price. We manage our cash equivalents and
marketable securities as a single portfolio of highly liquid securities.
Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount. We establish an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the failure of our clients to make required payments. The
allowance for doubtful accounts is determined based on current collection efforts, historical collection trends, write-off experience, client credit risk and current economic data. The allowance for
doubtful accounts is reviewed quarterly and represents our best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses. Past due balances are written off when it is probable the receivable will not be collected.
Restricted cash and investments
Cash and investments pledged as collateral and restricted for use in workers’ compensation insurance programs are included as restricted cash and investments on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Our
investments consist of highly-rated investment grade debt securities, which at the time of purchase, were rated A1/P1 or higher for short-term securities and A or higher for long-term securities, by
nationally recognized rating organizations. We have the positive intent and ability to hold our restricted investments until maturity in accordance with our investment policy and, accordingly, all of our
restricted investments are classified as held-to-maturity. In the event that an investment is downgraded, it is replaced with a highly-rated investment grade security. We review for impairment on a
quarterly basis and do not consider temporary unrealized losses to be an impairment.
We have an agreement with American International Group, Inc. and the Bank of New York Mellon Corporation creating a trust (“Trust”), which holds the majority of our collateral obligations under
existing workers’ compensation insurance policies. Placing the collateral in the Trust allows us to manage the investment of the assets and provides greater protection of those assets.
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Fair value of financial instruments and investments
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants on the measurement date. For assets and liabilities recorded or disclosed at fair value on a recurring basis, we determine fair value based on the following:
•

Level 1: The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents and mutual funds approximates fair value because of the short-term nature of these instruments. Inputs are valued using quoted market
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

•

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities are used. We use quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets or we estimate the fair value
using a variety of valuation methodologies, which include observable inputs for comparable instruments and unobservable inputs.

•

Level 3: For assets and liabilities with unobservable inputs, we typically rely on management’s estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

The carrying value of our cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash approximates fair value because of the short-term maturity of those instruments. We hold mutual funds and money market funds
to support our deferred compensation liability, which are carried at fair value based on quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets. There are inherent limitations when estimating the fair
value of financial instruments, and the fair values reported are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that would be realized in current market transactions.
The carrying value of our accounts receivable, accounts payable and other accrued expenses, and accrued wages and benefits approximates fair value due to their short-term nature. In addition to mutual
funds and money market funds, we also have company owned life insurance policies that support our deferred compensation liability. Company owned life insurance policies are carried at cash
surrender value, which approximates fair value. We also hold certain restricted investments which collateralize workers’ compensation programs and are classified as held-to-maturity and carried at
amortized cost on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Certain items such as goodwill and other intangible assets are recognized or disclosed at fair value on a non-recurring basis. We determine the fair value of these items using level 3 inputs.
Property and equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost. We compute depreciation using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Years

Buildings

40

Software

3-8

Computers, furniture and equipment

3 - 10

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the related non-cancelable lease term or their estimated useful lives.
Non-capital expenditures associated with opening new locations are expensed as incurred.
When property is retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss, net of proceeds, is reflected on the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.
Repairs and maintenance costs are charged directly to expense as incurred. Major renewals or replacements that substantially extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized and depreciated.
Costs associated with the acquisition or development of software for internal use are capitalized and amortized over the expected useful life of the software, from three to eight years. A subsequent
addition, modification or upgrade to internal-use software is capitalized to the extent that it enhances the software’s functionality or extends its useful life. Software maintenance and training costs are
expensed in the period incurred.
Leases
We conduct our branch office operations from leased locations. We also lease office spaces for our centralized support functions, office equipment, and machinery for use at client sites. Many leases
require variable payments of property taxes, insurance, and
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common area maintenance, in addition to base rent. The variable portion of these lease payments is not included in our right-of-use assets or lease liabilities. Rather, variable payments, other than those
dependent upon an index or rate, are expensed when the obligation for those payments is incurred and are included in SG&A expense on our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive
Income. The terms of our lease agreements generally range from three to five years, some containing options to renew or cancel. We determine if an arrangement meets the definition of a lease at
inception, at which time we also perform an analysis to determine whether the lease qualifies as operating or financing.
Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease current and long-term liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Lease expense for operating leases is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in SG&A expense on our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.
Financing leases are included in property and equipment, net, other current liabilities, and other long-term liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Lease expense for financing leases is recognized
as depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest expense.
Lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are measured using the present value of future minimum lease payments over the lease term at commencement date. The right-of-use asset also includes any
lease payments made on or before the commencement date of the lease, less any lease incentives received. As the rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable in our leases, we use our
incremental borrowing rates based on the information available at the lease commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The incremental borrowing rates used are estimated
based on what we would be required to pay for a collateralized loan over a similar term. We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are accounted for as a single lease
component.
For leases with an initial non-cancelable lease term of less than one year and no option to purchase, we have elected not to recognize the lease on our Consolidated Balance Sheets and instead recognize
rent payments on a straight-line basis over the lease term within SG&A expense on our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. In addition, for those leases where the right
to cancel the lease is available to both TrueBlue (as the lessee) and the lessor, the lease term is the initial non-cancelable period plus the notice period, which is typically 90 days, and not greater than one
year.
Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets
We evaluate goodwill for impairment on an annual basis as of the first day of our fiscal second quarter, and whenever events or circumstances make it more likely than not that an impairment may have
occurred. These events or circumstances could include a significant change in the business climate, operating performance indicators, competition, client engagement, legal factors, or sale or disposition
of a significant portion of a reporting unit. We monitor the existence of potential impairment indicators throughout the fiscal year. We test for goodwill impairment at the reporting unit level. We
consider our operating segments to be our reporting units for goodwill impairment testing. Our operating segments are PeopleReady, Centerline Drivers (“Centerline”), Staff Management | SMX (“Staff
Management”), SIMOS Insourcing Solutions (“SIMOS”), PeopleScout, and PeopleScout MSP. The impairment test involves comparing the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value,
including goodwill. Fair value reflects the price a market participant would be willing to pay in a potential sale of the reporting unit. If the fair value exceeds the carrying value, we conclude that no
goodwill impairment has occurred. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, we recognize an impairment loss in an amount equal to the excess, not to exceed the carrying value of
the goodwill.
Determining the fair value of a reporting unit involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions to evaluate the impact of operational and macroeconomic changes on each reporting unit. The fair
value of each reporting unit is a weighted average of the income and market valuation approaches. The income approach applies a fair value methodology based on discounted cash flows. This analysis
requires significant estimates and judgments, including estimation of future cash flows, which is dependent on internal forecasts, estimation of the long-term rate of growth for our business, estimation of
the useful life over which cash flows will occur, and determination of our weighted average cost of capital, which is risk-adjusted to reflect the specific risk profile of the reporting unit being tested. We
also apply a market approach, which identifies similar publicly traded companies and develops a correlation, referred to as a multiple, to apply to the operating results of the reporting units. The primary
market multiples to which we compare are revenue and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization. The income and market approaches were equally weighted in our most recent
annual impairment test. We base fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be reasonable but that are unpredictable and inherently uncertain. Actual future results may differ from those
estimates. We consider a reporting unit’s fair value to be substantially in excess of its carrying value at a 20% premium or greater.
We performed our goodwill impairment tests for 2019, 2018 and 2017, and determined that the estimated fair values exceeded the carrying amounts for our reporting units. Accordingly, no impairment
loss was recognized for the years ended December 29, 2019, December 30, 2018 or December 31, 2017.
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We have indefinite-lived intangible assets related to our Staff Management and PeopleScout trade names. We test our trade names annually for impairment, and when indications of potential impairment
exist.
We performed our annual indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment test for 2019, 2018 and 2017, and determined that the estimated fair values exceeded the carrying amounts for our indefinite-lived
trade names. Accordingly, no impairment loss was recognized for the years ended December 29, 2019, December 30, 2018 or December 31, 2017.
Other long-lived assets
Other long-lived assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. Other long-lived assets include
property and equipment, lease right-of-use assets, finite-lived intangible assets and capitalized implementation costs for cloud computing arrangements that are service contracts.
We have finite-lived intangible assets related to acquired company customers, trade names/trademarks, and technology, as well as purchased trade names/trademarks.
We capitalize implementation costs incurred in a cloud computing arrangement that is a service contract. Capitalized implementation costs are recorded as a prepaid asset in other assets, net on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets, with the related amortization recorded in SG&A expense on our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over the fixed,
non-cancelable term of the associated arrangement plus any reasonably certain renewal periods. Software license fees incurred during the development period are expensed as incurred.
Business combinations
We account for our business acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting. The fair value of the net assets acquired and the results of the acquired business are included in the financial
statements from the acquisition date forward. We are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and results of operations during the reporting
period. Estimates are used in accounting for, among other things, the fair value of acquired net operating assets, property and equipment, intangible assets, useful lives of property and equipment, and
amortizable lives for acquired intangible assets. Any excess of the purchase consideration over the identified fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired is recognized as goodwill. Goodwill acquired
in business combinations is assigned to the reporting unit(s) expected to benefit from the combination as of the acquisition date. We estimate the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities as of the date
of the acquisition based on information available at that time. The initial valuation of these tangible and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities is subject to further management review and may
change between the preliminary allocation and the final allocation.
All acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and recorded in SG&A expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. Additionally, we recognize liabilities
for anticipated restructuring costs that will be necessary due to the elimination of excess capacity, redundant assets or unnecessary functions, and record them as SG&A expense on the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.
Workers’ compensation claims reserves
We maintain reserves for workers’ compensation claims using actuarial estimates of the future cost of claims and related expenses. These estimates include claims that have been reported but not settled
and claims that have been incurred but not reported. These reserves, which reflect potential liabilities to be paid in future periods based on estimated payment patterns, are discounted to estimated net
present value using discount rates based on average returns of “risk-free” U.S. Treasury instruments, which are evaluated on a quarterly basis. We evaluate the reserves regularly throughout the year and
make adjustments accordingly. If the actual cost of such claims and related expenses exceeds the amounts estimated, additional reserves may be required. Changes in reserve estimates are reflected in
cost of services on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income in the period when the changes are made.
Our workers’ compensation reserves include estimated expenses related to claims above our self-insured limits (“excess claims”) and a corresponding receivable for the insurance coverage on excess
claims based on the contractual policy agreements we have with insurance companies. We discount the liability and its corresponding receivable to its estimated net present value using the “risk-free”
rates associated with the actuarially determined weighted average lives of our excess claims. When appropriate, based on our best estimate, we record a valuation allowance against the insurance
receivable to reflect amounts that may not be realized.
Legal contingency reserves and regulatory liabilities
From time to time we are subject to compliance audits by federal, state and local authorities relating to a variety of regulations including wage and hour laws, taxes, workers’ compensation, immigration,
and safety. In addition, we are subject to legal

Page - 49

Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

proceedings in the ordinary course of our operations. We establish accruals for contingent legal and regulatory liabilities when management determines that it is probable that a legal claim will result in
an adverse outcome and the amount of liability can be reasonably estimated. We evaluate our reserve regularly throughout the year and make adjustments as needed. If the actual outcome of these
matters is different than expected, an adjustment is charged or credited to expense in the period the outcome occurs or the period in which the estimate changes.
Income taxes and related valuation allowance
We account for income taxes by recording taxes payable or receivable for the current year and deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our
consolidated financial statements or tax returns. These expected future tax consequences are measured based on provisions of tax law as currently enacted; the effects of future changes in tax laws are
not anticipated. Future tax law changes, such as changes to the federal and state corporate tax rates and the mix of states and their taxable income, could have a material impact on our financial condition
or results of operations. When appropriate, we record a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets to offset future tax benefits that may not be realized. In determining whether a valuation allowance
is appropriate, we consider whether it is more likely than not that all or some portion of our deferred tax assets will not be realized, based in part upon management’s judgments regarding future events
and past operating results. Based on that analysis, we have determined that a valuation allowance is appropriate for certain net operating losses and tax credits that we expect will not be utilized within
the permitted carryforward periods as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018.
A significant driver of fluctuations in our effective income tax rate is the Work Opportunity Tax Credit (“WOTC”). WOTC is designed to encourage hiring of workers from certain disadvantaged
targeted categories and is generally calculated as a percentage of wages over a twelve month period up to worker maximum by targeted category. Based on historical results and business trends, we
estimate the amount of WOTC we expect to earn related to wages of the current year. However, the estimate is subject to variation because 1) a small percentage of our workers qualify for one or more
of the many targeted categories; 2) the targeted categories are subject to different incentive credit rates and limitations; 3) credits fluctuate depending on economic conditions and qualified worker
retention periods; and 4) state and federal offices can delay their credit certification processing and have inconsistent certification rates. We recognize additional prior year hiring credits if credits in
excess of original estimates have been certified by government offices.
Deferred compensation plan
We offer a non-qualified defined contribution plan (the “Plan”) to eligible employees. Participating employees may elect to defer and contribute a portion of their eligible compensation. The Plan allows
participants to direct their account based on the investment options determined by TrueBlue and offers discretionary matching contributions.
The current portion of the deferred compensation liability is included in other current liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The total deferred compensation liability is largely offset by deferred
compensation mutual funds, money market funds and company owned life insurance policies recorded in restricted cash and investments on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The mutual funds and
money market funds are measured at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses recognized in SG&A expense, while realized gains and losses are recorded in other income on our Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. The carrying value of company owned life insurance policies is based on the cash surrender value of the policies and, accordingly, approximates
fair value. Changes in the cash surrender value of the insurance policies are recorded in SG&A expense on our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.
Stock-based compensation
Under various plans, officers, employees and non-employee directors have received or may receive grants of stock, restricted stock awards, performance share units or options to purchase common
stock. We also have an employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”).
Compensation expense for restricted stock awards and performance share units is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the stock’s fair market value on the grant
date. For performance share unit grants issued with performance conditions, compensation expense is recognized over each vesting period based on assessment of the likelihood of meeting these
conditions. We recognize compensation expense for only the portion of restricted stock and performance share units that is expected to vest, rather than record forfeitures when they occur. If the actual
number of forfeitures differs from those estimated by management, additional adjustments to compensation expense may be required in the future periods.
Foreign currency
Our consolidated financial statements are reported in U.S. dollars. Assets and liabilities of international subsidiaries with non-U.S. dollar functional currencies are translated to U.S. dollars at the
exchange rates in effect on the balance sheet date. Revenues and
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expenses for each subsidiary are translated to U.S. dollars using a weighted average rate for the relevant reporting period. Translation adjustments resulting from this process are included, net of tax, in
other comprehensive income, when applicable.
Purchases and retirement of our common stock
We purchase our common stock under a program authorized by our Board of Directors. Under applicable Washington State law, shares purchased are not displayed separately as treasury stock on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets and are treated as authorized but unissued shares. It is our accounting policy to first record these purchases as a reduction to our common stock account. Once the common
stock account has been reduced to a nominal balance, remaining purchases are recorded as a reduction to our retained earnings. Furthermore, activity in our common stock account related to stock-based
compensation is also recorded to retained earnings until such time as the reduction to retained earnings due to stock repurchases has been recovered.
Net income per share
Basic net income per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share is calculated by dividing
net income by the weighted average number of common shares and potential common shares outstanding during the period. Potential common shares include the dilutive effects of vested and non-vested
restricted stock, performance share units and shares issued under the ESPP, except where their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
Anti-dilutive shares primarily include non-vested restricted stock and performance share units for which the sum of the assumed proceeds, including unrecognized compensation expense, exceeds the
average stock price during the periods presented. Anti-dilutive shares associated with our stock options relate to those stock options with an exercise price higher than the average market value of our
stock during the periods presented.
Use of estimates
Preparing financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.
Estimates in our consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, purchase accounting, allowance for doubtful accounts, estimates for asset and goodwill impairments, stock-based
performance awards, assumptions underlying self-insurance reserves, contingent legal and regulatory liabilities, and the potential outcome of future tax consequences of events that have been recognized
in the consolidated financial statements. Actual results and outcomes may differ from these estimates and assumptions.
Recently adopted accounting standards
Intangibles-goodwill and other-internal-use software
In August 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued new guidance on accounting for implementation costs incurred in a cloud computing arrangement that is a service contract.
The standard aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs
incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal-use software license). Previously, we expensed the cost of internal development labor as incurred.
The new guidance requires these costs be capitalized with the related amortization recorded in SG&A expense. In addition, capitalized development costs are required to be recorded as a prepaid asset
rather than a fixed asset, and license fees incurred during the development period are expensed as incurred.
The standard is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. We elected to early adopt this new standard prospectively as of the first day of
our fiscal first quarter in 2019. There was no impact on our consolidated financial statements upon adoption.
Leases
In February 2016, the FASB issued guidance on lease accounting. The new guidance continues to classify leases as either finance or operating, but results in the lessee recognizing most operating leases
on the balance sheet as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. This guidance was effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2018 (Q1 2019 for TrueBlue), with early
adoption permitted. In July 2018, the FASB amended the standard to provide transition relief for comparative reporting, allowing companies to adopt the provisions of the new standard using a modified
retrospective transition method on the adoption date, with a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings recorded on the date of adoption. We elected to adopt the standard
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using the transition relief provided in the July amendment. We implemented internal controls and key system functionality to enable the reporting of financial information.
We elected the three practical expedients allowed for implementation of the new standard but did not utilize the hindsight practical expedient. Accordingly, we did not reassess: 1) whether any expired or
existing contracts are or contain leases; 2) the lease classification for any expired or existing leases; 3) initial direct costs for any existing leases. We also elected the practical expedient to not separate
non-lease components from the lease components to which they relate, and instead account for them as a single lease component. Accordingly, all fixed expenses associated with a lease contract are
accounted for as lease expenses.
Adoption of the new standard resulted in the recording of operating right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of $39 million and $41 million, respectively, as of the first day of our fiscal first quarter of
2019. The difference between the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities relates to the deferred rent liability balance as of the end of fiscal 2018 associated with the leases capitalized. The deferred rent
liability, which was the difference between the straight-line lease expense and cash paid, reduced the right-of-use asset upon adoption. Our accounting for finance leases remained substantially
unchanged. The standard did not materially impact our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income or our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
Recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet adopted
In June 2016, the FASB issued guidance on accounting for credit losses on financial instruments. This guidance sets forth a current expected credit loss model, which requires the measurement of credit
losses for most financial assets and certain other instruments that are not measured at fair value through net income. The guidance requires the application of a current expected credit loss model, which
is a new impairment model based on expected losses. Under this model, an entity recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses based on historical experience, current conditions and forecasted
information rather than the current methodology of delaying recognition of credit losses until it is probable a loss has been incurred. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2019 (Q1 2020 for TrueBlue) with early adoption permitted. We plan to adopt the new guidance in Q1 2020 related to our trade accounts receivables, held-to-maturity debt securities, and insurance
receivable, and expect the total impact upon adoption to be immaterial.
No other new accounting pronouncement issued or effective during the fiscal year had, or is expected to have, a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
NOTE 2:

ACQUISITION AND DIVESTITURE

2018 acquisition
Effective June 12, 2018, we acquired all of the outstanding equity interests of TMP Holdings LTD (“TMP”), through its subsidiary PeopleScout, Inc. for a cash purchase price of $22.7 million, net of
cash acquired of $7.0 million. TMP is a mid-sized RPO and employer branding service provider operating in the United Kingdom. This acquisition increases our ability to win multi-continent
engagements by adding a physical presence in Europe, referenceable clients and employer branding capabilities.
We incurred acquisition and integration-related costs of $1.6 million and $2.7 million for the years ended December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively, which are included in SG&A expense
on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income and cash flows from operating activities on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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The following table reflects the allocation of the purchase price, net of cash acquired, to the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed:
(in thousands)

Purchase price allocation

Cash purchase price, net of cash acquired

$

22,742

Accounts receivable

9,770

Prepaid expenses, deposits and other current assets

337

Property and equipment

435

Customer relationships

6,286

Trade names/trademarks

1,738

Total assets acquired

18,566

Accounts payable and other accrued expenses

9,139

Accrued wages and benefits

1,642

Income tax payable

205

Deferred income tax liability

1,444

Total liabilities assumed

12,430

Net identifiable assets acquired

6,136

Goodwill (1)

16,606

Total consideration allocated

$

22,742

(1) Goodwill represents the expected synergies with our existing business, the acquired assembled workforce, potential new clients and future cash flows after the acquisition of TMP, and is non-deductible for income
tax purposes.

Intangible assets include identifiable intangible assets for customer relationships and trade names/trademarks. We estimated the fair value of the acquired identifiable intangible assets, which are subject
to amortization, using the income approach.
The following table sets forth the components of identifiable intangible assets, their estimated fair values and useful lives as of June 12, 2018:

(in thousands, except for estimated useful lives, in years)

Estimated fair value

Customer relationships - other

$

2,809

Estimated useful life in
years

3

Customer relationships - RPO

3,477

7

Trade names/trademarks

1,738

14

Total acquired identifiable intangible assets

$

8,024

The results of TMP’s operations and cash flows reported for 2018 on our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows relate to the
period from June 12, 2018 to December 30, 2018. Revenue from TMP included in our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income was $31.0 million from the acquisition date to
December 30, 2018, and $51.3 million for the year ended December 29, 2019. The acquisition of TMP was not material to our consolidated results of operations and as such, pro forma financial
information was not required.
2018 divestiture
Effective March 12, 2018, we divested substantially all the assets and certain liabilities of PlaneTechs, LLC (“PlaneTechs”) for a sales price of $11.4 million, of which $8.5 million was paid in cash, and
$1.6 million in a note receivable, with monthly principal payments of $0.1 million beginning in April 2018. The outstanding balance as of December 30, 2018 was included in prepaid expenses, deposits
and other current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and fully repaid as of December 29, 2019. The remaining purchase price balance consisted of the preliminary working capital adjustment,
which was included in prepaid expenses, deposits and other current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The company recognized a pre-tax gain on the divestiture of $0.7 million, which was
included in interest and other income on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income for the year ended December 30, 2018. Fiscal first quarter revenue through the closing
date of the divestiture for the PlaneTechs business of $8.0 million was reported in the PeopleManagement reportable segment for the year ended December 30, 2018.
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The divestiture of PlaneTechs did not represent a strategic shift with a major effect on the company’s operations and financial results and, therefore was not reported as discontinued operations in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets or Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income for the periods presented.
NOTE 3: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
Our assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis consisted of the following:
December 29, 2019

(in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents

Total fair value

$

Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (1)
Municipal debt securities

Quoted prices in active
markets for identical
assets (level 1)

37,608

$

37,608

54,763

Significant other
observable inputs (level
2)

$

54,763

—

Significant unobservable
inputs (level 3)

$

—

—
—

$

92,371

$

92,371

$

—

$

—

$

74,236

$

—

$

74,236

$

—

Corporate debt securities

76,068

—

76,068

—

Agency mortgage-backed securities

1,376

—

1,376

—

U.S. government and agency securities

1,051

—

1,051

—

Restricted investments classified as held-to-maturity

$

152,731

$

—

$

152,731

$

—

Deferred compensation investments (2)

$

13,670

$

13,670

$

—

$

—

December 30, 2018

(in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents

Total fair value

$

Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (1)
Municipal debt securities

$

46,988

Significant other
observable inputs (level
2)

$

55,462

—

Significant unobservable
inputs (level 3)

$

—

—
—

$

102,450

$

102,450

$

—

$

—

$

76,690

$

—

$

76,690

$

—

Agency mortgage-backed securities
U.S. government and agency securities

Deferred compensation investments (2)

46,988
55,462

Corporate debt securities

Restricted investments classified as held-to-maturity

Quoted prices in active
markets for identical
assets (level 1)

75,432

—

75,432

—

2,531

—

2,531

—

988

—

988

—

$

155,641

$

—

$

155,641

$

—

$

22,621

$

22,621

$

—

$

—

(1) Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash consist of money market funds, deposits, and investments with original maturities of three months or less.
(2) Deferred compensation investments consist of mutual funds and money market funds.

There were no material transfers between level 1, level 2 and level 3 of the fair value hierarchy during the years ended December 29, 2019 or December 30, 2018.
Assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis
We measure certain non-financial assets on a non-recurring basis, including goodwill and certain intangible assets. There were no goodwill or intangible asset impairment charges recorded during fiscal
2019, 2018 or 2017.
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NOTE 4: RESTRICTED CASH AND INVESTMENTS
The following is a summary of the carrying value of our restricted cash and investments:
December 29,
2019

(in thousands)

Cash collateral held by insurance carriers

$

December 30,
2018

24,612 $

Cash and cash equivalents held in Trust

24,182

23,681

28,021

149,373

156,618

Deferred compensation investments

13,670

22,621

Company owned life insurance policies

13,126

742

6,470

3,259

Investments held in Trust

Other restricted cash and cash equivalents
Total restricted cash and investments

$

230,932 $

235,443

Held-to-maturity
Restricted cash and investments include collateral that has been provided or pledged to insurance carriers for workers’ compensation and state workers’ compensation programs. Our insurance carriers
and certain state workers’ compensation programs require us to collateralize a portion of our workers’ compensation obligation. The collateral typically takes the form of cash and cash equivalents and
highly rated investment grade securities, primarily in debt and asset-backed securities. The majority of our collateral obligations are held in Trust.
The amortized cost and estimated fair value of our held-to-maturity investments held in Trust, aggregated by investment category as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, were as follows:
December 29, 2019
(in thousands)

Municipal debt securities

Amortized cost

$

Corporate debt securities
Agency mortgage-backed securities
U.S. government and agency securities
Total held-to-maturity investments

$

Gross unrealized gains

Gross unrealized losses

—

Fair value

72,017 $

2,219 $

$

75,000

1,102

(34)

76,068

1,357

21

(2)

1,376

999

52

—

149,373 $

3,394 $

(36) $

74,236

1,051
152,731

December 30, 2018
(in thousands)

Municipal debt securities

Amortized cost

$

Corporate debt securities
Agency mortgage-backed securities
U.S. government and agency securities
Total held-to-maturity investments

$
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76,750 $

Gross unrealized gains

Gross unrealized losses

456 $

Fair value

(516) $

76,690

76,310

30

(908)

75,432

2,559

5

(33)

2,531

999

—

(11)

156,618 $

491 $

(1,468) $

988
155,641
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The estimated fair value and gross unrealized losses of all investments classified as held-to-maturity, aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a
continuous unrealized loss position as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, were as follows:
December 29, 2019
Less than 12 months
(in thousands)

Municipal debt securities

Estimated fair value

$

12 months or more

Unrealized losses

— $

Corporate debt securities

Estimated fair value

—

15,920

$

— $

(32)

Total

Unrealized losses

Estimated fair value

—

2,765

$

Unrealized losses

— $

(2)

18,685

—
(34)

Agency mortgage-backed securities

—

—

276

(2)

276

(2)

U.S. government and agency securities

—

—

—

—

—

—

15,920 $

(32)

3,041 $

(4)

18,961 $

(36)

Total held-to-maturity investments

$

$

$

December 30, 2018
Less than 12 months
(in thousands)

Municipal debt securities

Estimated fair value

$

Corporate debt securities

12,803

12 months or more

Unrealized losses

$

22,567

(74)

(442)

$

Unrealized losses

35,441 $

(516)

67,030

(908)

1,375

(33)

1,760

(33)

U.S. government and agency securities

988

(11)
$

$

(631)

—

36,743

22,638

Estimated fair value

44,463

385
$

$

Total

Unrealized losses

(277)

Agency mortgage-backed securities
Total held-to-maturity investments

Estimated fair value

(362)

—
$

68,476

—
$

(1,106)

988
$

(11)

105,219 $

(1,468)

The total number of held-to-maturity securities in an unrealized loss position as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018 were 17 and 93, respectively. The unrealized losses were the result of
interest rate increases. Since the decline in estimated fair value is attributable to changes in interest rates and not credit quality, and the company has the intent and ability to hold these debt securities
until recovery of amortized cost or until maturity, we do not consider these investments other than temporarily impaired.
The amortized cost and fair value by contractual maturity of our held-to-maturity investments are as follows:
December 29, 2019
(in thousands)

Amortized cost

Due in one year or less

$

Fair value

20,312 $

20,356

Due after one year through five years

92,358

94,159

Due after five years through ten years

36,703

Total held-to-maturity investments

$

149,373 $

38,216
152,731

Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because the issuers of certain debt securities have the right to call or prepay their obligations without penalty. We have no significant
concentrations of counterparties in our held-to-maturity investment portfolio.
Equity investments
We hold mutual funds and money market funds to support our deferred compensation liability. Unrealized gains and losses related to equity investments still held at December 29, 2019 and
December 30, 2018, were $2.8 million gain and $3.4 million loss for the years then ended, respectively, and are included in SG&A expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income.
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NOTE 5: PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Property and equipment are stated at cost and consist of the following:
December 29,
2019

(in thousands)

Buildings and land

$

43,621 $

Software
Computers, furniture and equipment
Construction in progress
Gross property and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation
Property and equipment, net

December 30,
2018

$

41,300

132,378

119,241

57,770

52,115

8,727

8,350

242,496

221,006

(176,346)

(163,335)

66,150 $

57,671

Capitalized software costs, net of accumulated depreciation, were $26.0 million and $19.4 million as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively, excluding amounts in construction in
progress. Construction in progress consists primarily of purchased and internally-developed software.
Depreciation expense of property and equipment totaled $19.7 million, $20.3 million and $24.7 million for the years ended December 29, 2019, December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
respectively.
NOTE 6: GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill
The following table reflects changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the period by reportable segments:
(in thousands)

Balance at

PeopleReady

PeopleManagement

PeopleScout

Total company

December 31, 2017

Goodwill before impairment

$

Accumulated impairment loss
Goodwill, net

106,304 $

100,146

(46,210)

(50,700)

$

132,323 $
(15,169)

(112,079)

338,773

60,094

49,446

117,154

226,694

Divested goodwill before impairment (1)

—

(19,054)

—

(19,054)

Divested accumulated impairment loss (1)

—

17,000

—

17,000

Acquired goodwill (2)

—

—

16,606

16,606

Foreign currency translation

—

—

(3,959)

(3,959)

Balance at

December 30, 2018

Goodwill before impairment

106,304

81,092

144,970

Accumulated impairment loss

(46,210)

(33,700)

(15,169)

(95,079)

60,094

47,392

129,801

237,287

—

—

211

211

332,577

Goodwill, net
Foreign currency translation
Balance at

332,366

December 29, 2019

Goodwill before impairment

106,304

81,092

145,181

Accumulated impairment loss

(46,210)

(33,700)

(15,169)

(95,079)

130,012 $

237,498

Goodwill, net

$

60,094 $

47,392

$

(1) Effective March 12, 2018, we divested our PlaneTechs business. As a result of this divestiture, we eliminated the remaining goodwill balance of the PlaneTechs business, which was a part of our PeopleManagement
reportable segment. For additional information, see Note 2: Acquisition and Divestiture.
(2) Effective June 12, 2018, we acquired TMP through PeopleScout. Accordingly, the goodwill associated with the acquisition has been assigned to our PeopleScout reportable segment based on the purchase price
allocation. For additional information, see Note 2: Acquisition and Divestiture.
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Intangible assets
Finite-lived intangible assets
The following table presents our purchased finite-lived intangible assets:
December 29, 2019

(in thousands)

Accumulated
amortization

Gross carrying amount

December 30, 2018
Net
carrying
amount

Gross carrying amount

Net
carrying
amount

Accumulated
amortization

Finite-lived intangible assets (1):
Customer relationships

$

Trade names/trademarks
Technologies
Total finite-lived intangible assets

$

149,299

(83,317) $

65,982

153,704 $

(70,887) $

82,817

2,052

(441)

1,611

2,580

(1,069)

1,511

600

(520)

80

9,800

(8,720)

1,080

166,084 $

(80,676) $

85,408

151,951

$

$

(84,278) $

67,673

$

$

(1) Excludes assets that are fully amortized.

Amortization expense of our finite-lived intangible assets was $17.9 million, $20.8 million and $21.4 million for the years ended December 29, 2019, December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
respectively.
The following table provides the estimated future amortization of finite-lived intangible assets as of December 29, 2019:
(in thousands)

2020

$

15,885

2021

14,252

2022

13,381

2023

12,726

2024

10,319

Thereafter

1,110

Total future amortization

$

67,673

Indefinite-lived intangible assets
We also held indefinite-lived trade names/trademarks of $6.0 million as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018.
Impairment tests
Based on our 2019 annual impairment test, the estimated fair value of our SIMOS reporting unit was in excess of its carrying value by approximately 10%. The current carrying value of goodwill for this
reporting unit is $35 million. There are two key clients that individually account for more than 10% of revenue for the SIMOS reporting unit. For each client we service multiple sites. The loss of a key
client, loss of a significant number of key sites, or a downturn in the economy could give rise to an impairment. Should any one of these events occur, we may need to record an impairment loss to
goodwill for the amount by which the carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the total amount of goodwill. All other reporting units’ fair values were substantially in excess of their respective
carrying values. Accordingly, there was no impairment loss recognized for the year ended December 29, 2019.
Effective December 30, 2019 (the first day of fiscal 2020), our SIMOS and Staff Management reporting units were combined into one reporting unit (On-site) due to common customers and contingent
workers, similar nature of services and economic characteristics. Staff Management’s fair value was substantially in excess of its carrying value as of the annual impairment test by approximately 48%
and there were no indicators of impairment during the interim period. Therefore, no interim impairment test was required for this reporting unit. Based on the annual impairment test for SIMOS, the
estimated fair value was in excess of its carrying value by approximately 10%. Because the estimated fair value of goodwill for SIMOS was not substantially in excess of its carrying value, we tested the
SIMOS reporting unit for impairment prior to the combination with Staff Management. The result of the most recent impairment test indicated the estimated fair value remains in excess of carrying
value by approximately 7%. Therefore, no impairment loss was recognized.
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NOTE 7: WORKERS’ COMPENSATION INSURANCE AND RESERVES
We provide workers’ compensation insurance for our contingent and permanent employees. The majority of our current workers’ compensation insurance policies cover claims for a particular event
above a $2.0 million deductible limit, on a “per occurrence” basis. This results in our being substantially self-insured.
For workers’ compensation claims originating in Washington, North Dakota, Ohio, Wyoming, Canada and Puerto Rico (our “monopolistic jurisdictions”), we pay workers’ compensation insurance
premiums and obtain full coverage under government-administered programs (with the exception of PeopleReady in Ohio where we have a self-insured policy). Accordingly, because we are not the
primary obligor, our consolidated financial statements do not reflect the liability for workers’ compensation claims in these monopolistic jurisdictions. Our workers’ compensation reserve is established
using estimates of the future cost of claims and related expenses that have been reported but not settled, as well as those that have been incurred but not reported.
Our workers’ compensation reserve for claims below the deductible limit is discounted to its estimated net present value using discount rates based on average returns of “risk-free” U.S. Treasury
instruments available during the year in which the liability was incurred. The weighted average discount rate was 2.0% at December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018. Payments made against selfinsured claims are made over a weighted average period of approximately 5 years as of December 29, 2019.
The following table presents a reconciliation of the undiscounted workers’ compensation reserve to the discounted workers’ compensation reserve for the periods presented:
December 29,
2019

(in thousands)

Undiscounted workers’ compensation reserve

$

Less discount on workers’ compensation reserve
Workers’ compensation reserve, net of discount
Less current portion

274,934 $

$

284,625

19,316

18,179

255,618

266,446

73,020

Long-term portion

December 30,
2018

182,598 $

76,421
190,025

Payments made against self-insured claims were $63.1 million, $64.7 million and $66.8 million for the years ended December 29, 2019, December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
Our workers’ compensation reserve includes estimated expenses related to excess claims, and we record a corresponding receivable for the insurance coverage on excess claims based on the contractual
policy agreements we have with insurance carriers. We discount this reserve and corresponding receivable to its estimated net present value using the discount rates based on average returns of “riskfree” U.S. Treasury instruments available during the year in which the liability was incurred. At December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, the weighted average rate was 2.4% and 2.9%, respectively.
The claim payments are made and the corresponding reimbursements from our insurance carriers are received over an estimated weighted average period of approximately 16 years. The discounted
workers’ compensation reserve for excess claims was $45.3 million and $48.2 million as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively. The discounted receivables from insurance
companies, net of valuation allowance, were $44.6 million and $44.9 million as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively.
Management evaluates the adequacy of the workers’ compensation reserves in conjunction with an independent quarterly actuarial assessment. Factors considered in establishing and adjusting these
reserves include, among other things:
•

changes in medical and time loss (“indemnity”) costs;

•

changes in mix between medical only and indemnity claims;

•

regulatory and legislative developments impacting benefits and settlement requirements;

•

type and location of work performed;

•

impact of safety initiatives; and

•

positive or adverse development of claims.
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The table below presents the estimated future payout of our discounted workers’ compensation claims reserve for the next five years and thereafter as of December 29, 2019:
(in thousands)

2020

$

73,020

2021

39,284

2022

22,190

2023

14,143

2024

9,862

Thereafter

51,866

Sub-total

210,365

Excess claims (1)

45,253

Total

$

255,618

(1) Estimated expenses related to claims above our self-insured limits for which we have a corresponding receivable for the insurance coverage based on contractual policy agreements.

Workers’ compensation cost consists primarily of changes in self-insurance reserves net of changes in discount, monopolistic jurisdictions’ premiums, insurance premiums and other miscellaneous
expenses. Workers’ compensation cost of $60.2 million, $69.2 million and $83.7 million was recorded in cost of services on our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income for
the years ended December 29, 2019, December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
NOTE 8: LONG-TERM DEBT
On July 13, 2018, we entered into a credit agreement with Bank of America, N.A., Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., PNC Bank, N.A., KeyBank, N.A. and HSBC Bank USA, N.A. (“Revolving Credit Facility”).
The agreement provides for a revolving line of credit of up to $300.0 million with an option, subject to lender approval, to increase the amount to $450.0 million, and matures in five years. Included in
our agreement is a $30.0 million sub-limit for Swingline loans and a $125.0 million sub-limit for letters of credit. At December 29, 2019, $37.1 million was utilized as a draw on the facility, which
included a $17.1 million Swingline loan, and $6.2 million was utilized by outstanding standby letters of credit, leaving $256.7 million available under the Revolving Credit Facility for additional
borrowings. At December 30, 2018, $80.0 million was utilized as a draw on the facility.
Under the terms of the agreement, we pay a variable rate of interest on funds borrowed under the revolving line of credit in excess of the Swingline loans, based on the London Interbank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR”) plus an applicable spread between 1.25% and 2.50%. Alternatively, at our option, we may pay interest based on a base rate plus an applicable spread between 0.25% and 1.50%. The base
rate is the greater of the prime rate (as announced by Bank of America), the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, or the one-month LIBOR rate plus 1.00%. The applicable spread is determined by the
consolidated leverage ratio, as defined in the credit agreement. At December 29, 2019, the applicable spread on LIBOR was 1.25% and the index rate was 1.69%, resulting in an interest rate of 2.94%.
Under the terms of the agreement, we are required to pay a variable rate of interest on funds borrowed under the Swingline loan based on the base rate plus applicable spread between 0.25% and 1.50%,
as described above. At December 29, 2019, the applicable spread on the base rate was 0.25% and the base rate was 4.75%, resulting in an interest rate of 5.00%.
A commitment fee between 0.250% and 0.375% is applied against the Revolving Credit Facility’s unused borrowing capacity, with the specific rate determined by the consolidated leverage ratio, as
defined in the credit agreement. Letters of credit are priced at a margin between 1.00% and 2.25%, plus a fronting fee of 0.50%. Obligations under the agreement are guaranteed by TrueBlue and
material U.S. domestic subsidiaries, and are secured by substantially all of the assets of TrueBlue and material U.S. domestic subsidiaries. The agreement contains customary representations and
warranties, events of default, and affirmative and negative covenants, including, among others, financial covenants based on our leverage and fixed charge coverage ratios, as defined in the credit
agreement. We are currently in compliance with all covenants related to the Revolving Credit Facility.
NOTE 9: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Workers’ compensation commitments
Our insurance carriers and certain state workers’ compensation programs require us to collateralize a portion of our workers’ compensation obligation, for which they become responsible should we
become insolvent. The collateral typically takes the form
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of cash and cash equivalents, highly-rated investment grade debt securities, letters of credit, and/or surety bonds. On a regular basis these entities assess the amount of collateral they will require from us
relative to our workers’ compensation obligation. The majority of our collateral obligations are held in the Trust.
We have provided our insurance carriers and certain states with commitments in the form and amounts listed below:
December 29,
2019

(in thousands)

Cash collateral held by workers’ compensation insurance carriers

$

Cash and cash equivalents held in Trust
Investments held in Trust
Letters of credit (1)
Surety bonds (2)
Total collateral commitments

$

December 30,
2018

22,256 $

22,264

23,681

28,021

149,373

156,618

6,202

6,691

20,731

21,881

222,243 $

235,475

(1) We have agreements with certain financial institutions to issue letters of credit as collateral.
(2) Our surety bonds are issued by independent insurance companies on our behalf and bear annual fees based on a percentage of the bond, which are determined by each independent surety carrier. These fees do not
exceed 2.0% of the bond amount, subject to a minimum charge. The terms of these bonds are subject to review and renewal every one to four years and most bonds can be canceled by the sureties with as little as 60
days’ notice.

Operating leases
We have contractual commitments in the form of operating leases related to office space, vehicles and equipment. Our leases have remaining terms of up to 17 years. Most leases include one or more
options to renew, which can extend the lease term up to 10 years. The exercise of lease renewal options is at our sole discretion. Typically, at the commencement of a lease, we are not reasonably certain
we will exercise renewal options, and accordingly they are not considered in determining the initial lease term. Our lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material
restrictive covenants. We rent or sublease real estate to third parties in limited circumstances.
Operating lease costs were comprised of the following:
Year ended

(in thousands)

December 29, 2019

Operating lease costs

$

17,333

Short-term lease costs

7,110

Other lease costs (1)

4,722

Total lease costs

$

29,165

(1) Other lease costs include immaterial variable lease costs and sublease income.

Other information related to our operating leases was as follows:
December 29, 2019

Weighted average remaining lease term in years

4.1

Weighted average discount rate

5.0%
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Future non-cancelable minimum lease payments under our operating lease commitments as of December 29, 2019, are as follows for each of the next five years and thereafter:
(in thousands)

2020

16,328

2021

12,283

2022

7,515

2023

5,375

2024

2,687

Thereafter

4,912

Total undiscounted future non-cancelable minimum lease payments (1)

49,100

Less: Imputed interest (2)

5,893

Present value of lease liabilities

$

43,207

(1) Operating lease payments exclude approximately $36.7 million of legally binding minimum lease payments for leases signed but not yet commenced.
(2) Amount necessary to reduce net minimum lease payments to present value calculated using our incremental borrowing rates, which are consistent with the lease terms at adoption date (for those leases in existence
as of the adoption date of the new lease standard) or lease inception (for those leases entered into after the adoption date).

Future non-cancelable minimum lease payments under our operating lease commitments as of December 30, 2018 were as follows for each of the next five years and thereafter:
(in thousands)

2019

$

8,337

2020

7,192

2021

4,990

2022

2,442

2023

1,324

Thereafter

699

Total future non-cancelable minimum lease payments

$

24,984

Total lease expense for fiscal 2018 and 2017 was $27.3 million and $25.9 million, respectively.
Purchase obligations
Purchase obligations include agreements to purchase goods and services in the ordinary course of business that are enforceable, legally binding and specify all significant terms. Purchase obligations do
not include agreements that are cancelable without significant penalty. We had $29.8 million of purchase obligations as of December 29, 2019, of which $13.8 million are expected to be paid in 2020.
Legal contingencies and developments
We are involved in various proceedings arising in the normal course of conducting business. We believe the liabilities included in our consolidated financial statements reflect the probable loss that can
be reasonably estimated. The resolution of those proceedings is not expected to have a material effect on our results of operations or financial condition.
NOTE 10:

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common stock
On September 15, 2017, our Board of Directors authorized a $100.0 million share repurchase program of our outstanding common stock. The share repurchase program does not obligate us to acquire
any particular amount of common stock and does not have an expiration date. During the year ended December 29, 2019, we used $38.9 million under this program to repurchase shares at an average
share price of $21.04. As of December 29, 2019, $19.0 million remains available for repurchase of common stock under this authorization. On October 16, 2019, our Board of Directors authorized an
additional $100.0 million share repurchase program.
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Shares of common stock outstanding include shares of unvested restricted stock. Unvested restricted stock included in reportable shares outstanding was 0.8 million and 0.7 million shares as of
December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively.
Preferred stock
We have authorized 20 million shares of blank check preferred stock. The blank check preferred stock is issuable in one or more series, each with such designations, preferences, rights, qualifications,
limitations and restrictions as our Board of Directors may determine and set forth in supplemental resolutions at the time of issuance, without further shareholder action. The initial series of blank check
preferred stock authorized by the Board of Directors was designated as Series A Preferred Stock. We had no outstanding shares of preferred stock in any of the years presented.
NOTE 11:

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

We record stock-based compensation expense for restricted and unrestricted stock awards, performance share units, and shares purchased under an employee stock purchase plan.
Our 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan, effective May 11, 2016 (“Incentive Plan”), provides for the issuance or delivery of up to 1.54 million shares of our common stock over the full term of the Incentive
Plan.
Restricted and unrestricted stock awards and performance share units
Under the Incentive Plan, restricted stock awards are granted to executive officers and key employees and vest annually over three or four years. Unrestricted stock awards granted to our Board of
Directors vest immediately, or receipt of the shares may be deferred until after a director leaves the Board of Directors. Restricted and unrestricted stock-based compensation expense is calculated based
on the grant-date market value. We recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, net of estimated forfeitures.
Performance share units have been granted to executive officers and certain key employees. Commencing in 2017, vesting of the performance share units is contingent upon the achievement of return on
equity goals at the end of each three-year performance period, previously vesting was contingent upon the achievement of revenue and profitability growth goals. Each performance share unit is
equivalent to one share of common stock. Compensation expense is calculated based on the grant-date market value of our stock and is recognized ratably over the performance period for the
performance share units which are expected to vest. Our estimate of the performance units expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted as appropriate each quarter.
Restricted and unrestricted stock awards and performance share units activity for the year ended December 29, 2019, was as follows:

(shares in thousands)

Shares

Non-vested at beginning of period

Weighted- average grantdate price

1,316 $

26.05

Granted

753 $

23.05

Vested

(345) $

24.73

Forfeited

(353) $

20.75

1,371 $

26.45

Non-vested at the end of the period

The weighted average grant-date price of restricted and unrestricted stock awards and performance share units granted during the years 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $23.05, $26.87 and $25.45, respectively.
As of December 29, 2019, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to non-vested restricted stock was approximately $13.2 million, which is estimated to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 1.7 years. As of December 29, 2019, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to performance share units was approximately $1.6 million, which is
estimated to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.7 years. The total fair value of restricted shares vested during fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $8.2 million, $9.9 million and $6.9 million,
respectively. No performance shares vested during fiscal 2019 or 2018. The total fair value of performance shares vested during fiscal 2017 was $2.9 million.
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Stock options
Our Incentive Plan provides for both nonqualified stock options and incentive stock options (collectively, “stock options”) for directors, officers and certain employees. We issue new shares of common
stock upon exercise of stock options. All of our stock options are vested and expire if not exercised within seven years from the date of grant. We had no stock option activity for fiscal 2019 and 2018
and de minimis activity for fiscal 2017.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Our ESPP reserves for purchase 1.0 million shares of common stock. The plan allows eligible employees to contribute up to 10% of their earnings toward the monthly purchase of the company’s
common stock. The employee’s purchase price is 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of shares on either the first day or the last day of each month. We consider our ESPP to be a component of our
stock-based compensation and accordingly we recognize compensation expense over the requisite service period for stock purchases made under the plan. The requisite service period begins on the
enrollment date and ends on the purchase date, the duration of which is one month.
The following table summarizes transactions under our ESPP from fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017:
(shares in thousands)

Shares

Average price per share

Issued during fiscal

2019

73 $

18.31

Issued during fiscal

2018

68 $

22.17

Issued during fiscal

2017

72 $

20.43

Stock-based compensation expense
Total stock-based compensation expense for fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017, which is included in SG&A expense on our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income, was $9.8
million, $13.9 million and $7.7 million, respectively. The related tax benefit was $2.1 million, $2.9 million and $2.7 million for fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
NOTE 12: DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS
We offer both qualified and non-qualified defined contribution plans to eligible employees. Participating employees may elect to defer and contribute a portion of their eligible compensation. The plans
offer discretionary matching contributions. The liability for the non-qualified plans was $26.8 million and $25.4 million as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively. The expense for
our qualified and non-qualified deferred compensation plans, including our discretionary matching contributions, totaled $5.5 million, $5.3 million and $6.1 million for fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, and is recorded in SG&A expense on our Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income.

Page - 64

Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 13:

INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes is comprised of the following:
Years ended
(in thousands)

2019

2018

2017

Current taxes:
Federal

$

(933) $

5,088 $

12,134

State

3,835

5,208

Foreign

2,806

1,542

3,545

5,708

11,838

19,658

(1,283)

3,645

Total current taxes

3,979

Deferred taxes:
Federal

846

State

1,216

Foreign

120

(799)

Total deferred taxes

1,263

Provision for income taxes

$

(195)

(766)

(1,014)

(1,929)

6,971

$

2,436

9,909 $

22,094

The items accounting for the difference between income taxes computed at the statutory federal income tax rate and income taxes reported on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income are as follows:
Years ended
(in thousands, except percentages)

Income tax expense based on statutory rate

2019

$

%

14,709

2018

21.0 % $

%

15,889

2017

21.0 % $

%

27,140

35.0 %

Increase (decrease) resulting from:
State income taxes, net of federal benefit
Tax credits, net

3,666

5.3

3,826

5.1

2,667

3.4

(13,627)

(19.4)

(12,303)

(16.3)

(9,964)

(12.9)

(194)

3.2

Transition to the U.S. Tax Cuts and Job Act
Non-deductible/non-taxable items
Foreign taxes
Other, net
Total taxes on income

97

0.1

(0.3)

2,466

1,559

2.2

1,191

1.6

1,157

282

0.4

735

1.0

285
$

6,971

0.4

765

10.0 % $

1.0

9,909

1.5

(342)

13.1 % $

(0.4)

(1,030)

(1.3)

22,094

28.5 %

Our effective tax rate for fiscal 2019 was 10.0%. The difference between the statutory federal income tax rate of 21.0% and our effective income tax rate results primarily from the federal WOTC. This
tax credit is designed to encourage employers to hire workers from certain targeted groups with higher than average unemployment rates. During fiscal 2019, we recognized $1.4 million of tax benefits
from prior year WOTC. Other differences between the statutory federal income tax rate of 21.0% and our effective tax rate of 10.0% result from state and foreign income taxes, certain non-deductible
expenses, tax exempt interest, and tax effects of stock-based compensation.
U.S. and international components of income before tax expense was as follows:
Years ended
(in thousands)

2019

U.S.

$

International

2018

61,610

$

8,434

Income before tax expense

$
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2,612

$
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77,550

Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:
December 29,
2019

(in thousands)

December 30,
2018

Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for doubtful accounts

$

973

Workers’ compensation

$

1,049

817

4,162

Accounts payable and other accrued expenses

3,818

3,957

Net operating loss carryforwards

2,085

2,103

Tax credit carryforwards

9,528

1,562

Accrued wages and benefits

5,148

7,016

Deferred compensation

6,622

5,438

Lease liabilities

8,670

—

969

636

Total

38,630

25,923

Valuation allowance

(1,780)

(2,079)

Total deferred tax asset, net of valuation allowance

36,850

23,844

Prepaid expenses, deposits and other current assets

(1,282)

(2,054)

Lease right-of-use assets

(7,985)

Other

Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation and amortization

—

(24,355)

Total deferred tax liabilities

(17,402)

(33,622)

Net deferred tax asset, end of year

$

3,228

(19,456)
$

4,388

Deferred taxes related to our foreign currency translation were de minimis for fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017.
The following table summarizes our net operating losses (“NOLs”) and credit carryforwards along with their respective valuation allowance as of December 29, 2019:

(in thousands)

Carryover tax benefit

Valuation allowance

Expected
benefit

Year expiration begins

Year-end tax attributes:
Federal WOTCs

$

State NOLs

$

1,355

Foreign NOLs
California Enterprise Zone credits
Foreign alternative minimum tax credits
Total

8,209

8,209

2039

—

1,355

Various

730

(730)

—

Various

1,319

(1,050)

269

2023

722

2028

722
$

— $

12,335

—
$

(1,780) $

10,555

As of December 29, 2019, our liability for unrecognized tax benefits was $2.1 million. If recognized, $1.6 million would impact our effective tax rate. We do not believe the amounts of unrecognized tax
benefits will significantly increase or decrease within 12 months of the year ended December 29, 2019. This liability is recorded in other non-current liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. In
general, the tax years 2016 through 2018 remain open to examination by the major taxing jurisdictions where we conduct business.
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The following table summarizes the activity related to our unrecognized tax benefits:
Years ended
(in thousands)

2019

Balance, beginning of fiscal year

$

2018

2,190

Increases for tax positions related to the current year
Reductions due to lapsed statute of limitations
Balance, end of fiscal year

$

2017

$

2,210 $

2,242

318

377

356

(430)

(397)

(388)

2,078

$

2,190 $

2,210

We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within income tax expense on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. Accrued
interest and penalties are included within other long-term liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Related to the unrecognized tax benefits noted above, we accrued a de minimis amount for
interest and penalties during fiscal 2019 and, in total, as of December 29, 2019, have recognized a liability for penalties of $0.2 million and interest of $1.0 million.
NOTE 14:

NET INCOME PER SHARE

Diluted common shares were calculated as follows:
Years ended
(in thousands, except per share data)

2019

Net income

$

Weighted average number of common shares used in basic net income per common share

2018

63,073

Weighted average number of common shares used in diluted net income per common share

2017

65,754 $

55,456

38,778

39,985

41,202

401

290

239

39,179

40,275

41,441

Dilutive effect of non-vested restricted stock

$

Net income per common share:
Basic

$

1.63

$

1.64 $

1.35

Diluted

$

1.61

$

1.63 $

1.34

538

418

Anti-dilutive shares
NOTE 15:

225

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Changes in the balance of each component of accumulated other comprehensive loss during the reporting periods were as follows:
Years ended
December 29, 2019
Foreign currency
translation adjustment

(in thousands)

Balance at beginning of period

$

Current period other comprehensive income (loss)
Change in accounting standard cumulative-effect
adjustment (2)
Balance at end of period

$

(14,649) $

Unrealized gain on
investments, net of tax (1)

—

1,411

—

—

—

(13,238) $

—

December 30, 2018
Total other
comprehensive (loss), net
of tax

$

(14,649)

Foreign currency
translation adjustment

$

1,411

(13,238)

(8,329) $
(6,320)

—
$

Unrealized gain on
Total other comprehensive
investments, net of tax (1)
(loss), net of tax

—
$

(14,649) $

1,525 $

(6,804)

—

(6,320)

(1,525)
— $

(1,525)
(14,649)

(1) Consisted of deferred compensation plan accounts, comprised of mutual funds and money market funds previously classified as available-for-sale securities, prior to our adoption of the new accounting standard for
equity investments in the fiscal first quarter of 2018.
(2) As a result of our adoption of the new accounting standard for equity investments issued by the FASB in January 2016, $1.5 million in unrealized gains, net of tax on equity securities previously classified as
available-for-sale were reclassified from accumulated other
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comprehensive loss to retained earnings as of the beginning of fiscal 2018. There were no other material reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive loss during the year ended December 30, 2018, and
there were no reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive loss during the year ended December 29, 2019.

NOTE 16:

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Our operating segments are based on the organizational structure for which financial results are regularly reviewed by our chief operating decision-maker, our Chief Executive Officer, to determine
resource allocation and assess performance. Our operating segments, also referred to as service lines, and reportable segments are described below:
Our PeopleReady reportable segment provides blue-collar, contingent staffing through the PeopleReady operating segment. PeopleReady provides on-demand and skilled labor in a broad range of
industries that include construction, manufacturing and logistics, warehousing and distribution, waste and recycling, hospitality, general labor and others.
Our PeopleManagement reportable segment provides contingent labor and outsourced industrial workforce solutions, primarily on-site at the client’s facility, through the following operating segments,
which we have aggregated into one reportable segment in accordance with U.S. GAAP:
• Staff Management | SMX and SIMOS Insourcing Solutions: On-site management and recruitment for the contingent industrial workforce of manufacturing, warehouse, and distribution facilities; and
• Centerline Drivers: Recruitment and management of contingent and dedicated commercial drivers to the transportation and distribution industries.
Effective March 12, 2018, we divested the PlaneTechs business within our PeopleManagement reportable segment. For additional information, see Note 2: Acquisition and Divestiture.
Our PeopleScout reportable segment provides high-volume, permanent employee recruitment process outsourcing, and management of outsourced labor service providers through the following
operating segments, which we have aggregated into one reportable segment in accordance with U.S. GAAP:
• PeopleScout: Outsourced recruitment of permanent employees on behalf of clients; and
• PeopleScout MSP: Management of multiple third-party staffing vendors on behalf of clients.
Effective June 12, 2018, we acquired TMP through PeopleScout. Accordingly, the results associated with the acquisition are included in our PeopleScout operating segment. TMP is a mid-sized RPO
and employer branding service provider operating in the United Kingdom. This acquisition increases our ability to win multi-continent engagements by adding a physical presence in Europe,
referenceable clients and employer branding capabilities. For additional information, see Note 2: Acquisitions and Divestiture.
We evaluate performance based on segment revenue and segment profit. Inter-segment revenue is minimal. Commencing in the fiscal first quarter of 2018, we revised our internal segment performance
measure to be segment profit, rather than the previously reported segment earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (segment EBITDA). Segment profit includes revenue, related cost
of services, and ongoing operating expenses directly attributable to the reportable segment. Segment profit excludes goodwill and intangible impairment charges, depreciation and amortization expense,
unallocated corporate general and administrative expense, interest, other adjustments not considered to be ongoing. The prior year amounts have been recast to reflect this change for consistency
purposes.
The following table presents our revenue disaggregated by major source and segment and a reconciliation of segment revenue from services to total company revenue:
Years ended
December 29,
2019

(in thousands)

December 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Revenue from services:
Contingent staffing
PeopleReady

$

PeopleManagement

1,474,062

$

642,233

1,522,076 $
728,254

1,511,360
807,273

Human resource outsourcing
PeopleScout

252,484

Total company

$
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The following table presents a reconciliation of segment profit to income before tax expense:
Years ended
December 29,
2019

(in thousands)

December 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Segment profit:
PeopleReady

82,106 $

85,998 $

79,044

PeopleManagement

$

12,593

21,627

27,216

PeopleScout

37,831

47,383

39,354

132,530

155,008

145,614

(21,870)

(26,066)

(20,968)

(960)

(985)

(805)

(1,562)

(2,672)

Corporate unallocated
Work Opportunity Tax Credit processing fees
Acquisition/integration costs
Gain on deferred compensation assets

(495)

Other costs
Depreciation and amortization
Income from operations
Interest and other income (expense), net
Income before tax expense

$

—

—

—

(3,915)

(10,317)

(162)

(37,549)

(41,049)

(46,115)

66,179

73,919

77,564

3,865

1,744

70,044 $

(14)

75,663 $

77,550

Asset information by reportable segment is not presented since we do not manage our segments on a balance sheet basis.
Our international operations are primarily in Canada, Australia and the United Kingdom. Revenue by region was as follows:
Years ended
(in thousands, except percentages)

United States

2019

$

International operations
Total revenue from services

2,222,543
146,236

$

2,368,779

%

2018

93.8% $
6.2
100.0% $

2,369,024
130,183
2,499,207

%

2017

94.8% $
5.2
100.0% $

%

2,387,992

95.2%

120,779
2,508,771

4.8
100.0%

No single client represented more than 10% of total company revenue for fiscal 2019, 2018 or 2017. Client concentration for our reportable segments was as follows:
•

No single client represented 10.0% or more of our PeopleReady reportable segment revenue for fiscal 2019, 2018, or 2017.

•

One client represented 10.0% of our PeopleManagement reportable segment revenue for fiscal 2019. No single client represented 10.0% or more of our PeopleManagement reportable segment
revenue for fiscal 2018 or 2017.

•

One client represented 12.5%,13.3% and 14.4% of our PeopleScout reportable segment revenue for fiscal 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Another client represented 10.1% of our
PeopleScout reportable segment revenue for fiscal 2017.

Net property and equipment located in international operations was approximately 6.8% and 7.3% of total property and equipment as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively.
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NOTE 17: SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
(in thousands, except per share data)

First

Second

Third

Fourth

2019
Revenue from services

$

Cost of services
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expense
Depreciation and amortization
Income from operations
Interest expense

552,352

636,793 $

591,040

403,976

$

430,277

467,671

440,697

148,376

158,317

169,122

150,343

129,661

127,599

131,187

133,983

9,952

9,827

8,749

9,021

8,763

20,891

29,186

7,339

(722)

Interest and other income
Income before tax expense
Income tax expense
Net income

$

(660)

1,275

Interest and other income (expense), net

588,594

(715)

1,487

(686)

1,186

2,700

553

827

471

2,014

9,316

21,718

29,657

9,353

1,040

2,312

2,981

638

$

8,276

$

19,406

$

26,676 $

8,715

Basic

$

0.21

$

0.50

$

0.69 $

0.23

Diluted

$

0.21

$

0.49

$

0.68 $

0.23

$

554,388

$

614,301

$

Net income per common share:

2018
Revenue from services
Cost of services
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expense
Depreciation and amortization
Income from operations
Interest expense

680,371 $

650,147

411,120

448,717

496,053

477,717

143,268

165,584

184,318

172,430

125,763

134,207

145,382

145,280

10,090

10,101

10,586

10,272

7,415

21,276

28,350

16,878

(1,355)

(1,357)

(1,279)

1,017

2,127

(890)

Interest and other income
Interest and other income (expense), net
Income before tax expense

3,094

387

2,204

(968)

9,619

Income tax expense

20,308

864

Net income

(340)
28,010

2,576

3,630

848
17,726
2,839

$

8,755

$

17,732

$

24,380 $

14,887

Basic

$

0.22

$

0.44

$

0.61 $

0.38

Diluted

$

0.22

$

0.44

$

0.61 $

0.37

Net income per common share:

Item 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
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Item 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure controls and procedures
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures as required by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have
concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of December 29, 2019.
Report of management on internal control over financial reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is a process to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Internal control over financial reporting includes maintaining records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and disposition of assets; providing reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of our financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America;
providing reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures are made only in accordance with management and director authorization; and providing reasonable assurance that unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of company assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements would be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Because of its inherent limitations,
internal control over financial reporting is not intended to provide absolute assurance that a misstatement of our financial statements would be prevented or detected.
Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework and criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
(2013), issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. This evaluation included review of the documentation of controls, evaluation of the design effectiveness of
controls, testing of the operating effectiveness of controls and a conclusion on this evaluation. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of December 29, 2019. Our internal control over financial reporting as of December 29, 2019 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm,
as stated in their report which is included herein.
There were no material changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 29, 2019 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of TrueBlue, Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of TrueBlue, Inc., and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 29, 2019 based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 29, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the consolidated financial statements and financial statement
schedule as of and for the year ended December 29, 2019 of the Company and our report dated February 24, 2020 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and financial statement
schedule.
Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying Report of Management on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to
the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Seattle, Washington
February 24, 2020
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Item 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

None
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PART III

Item 10.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information regarding our directors and nominees for directorship is presented under the heading “Election of Directors” in our definitive proxy statement for use in connection with the 2020 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders (the “Proxy Statement”) to be filed within 120 days after our fiscal year ended December 29, 2019, and is incorporated herein by this reference thereto. Information concerning
our executive officers is set forth under the heading “Executive Officers” in our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference thereto. Information regarding compliance with Section 16(a) of
the Exchange Act, our Code of Conduct and Business Ethics and certain information related to the company’s Audit Committee and Governance Committee is set forth under the heading “Corporate
Governance” in our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference thereto.

Item 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information regarding the compensation of our directors and executive officers and certain information related to the company’s Compensation Committee is set forth under the headings “Executive
Compensation Tables,” “Compensation of Directors,” “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Compensation Committee Report” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation”
in our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by this reference thereto.

Item 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Information with respect to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is set forth under the headings “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and
“Equity Compensation Plan Information” in our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by this reference thereto.

Item 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information regarding certain relationships and related transactions and director independence is presented under the heading “Corporate Governance” in our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein
by this reference thereto.

Item 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information concerning principal accounting fees and services is presented under the heading “Fees Paid to Independent Public Accountant for Fiscal Years 2019 and 2018” in our Proxy Statement, and
is incorporated herein by this reference thereto.
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PART IV

Item 15.

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

a)

The following documents are filed as a part of this 10-K:

1.

Financial statements

Financial statements can be found under Item 8 of Part II of this Form 10-K.
2.

Financial statement schedules

Financial statement Schedule II can be found on the following page.
3.

Exhibits

The exhibits are listed in the Index to Exhibits, which appears immediately following the financial statement schedules.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Schedule II, Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Allowance for doubtful accounts activity was as follows:
(in thousands)

2019

Balance, beginning of the year

$

Charged to expense
Write-offs
Balance, end of year

2018

5,026

$

$

2017

4,344 $

5,160

8,113

9,785

6,903

(8,851)

(9,103)

(7,719)

4,288

$

3,314

$

5,026 $

4,344

Insurance receivable valuation allowance activity was as follows:
(in thousands)

2019

Balance, beginning of the year

$

Charged to expense

2018

120

Release of allowance

(2,805)

Balance, end of year

$

629

$

2,079

$

2017

3,778 $

4,019

120

1,153

(584)

(1,394)

3,314 $

3,778

Income tax valuation allowance activity was as follows:
(in thousands)

2019

Balance, beginning of the year

$

2018

2017

2,508 $

2,266

Charged to expense

—

—

2

Transition to the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act

—

—

240

Release of allowance

(299)

Balance, end of year

$
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
Incorporated by reference
Exhibit number

Exhibit description

Filed herewith

Form

File no.

Date of first filing

3.1

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation.

8-K

001-14543

05/12/2016

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws.

10-Q

001-14543

10/30/2017

4.1

Description of Securities

10.1

Assumption and Novation Agreement among TrueBlue, Inc. and Lumbermen’s Mutual Casualty Company,
American Motorist Insurance Company, American Protection Insurance Company and American
Manufacturers Mutual Insurance Company and National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, PA,
dated December 29, 2004.

10-K

001-14543

03/11/2005

10.2

Indemnification Agreement between TrueBlue, Inc. and National Union Fire Insurance Company of
Pittsburgh, PA dated December 29, 2004.

10-K

001-14543

03/11/2005

10.3*

Executive Employment Agreement between TrueBlue, Inc. and James E. Defebaugh, dated August 3, 2005.

8-K

001-14543

08/09/2005

10.4*

First Amendment to the Executive Employment Agreement between TrueBlue, Inc. and James E.
Defebaugh, dated December 31, 2006.

10-Q

001-14543

05/04/2007

10.5*

Executive Employment Agreement between TrueBlue, Inc. and Derrek L. Gafford, dated December 31,
2006.

10-Q

001-14543

05/04/2007

10.6*

Form Executive Non-Competition Agreement between TrueBlue, Inc. and Jim E. Defebaugh, Derrek L.
Gafford, and Patrick Beharelle.

10-Q

001-14543

05/04/2007

10.7*

Form Executive Indemnification Agreement between TrueBlue, Inc. and Patrick Beharelle, Jim E.
Defebaugh, Derrek L. Gafford, Taryn R. Owen, and Carl Schweihs.

10.8*

Form Executive Change in Control Agreement between TrueBlue, Inc. and Jim E. Defebaugh, Derrek L.
Gafford, Patrick Beharelle, Taryn R. Owen, and Carl Schweihs.

10-Q

001-14543

05/04/2007

10.9*

Equity Retainer And Deferred Compensation Plan For Non- Employee Directors, effective January 1, 2010.

S-8

333-164614

02/01/2010

10.10

2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

S-8

333-167770

06/25/2010

10.11*

TrueBlue, Inc. Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan.

10-K

001-14543

02/22/2012

10.12*

Amended and Restated 2005 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan.

S-8

333-190220

07/29/2013

10.13*

TrueBlue 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan

S-8

333-211737

06/01/2016

10.14

Credit agreement by and among Bank of America, N.A., Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., PNC Bank, N.A., Key
Bank, HSBC and TrueBlue, Inc. dated as of July 13, 2018.

8-K

001-14543

07/16/2018

10.15*

Executive Employment Agreement between TrueBlue, Inc. and Patrick Beharelle, dated September 18,
2018.

8-K

001-14543

09/18/2018

10.16*

First Amendment to Change-in-Control Agreement between TrueBlue, Inc. and Patrick Beharelle, dated
September 18, 2018.

8-K

001-14543

09/18/2018

10.17*

First Amendment to Non-Competition Agreement between TrueBlue, Inc. and Patrick Beharelle, dated
September 18, 2018.

8-K

001-14543

09/18/2018

10.18*

Employment Agreement, as amended November 11, 2019, by and between TrueBlue, Inc., and Taryn R.
Owen.

8-K

001-14543

11/13/2019

10.19*

Form Non-Competition Agreement between TrueBlue, Inc. and Taryn R. Owen, and Carl Schweihs.

X

10.20*

Executive Employment Agreement, effective June 3, 2019, between TrueBlue, Inc., and Carl Schweihs.

X

X
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Incorporated by reference

*

Exhibit number

Exhibit description

Filed herewith

Form

File no.

Date of first filing

10.21*

Form Restricted Share Award Notice between TrueBlue, Inc. and Patrick Beharelle, Derrek L. Gafford, Jim
E. Defebaugh, Taryn R. Owen, and Carl Schweihs.

X

10.22*

Form Performance Share Unit Award Notice between TrueBlue, Inc. and Patrick Beharelle, Derrek L.
Gafford, Jim E. Defebaugh, Taryn R. Owen, and Carl Schweihs.

X

21.1

Subsidiaries of TrueBlue, Inc.

X

—

—

—

23.1

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP - Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

X

—

—

—

31.1

Certification of A. Patrick Beharelle, Chief Executive Officer of TrueBlue, Inc., Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a),
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

—

—

—

31.2

Certification of Derrek L. Gafford, Chief Financial Officer of TrueBlue, Inc., Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), as
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EXHIBIT 4.1
DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
As of December 29, 2019, TrueBlue, Inc. has one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”): our common stock.
Description of Common Stock
The following description of our common stock is a summary and does not purport to be complete. It is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to our Amended and Restated
Articles of Incorporation (the “Articles of Incorporation”) and our Amended and Restated Bylaws (the “Bylaws”), each of which are incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on
Form 10-K of which this Exhibit 4.1 is a part. We encourage you to read our Articles of Incorporation, our Bylaws and the applicable provisions of Washington Business Corporation Act, Title 23B of
the Revised Code of Washington, for additional information.
Authorized Capital Shares
Our authorized capital shares consist of 100,000,000 shares of common stock, no par value per share, and 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock, issuable in series, at a par value per share
determined by our board of directors at the time of authorization of such series of preferred stock. All issued and outstanding shares of our common stock are fully paid and nonassessable.
Voting Rights
Common shareholders are entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to them. The common stock does not have cumulative voting rights.
Dividend Rights
Each share of common stock is entitled to participate equally in dividends as and when declared by our board of directors. The payment of dividends on our common stock may be limited by
obligations we may have to holders of any preferred stock, as well as under various agreements to which we are a party.
Washington Takeover Statute
Washington law imposes restrictions on certain transactions between a corporation and certain significant shareholders. Chapter 23B.19 of the WBCA generally prohibits a “target
corporation” from engaging in certain significant business transactions with an “acquiring person,” which is defined as a person or group of persons that beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting
securities of the target corporation, for a period of five years after the date the acquiring person first became a 10% beneficial owner of the voting securities of the target corporation, unless the business
transaction or the acquisition of shares is approved by a majority of the members of the target corporation’s board of directors prior to the time the acquiring person first became a 10% beneficial owner
of the target corporation’s voting securities. Such prohibited transactions include, among other things:
•

a merger or consolidation with, disposition of assets to, or issuance or redemption of stock to or from, the acquiring person;

•

termination of 5% or more of the employees of the target corporation as a result of the acquiring person’s acquisition of 10% or more of the shares; or

•

receipt by the acquiring person of any disproportionate benefit as a shareholder.

After the five-year period, a “significant business transaction” may occur if it complies with “fair price” provisions specified in the statute. A corporation may not “opt out” of this statute. We
expect the existence of this provision to have an antitakeover effect with respect to transactions that our board of directors does not approve in advance and may discourage takeover attempts that might
result in the payment of a premium over the market price for common stock held by shareholders or otherwise might benefit shareholders.
Liquidation Rights
If we liquidate or dissolve our business, the holders of common stock will share ratably in the distribution of assets available for distribution to shareholders after creditors are paid and
preferred shareholders receive their distributions.

Other Rights and Preferences
The shares of common stock have no preemptive rights and are not convertible, redeemable or assessable or entitled to the benefits of any sinking fund.
Listing
The common stock is listed on The New York Stock Exchange and trades under the symbol “TBI.”

TRUEBLUE, INC. INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT This Agreement is made as of the ____ day of _______, 2020 by and between TRUEBLUE, INC., a Washington corporation (the "Company"), and _____________________ ("Indemnitee"). RECITALS A. The Company desires to attract and retain qualified directors and officers, and to provide them with protection against liability and expenses incurred while acting in that capacity; B. The Company recognizes that competent and experienced persons are increasingly reluctant to serve or to continue to serve as directors or officers of corporations unless they are protected by comprehensive liability insurance or indemnification, or both, due to increased exposure to litigation costs and risks resulting from their service to such corporations, and due to the fact that the exposure frequently bears no reasonable relationship to the compensation of such directors and officers; C. The Company’s articles of incorporation (the "Articles of Incorporation") and its bylaws (the "Bylaws") contain provisions for indemnifying directors and officers of the Company requiring the Company to indemnify the directors and officers to the fullest extent provided by the Title 23B of the Revised Code of Washington (the "Washington Business Corporation Act"). The Washington Business Corporation Act contemplates that separate contracts may be entered into between a company and its directors and officers with respect to their indemnification and the Company’s Bylaws provide that the company may enter into such contracts by the Company; D. The Company and Indemnitee recognize that plaintiffs often seek damages in such large amounts and the costs of litigation may be so enormous (whether or not the case is meritorious), that the defense and/or settlement of such litigation is often beyond the personal resources of directors and officers; E. The Company believes that it is unfair for its directors and officers to assume the risk of huge judgments and other expenses which may occur in cases in which the director or officer received no personal profit and in cases where the director or officer was not culpable; F. Sections 23b.08.500-603 of the Washington Business Corporation Act, empower the Company to indemnify its officers, directors, employees and agents and to indemnify persons who serve, at the request of the Company, as the directors, officers, employees or agents of other corporations or enterprises; G. Section 23B.08.320 of the Washington Business Corporation Act allows a corporation to include in its articles of incorporation a provision limiting or eliminating the personal liability of a director for
monetary damages in respect of claims by shareholders and a corporation for conduct as a director, and the Company has so provided in its Articles of Incorporation that each Director shall be exculpated from such liability to the maximum extent permitted by law;

H. The Board of Directors has determined that contractual indemnification as set forth herein is not only reasonable and prudent but also promotes the best interests of the Company and its stockholders and has approved the Company indemnity agreements substantially in the form of this Agreement for directors and certain officers of the Company; I. The Company desires and has requested Indemnitee to serve or continue to serve as a director or officer of the Company free from undue concern for unwarranted claims for damages arising out of or related to such services to the Company; and J. Indemnitee is willing to serve, continue to serve or to provide additional service for or on behalf of the Corporation on the condition that he or she is furnished the indemnity provided for herein. NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises, conditions, representations and warranties set forth herein, including the Indemnitee’s continued service to the Company, the Company and Indemnitee hereby agree as follows: 1. Definitions. The following terms, as used herein, shall have the following respective meanings; other terms not specifically defined herein have the meanings provided in the Washington Business Corporation Act, as hereafter defined, or the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws: "Covered Amount" means all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines, ERISA excise taxes or penalties, amounts paid in settlement (if such settlement is approved in advance by the Company, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld) actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee in connection with a Proceeding if Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in, or at least not opposed to, the best interests of the Company, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe Indemnitee's conduct was unlawful. “final judgment” or “finally adjudged” shall mean that a court having jurisdiction has issued a decision, order or judgment that disposes of the action and such action is not subject to appeal. "Proceeding" means any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit, or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative, whether formal or informal, in which Indemnitee is, was or becomes involved as a party or otherwise, by reason of the fact that Indemnitee is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company or that, being or having been such a director, officer, employee or agent, Indemnitee is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or
of a limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust or other form of entity or enterprise, including service with respect to an employee benefit plan or other Company sponsored plan or program, whether the basis of such proceeding is alleged action (or inaction) by Indemnitee in an official capacity as a director, officer, employee or agent or in any other capacity while serving as a director, officer, employee or agent; provided, however, that, except with respect to an action to enforce the provisions of this Agreement, Proceeding shall not include any action, suit, claim or proceeding instituted by or at the direction of Indemnitee unless such action, suit, claim or proceeding is or was authorized by the Company's board of directors or an executive officer of the Company. 2. Indemnification. 2

(a) Scope. The Company agrees to hold harmless and indemnify Indemnitee to the fullest extent permitted by law, notwithstanding that such indemnification is not specifically authorized by this Agreement, the Articles of Incorporation, the Bylaws, the Washington Business Corporation Act or otherwise. The Company and Indemnitee acknowledge that the Company’s Articles of Incorporation allow for indemnification to the fullest extent provided by law, specifically pursuant to Section 23B.08.560 which provides for indemnification without regard to the limitations in Sections 23B.08.510- 550, but subject to the limitations in Section 23B.08.560(1)(a)-(e). In the event of any change, after the date of this Agreement, in any applicable law, statute or rule regarding the right of a Washington corporation to indemnify a member of its board of directors or an officer, such changes, to the extent that they would expand Indemnitee's rights hereunder, shall be within the purview of Indemnitee's rights and the Company's obligations hereunder, and, to the extent that they would narrow Indemnitee's rights hereunder, shall be excluded from this Agreement; provided, however, that any change that is required by applicable laws, statutes or rules to be applied to this Agreement shall be so applied regardless of whether the effect of such change is to narrow Indemnitee's rights hereunder. (b) Additional Indemnification. If Indemnitee was or is made a party, or is threatened to be made a party, to or is otherwise involved (including, without limitation, as a witness) in any Proceeding, the Company shall hold harmless and indemnify Indemnitee from and against any and all Covered Amounts. (c) Partial Indemnification. If Indemnitee is entitled under any provision of this Agreement to indemnification by the Company for some or a portion of the covered amount and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee or on Indemnitee’s behalf in connection with any proceeding but not, however, for the total amount thereof, the Company shall nevertheless indemnify Indemnitee for the portion of such covered amount which Indemnitee is entitled. (d) Determination of Entitlement. In the event that a determination of Indemnitee's entitlement to indemnification or advancement of expenses is required pursuant to the provisions in Section 23B.08.560 by reference to the procedures in Section 23B.08.550 of the Washington Business Corporation Act or any successor thereto or pursuant to other applicable law, the appropriate decision- maker shall make such determination; provided, however, that Indemnitee shall initially be presumed in all cases to be entitled to indemnification, unless the
Company shall deliver to Indemnitee written notice of a determination that Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification within sixty (60) calendar days of the final disposition of the Proceeding under which such Indemnitee is seeking indemnification, such determination shall conclusively be deemed to have been made in favor of the Company's provision of indemnification and the Company hereby agrees not to assert otherwise. To the extent the provisions of this Agreement with respect to such determinations and procedures are inconsistent with the Bylaws the provisions in this Agreement shall govern. (e) Survival. The indemnification provided under this Agreement shall apply to any and all Proceedings, notwithstanding that Indemnitee has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company. (f) Contribution. In order to provide for just and equitable contribution in circumstances in which the indemnification provided for herein is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unavailable to Indemnitee in whole or in part, it is agreed that, in such event, the Company shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, contribute to the payment of Indemnitee’s costs, charges and expenses 3

(including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement with respect to any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, in an amount that is just and equitable in the circumstances, taking into account, among other things, contributions by other directors and officers of the Company or others pursuant to indemnification agreements or otherwise. 3. Notification and Defense of Claim. (a) Notification. Promptly after receipt by Indemnitee of notice of the commencement of any Proceeding, Indemnitee will, if a claim in respect thereof is to be made against the Company under this Agreement, notify the Company in writing of the commencement thereof; but the omission to notify the Company will not relieve the Company from any liability which it may have to Indemnitee under this Agreement unless and only to the extent that such omission can be shown to have prejudiced the Company's ability to defend the Proceeding. (b) Defense of Claim. With respect to any such Proceeding as to which Indemnitee notifies the Company of the commencement thereof: (i) The Company may participate therein at its own expense; (ii) The Company, jointly with any other indemnifying party similarly notified, may assume the defense thereof, with counsel satisfactory to Indemnitee (Indemnitee’s consent to such counsel may not be unreasonably withheld). After notice from the Company to Indemnitee of its election to assume the defense thereof, the Company shall not be liable to Indemnitee under this Agreement for any legal or other expenses subsequently incurred by Indemnitee in connection with the defense thereof unless (A) the employment of counsel by Indemnitee has been authorized by the Company, (B) Indemnitee shall have reasonably concluded that there may be a conflict of interest between the Company and Indemnitee in the conduct of the defense of such action, or (C) the Company shall not in fact have employed counsel to assume the defense of such action, in each of which cases the fees and expenses of counsel shall be at the expense of the Company. The Company shall not be entitled to assume the defense of any action, suit or proceeding brought by or on behalf of the Company or as to which Indemnitee shall have made the conclusion provided for in 3(b)(ii)(B) above; (iii) The Company shall not be liable to indemnify Indemnitee under this Agreement for any amounts paid in settlement of any proceeding effected without its written consent; (iv) The Company shall not settle any action or claim in any manner which would impose any penalty or limitation on Indemnitee without Indemnitee's written
consent; and (v) Neither the Company nor Indemnitee will unreasonably withhold its, his or her consent to any proposed settlement. (c) Notice to Insurers. If, at the time of the receipt of a notice of a claim pursuant to Section 3(a) hereof, the Company has director and officer liability insurance in effect, the Company shall give prompt notice of the commencement of such proceeding to the insurers in accordance with the procedures set forth in the respective policies. The Company shall thereafter take all necessary or desirable action to cause such insurers to pay, on behalf of the Indemnitee, all amounts payable as a result of such proceeding in accordance with the terms of such policies. 4. Expense Advances. 4

(a) Expense Advances. The right to indemnification of Covered Amounts conferred hereby shall include the right to have the Company pay Indemnitee's expenses in any Proceeding as such expenses are incurred and in advance of such Proceeding's final disposition (such right is referred to hereinafter as an "Expense Advance"). Any Expense Advance to be made under this Agreement shall be paid by the Company to Indemnitee within twenty (20) calendar days following delivery of a written request therefor by Indemnitee to the Company. (b) Conditions to Expense Advance. The Company's obligation to provide an Expense Advance is subject to the following conditions: (i) Indemnitee shall submit to the Company a written undertaking, constituting an unlimited general obligation of the Indemnitee, to repay any and all of the Expense Advance if it is ultimately determined that the Indemnitee did not meet the required standard of conduct; (ii) Indemnitee shall submit to the Company a written affirmation of the Indemnitee’s good faith belief that the Indemnitee has met the standard of conduct required to be eligible for indemnification; and (iii) Indemnitee shall give the Company such information and cooperation as it may reasonably request and as shall be within Indemnitee's power. 5. Enforcement. (a) Enforcement. In the event that a claim for indemnification, an Expense Advance or otherwise is made hereunder and is not paid within sixty (60) calendar days of the final disposition of the Proceeding under which an Indemnitee is seeking indemnification (twenty days for an Expense Advance), provided that written notice of such final disposition is promptly delivered to the Company, Indemnitee may, but need not, at any time thereafter bring suit against the Company to recover the unpaid amount of the claim (an "Enforcement Action"). (b) Presumptions in Enforcement Action. In any Enforcement Action the following presumptions (and limitation on presumptions) shall apply: (i) The Company shall conclusively be presumed to have entered into this Agreement and assumed the obligations imposed on it hereunder in order to induce Indemnitee to become or continue as an officer and/or director, as the case may be, of the Company; (ii) Neither (i) the failure of the Company (including the Company's board of directors, independent or special legal counsel or the Company's shareholders) to have made a determination prior to the commencement of the Enforcement Action that indemnification of Indemnitee is proper in the circumstances nor (ii) an actual determination by the Company, its board of directors, independent or special legal counsel or
shareholders that Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification shall preclude the bringing of an Enforcement Action; and (iii) If Indemnitee is or was serving as a director, officer, employee or agent of a corporation of which a majority of the shares entitled to vote in the election of its directors is held by the Company or in an executive or management capacity in a partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise of which the Company or a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company is a general partner or 5

has a majority ownership, then Indemnitee shall conclusively be deemed to be serving such entity at the request of the Company. (c) Attorneys' Fees and Expenses for Enforcement Action. In the event Indemnitee is required to bring an Enforcement Action, the Company shall indemnify and hold harmless Indemnitee against all of Indemnitee's fees and expenses in bringing and pursuing the Enforcement Action (including attorneys' fees at any stage, including on appeal); provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to provide such indemnification for such attorneys' fees or expenses if it is finally adjudicated that each of the material assertions made by Indemnitee in such Enforcement Action was not made in good faith or was frivolous or that the Company prevails in an enforcement action. 6. Limitations on Indemnification; Mutual Acknowledgment. (a) Limitation on Indemnification. No indemnification pursuant to this Agreement shall be provided by the Company: (i) On account of any suit in which a final judgment is rendered against Indemnitee for an accounting of profits made from the purchase or sale by Indemnitee of securities of the Company in violation of the provisions of Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and amendments thereto; (ii) For Covered Amounts that have been paid directly to Indemnitee by an insurance carrier under a policy of officers' and directors' liability insurance maintained by the Company; (iii) On account of Indemnitee's conduct which is finally adjudged to have been intentional misconduct, a knowing violation of law or a violation of RCW 23B.08.310 or any successor provision of the Washington Business Corporation Act, or a transaction from which Indemnitee derived benefit in money, property or services to which Indemnitee is not legally entitled, unless and only to the extent that a court shall in a final judgment determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances for the case, the Indemnitee is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such amounts which the court shall deem proper; or (iv) If a final judgment by a court having jurisdiction in the matter shall determine that such indemnification is not lawful. (b) Mutual Acknowledgment. The Company and Indemnitee acknowledge that, in certain instances, federal law or public policy may override applicable state law and prohibit the Company from indemnifying Indemnitee under this Agreement or otherwise. For example, the Company and Indemnitee acknowledge that the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") has taken the position that indemnification is not
permissible for liabilities arising under certain federal securities laws, and federal legislation prohibits indemnification for certain ERISA violations. Furthermore, Indemnitee understands and acknowledges that the Company has undertaken or may be required in the future to undertake with the SEC to submit the question of indemnification to a court in certain circumstances for a determination of the Company's right under public policy to indemnify Indemnitee. 7. D&O Insurance. (a) The Company hereby covenants and agrees that, so long as Indemnitee shall continue to serve as an officer or director of the Company and thereafter so long as Indemnitee shall be subject to any 6

Proceeding, the Company shall maintain in full force and effect a policy or policies of insurance with reputable insurance companies providing the officers and directors of the Company with coverage for losses from wrongful acts. In all policies of director and officer liability insurance, Indemnitee shall be named as an insured in such a manner as to provide Indemnitee the same rights and benefits as are accorded to the most favorably insured of the Company's directors, if Indemnitee is a director, or of the Company's officers, if Indemnitee is not a director of the Company but is an officer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall have no obligation to obtain or maintain such insurance if the Company’s board of directors determines in good faith that such insurance is not reasonably available, if the premium costs for such insurance are disproportionate to the amount of coverage provided, if the coverage provided by such insurance is limited by exclusions so as to provide an insufficient benefit, or if Indemnitee is covered by similar insurance maintained by a parent or subsidiary of the Company; provided however that such decision shall not adversely affect coverage of director and officer liability insurance for periods prior to such decision without the unanimous vote of all directors. (b) In the event of any payment by the Company under this Agreement, the Company shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment to all of the rights of recovery of Indemnitee with respect to any insurance policy, who shall execute all papers required and take all action necessary to secure such rights, including execution of such documents as are necessary to enable the Company to bring suit to enforce such rights in accordance with the terms of such insurance policy. The Company shall pay or reimburse all expenses actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee in connection with such subrogation. 8. Rights Not Exclusive. The rights provided hereunder shall not be deemed exclusive by any other rights to which the Indemnitee may be entitled under the Washington Business Corporation Act, Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws or any agreement, vote of shareholders or of disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in Indemnitee’s official capacity and as to action in any other capacity by holding such office, and shall continue after the Indemnitee ceases to serve the Company as a Indemnitee. 9. Notices. Any notice, demand or request required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed given when actually received (either through delivery in person or by telex or facsimile transmission) or two business days after
being deposited in the U.S. mail, as certified or registered mail, with postage prepaid, and addressed to the party to be notified. 10 No Employment Rights. Nothing contained in this Agreement is intended to create in Indemnitee any right to continued or future employment. 11. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Agreement is determined by a court to require the Company to do or to fail to do an act which is in violation of the Washington Business Corporation Act or other applicable law, such provision shall be limited or modified in its application to the minimum extent necessary to avoid a violation of law, and, as so limited or modified, such provision and the balance of this Agreement shall be enforceable in accordance with their terms. 12. Choice of Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington. 13. Consent to Jurisdiction. The Company and the Indemnitee each hereby irrevocably consent to the jurisdiction of the state and federal courts located in King County, Washington for all purposes in connection with any action or proceeding which arises out of or relates to this Agreement. 7

14. Entire Agreement; Enforcement of Rights. This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement and understanding of the parties relating to the subject matter herein, replaces any prior Indemnification Agreement between the parties and merges all prior discussions between them. No modification, amendment or termination of this Agreement, nor any waiver of any rights under this Agreement, shall be effective unless in writing signed by the parties to this Agreement. The failure by either party to enforce any rights under this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of any rights of such party. 15 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one instrument. 16. Successor and Assigns. This Agreement shall be (i) binding upon all successors and assigns of the Company (including any transferee of all or substantially all of its assets and any successor by merger or otherwise by operation of law) and (ii) shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the heirs, personal representatives and estate of Indemnitee. 17. Amendment. No amendment, modification, termination or cancellation of this Agreement shall be effective unless made in a writing signed by each of the parties hereto. 18. Effective Time. This Agreement shall, in the case of a Director, be deemed effective and relate back to the date of first election of the Director to the Board of Directors of the Company. In the case of an Officer, this Agreement relates back to the first appointment of such Officer by the Company. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and Indemnitee have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written. TRUEBLUE, INC. By: Title: INDEMNITEE By: Indemnitee 8

NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT In consideration of TrueBlue, Inc., or the TrueBlue, Inc. subsidiary, affiliate, related business entity, successor, or assign (collectively TrueBlue, Inc. and all of its present and future subsidiaries, affiliates, related business entities, success and assigns are referred to herein as “TrueBlue or “Company”) employing me, compensating me, providing me with benefits, providing me with administrative support, providing me with the benefit of Company’s research, know-how, market strategies and business plans, and specifically in consideration of the additional consideration provided in the Employment Agreement executed on or about the date set forth below, the adequacy, sufficiency and receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound, I, ___________ (“Employee”), hereby acknowledge that I understand and agree that the provisions hereof are part of and a condition of my employment with Company, and are effective as of the date first set forth below. I also understand that I may be required to execute additional non-competition agreement(s) relating to the Company’s business outside of the United States, and that any such agreement(s) will be supplemental to, and not replace, this Agreement. I. NON-COMPETITION, NON-INTERFERENCE, NON-SOLICITATION, AND CONFIDENTIALITY A. Definitions. 1. “Business Area” means any state, county or city in the United States and any foreign country, state or province in which, during the period of Employee’s employment with Company, Company conducts or is seriously evaluating whether to conduct business, including expansion of its business lines or services domestically or internationally. Employee acknowledges that as a member of the Company’s senior leadership team, Employee’s services are integral to conducting business and expanding business domestically and internationally. 2. “Candidate” means, any individual who has applied for and/or accepted placement in a job by Company with a Client, and (i) about whom Employee obtained information, or (ii) with whom Employee interacted on behalf of Company. 3. “Client” means, any individual, business or other entity to which Company provided any services, prior to Employee’s last date of employment with Company. 4. “Colleague” means any Company employee who has been employed by Company during the six months prior to the termination of Employee’s employment with Company. 5. “Confidential Information” means, whether original, duplicated, computerized, memorized, handwritten, or in any other form, and all information contained therein,
including, without limitation: (a) the ideas, methods, techniques, formats, specifications, procedures, designs, strategies, systems, processes, data and software products which are unique to Company; (b) all of Company’s business plans, present, future or potential customers or clients (including the names, addresses and any other information concerning any customer or client), marketing, marketing strategies, pricing and financial information, research, training, know-how, operations, processes, products, inventions, business practices, databases and information contained therein, its wage rates, margins, mark-ups, finances, banking, books, records, contracts, agreements, principals, vendors, suppliers, contractors, employees, applicants, Candidates, skill sets of applicants, skill sets of Candidates, marketing methods, costs, prices, price structures, methods for calculating and/or determining prices, contractual relationships, business relationships, compensation paid to employees and/or contractors, and/or other terms of employment, employee evaluations, and/or employee skill sets; (c) the content of all of Company’s operations, sales and , - 1 -

training manuals; (d) all other information now in existence or later developed which is similar to the foregoing; (e) all information which is marked as confidential or explained to be confidential or which, by its nature, is confidential or otherwise constitutes the intellectual property or proprietary information of Company; and/or (f) any of Company’s “trade secrets”. For the purposes of this Section, all references to, and agreements regarding, Confidential Information or Confidential Information of Company also apply to Confidential Information belonging to any affiliate of Company, and to any confidential or proprietary information of third party clients that Company has an obligation to keep confidential. Employee’s covenants in this Section shall protect affiliates and clients of Company to the same extent that they protect Company. Confidential Information shall not include any portion of the foregoing which (i) is or becomes generally available to the public in any manner or form through no fault of Employee, or (ii) is approved for Employee’s disclosure or use by the express written consent of the Chief Employee Officer of Company, Inc. 6. “Conflicting Organization” means, any person, entity or organization engaged (or about to become engaged) in a business similar to, or that competes with, the business of Company, including without limitation any person or organization that provides any product, process or service that is similar to or competes with any product, process or service provided by Company. The term “Conflicting Organization” specifically includes without limitation any person, entity or organization that provides temporary and/or permanent staffing services, outsourced human capital services focused on recruitment (RPO), workforce management, managed service providers (MSP), a technology provider that provides temporary staffing through electronic means, or applicant process outsourcing. B. Confidentiality, Non-Disclosure and Non-Use Obligations. 1. Employee agrees that all records and Confidential Information obtained by Employee as a result of Employee’s employment with Company, whether original, duplicated, computerized, memorized, handwritten, or in any other form, and all information contained therein, are confidential and the sole and exclusive property of Company. Employee understands and agrees that the business of Company and the nature of Employee’s employment will require Employee to have access to Confidential Information of and about Company, its business, its Candidates, and its Clients. During Employee’s employment and thereafter, Employee will not use Confidential Information or
remove any such records from the offices of Company except for the sole purpose of conducting business on behalf of Company. Employee further agrees that during Employee’s employment and thereafter, Employee will not divulge or disclose this Confidential Information to any third party and under no circumstances will Employee reveal or permit this information to become known by any competitor of Company. 2. Employee agrees and acknowledges that all Confidential Information is to be held in confidence and is the sole and exclusive property of Company and/or its affiliates or clients. Employee recognizes the importance of protecting the confidentiality and secrecy of Confidential Information. Employee agrees to use Employee’s best efforts to protect Confidential Information from unauthorized disclosure to others. Employee understands that protecting Confidential Information from unauthorized disclosure is critically important to Company’s success and competitive advantage, and that the unauthorized use or disclosure of Confidential Information would greatly damage Company. Employee recognizes and agrees that taking and using Confidential Information, including trade secrets, by memory is no different from taking it on paper or in some other tangible form, and that all of such conduct is prohibited. Employee agrees that, prior to use or disclosure, Employee will request clarification from Company’s legal department if Employee is at all uncertain as to whether any information or materials are “Confidential Information.” 3. During Employee’s employment and in perpetuity after the termination of Employee’s employment for any or no cause or reason, Employee agrees: (a) not to use any Confidential Information - 2 -

for the benefit of any person (including, without limitation, Employee’s benefit) or entity other than Company; and (b) not to, except as necessary or appropriate for Employee to perform Employee’s job responsibilities, disclose any Confidential Information to others, or remove any such records from the offices of Company except for the sole purpose of conducting business on behalf of Company. If at any time Employee ever believes that any person has received or disclosed or intends to receive or disclose Confidential Information without Company’s consent, Employee agrees to immediately notify Company. 4. At any time during Employee’s employment upon Company’s request, and at the end of Employee’s employment with Company, even without Company’s request, Employee covenants, agrees to, and shall immediately return to Company, at its headquarters, all Confidential Information as defined herein, and all other material and records of any kind concerning Company’s business, and all other property of Company that Employee may possess or control. 5. At all times, Employee agrees not to directly or indirectly take, possess, download, allow others to take or possess or download, provide to others, delete or destroy or allow others to delete or destroy, any of Company’s Confidential Information or other property, other than in the normal course of business. 6. Employee agrees that these covenants are necessary to protect Company’s Confidential Information, and Company’s legitimate business interests (including, without limitation, the confidentiality of Company’s business information and other legitimate interests), in view of Employee’s key role with each branch of Company and its affiliates and the extent of confidential and proprietary information about the entire Company and its affiliates and clients to which Employee has information. Company and Employee agree that the provisions of this Section do not impose an undue hardship on Employee and are not injurious to the public; that they are necessary to protect the business of Company and its affiliates and clients; that the nature of Employee’s responsibilities with Company under this Agreement and Employee’s former responsibilities with Company provide and/or have provided Employee with access to Confidential Information that is valuable and confidential to Company; that Company would not employ or continue to employ Employee if Employee did not agree to the provisions of this Section; that this Section is reasonable in its terms and that consideration supports this Section, including new consideration as set forth in the Employee Employment Agreement. 7. Employee
agrees to notify Company (Human Resources) if he becomes aware that others are using, wrongfully disclosing, downloading, making copies of, taking, possessing, downloading, deleting or destroying confidential information. C. Duty of Loyalty. 1. Employee agrees that at all times during Employee’s employment with Company; Employee owes Company a duty of loyalty and a duty to act in good faith. Employee agrees that during Employee’s employment, Employee will not individually, or in combination with any other Employee, individual, or competitor of Company, violate or breach the terms of this Agreement. 2. Employee agrees to devote all time that is reasonably necessary to execute and complete Employee’s duties to Company. During the time necessary to execute Employee’s duties, Employee agrees to devote Employee’s full and undivided time, energy, knowledge, skill and ability to Company’s business, to the exclusion of all other business and sideline interests. Because of the agreement in the preceding sentence, during Employee’s employment with Company, Employee also agrees not to be employed or provide any type of services, whether as an advisor, consultant, independent contractor or otherwise in any capacity elsewhere unless first authorized, in writing, by a proper representative of Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to prohibit Executive from - 3 -

serving on corporate, industry, civic or charitable boards or committees, or authoring articles/books, so long as such activities do not interfere in any respect with the performance of Executive’s responsibilities as an employee of the Company in accordance with this Agreement. In no event will Employee allow other activities to conflict or interfere with Employee’s duties to Company. Employee agrees to faithfully and diligently perform all duties to the best of Employee’s ability. Employee recognizes that the services to be rendered under this Agreement require certain training, skills and experience, and that this Agreement is entered into for the purpose of obtaining such service for Company. Upon request, Employee agrees to provide Company with any information which Employee possesses relating to company business and which will be of benefit to Company. Employee agrees to perform Employee’s duties in a careful, safe, loyal and prudent manner. Employee agrees to conduct him/herself in a way which will be a credit to Company’s reputation and interests, and to otherwise fulfill all fiduciary and other duties Employee has to Company. D. Return of Information, Records, and Materials. 1. Employee agrees that upon the termination of Employee’s employment with Company or at the request of Company at any time, Employee will immediately deliver to Company all Company property, including without limitation all information, records, materials, and copies thereof in any form whatsoever, that are related in any way to Company or its business, or which are otherwise referred to in Sections I.A.5 and I.B. above. 2. Employee acknowledges and agrees that unless otherwise expressly prohibited by law, Company has the complete right to review, inspect and monitor all Company property, including, without limitation, email, voicemail, and computer property of Company, and to review, inspect and monitor Employee’s use of the internet or other computer related transmission of information, including, without limitation, the identity and use of USB and other computer related drives. Employee acknowledges that Employee has no expectation of privacy in Company’s property, including, without limitation, email, voicemail, and computer property. E. Non-Competition Covenant. 1. Employee agrees that during Employee’s employment with Company and for a period of twelve (12) months following the termination of Employee’s employment for any reason, Employee shall not, directly or indirectly, in any Business Area, engage in, work for, provide services to, own, manage, operate, control or otherwise engage or participate in, or be
connected as an owner, partner, principal, creditor, salesman, guarantor, advisor, member of the board of directors of, Employee of, independent contractor of, or consultant to, any Conflicting Organization. The restrictions in this Section I.E.1 include without limitation the solicitation on behalf of a Conflicting Organization of any Client located in any Business Area (e.g., Employee may not on behalf of a Conflicting Organization solicit a Client located within a Business Area by telephoning the Client from a site located outside the Business Area). 2. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of Section I.E and the restrictions set forth therein, Employee may own securities in any publicly held corporation that is covered by the restrictions set forth in Section I.E, but only to the extent that Employee does not own, of record or beneficially, more than 5% of the outstanding beneficial ownership of such corporation. F. Non-Solicitation/Non-Interference with Employees/Candidates. 1. Employee acknowledges that Company has a legitimate protectable interest in maintaining a stable and undisrupted workforce. Employee agrees that during Employee’s employment and for a period of twenty-four (24) months following the termination of Employee’s employment for any reason, Employee - 4 -

will not, directly or indirectly, on behalf of himself/herself, or on behalf of any other person, entity, or organization, employ, solicit for employment, or otherwise seek to employ or retain any Colleague, or in any way assist or facilitate any such employment, solicitation, or retention effort. 2. Employee agrees that during Employee’s employment and for a period of twenty-four (24) months following the termination of Employee’s employment for any reason, Employee shall not, directly or indirectly, engage in any conduct intended or reasonably calculated to induce or urge any Colleague to discontinue, in whole or in part, his/her employment relationship with Company. 3. Employee agrees that during Employee’s employment and for a period of twenty-four (24) months following the termination of Employee’s employment for any reason, Employee will not directly or indirectly, on behalf of himself/herself, or on behalf of any other person, entity, or organization, initiate contact with any Candidate for the purpose of employing, soliciting for employment, or otherwise seeking to employ or retain any Candidate. G. Non-Solicitation/Non-Interference with Clients. 1. During Employee’s employment and for a period of twenty-four (24) months following the termination of Employee’s employment for any reason, Employee shall not, directly or indirectly, solicit any Client for the purpose of providing temporary and/or permanent staffing services on behalf of a Conflicting Organization. Employee’s agreement “not to solicit” as set forth in this Section I.G.1 means that Employee will not, either directly or indirectly, for any reason, initiate any contact or communication with any Client for the purpose of soliciting, inviting, encouraging, recommending or requesting any Client to do business with Employee and/or a Conflicting Organization in connection with the provision of temporary and/or permanent staffing services. 2. During Employee’s employment and for a period of twenty-four (24) months following the termination of Employee’s employment for any reason, Employee shall not, directly or indirectly, engage in any conduct intended or reasonably calculated to induce or urge any Client to discontinue, in whole or in part, its patronage or business relationship with Company. 3. During Employee’s employment and for a period of twenty-four (24) months following the termination of Employee’s employment for any reason, Employee shall not, directly or indirectly, accept any business from, or do any business with, any Client in connection with the provision of temporary and/or permanent staffing services. H. Representations and Acknowledgments of
Employee. Employee represents that: 1. Employee is familiar with the covenants not to compete and not to interfere with Clients, Candidates and Employees set forth in Article I of this Agreement; 2. Company has a legitimate business interest in enforcement of the restrictions contained in Article I, including without limitation, Company’s need to protect the goodwill of Company, its investment in training of the Employee, the client relationships of Company, the stability of Company’s workforce, and the confidentiality of Company’s business information and other legitimate interests; 3. Employee is fully aware of Employee’s obligations under this Agreement, including, without limitation, the length of time, scope and geographic coverage of these covenants and has had an opportunity to consult an attorney and Company and Employee agree that the provisions of Article I do not impose an - 5 -

undue hardship on Employee and are not injurious to the public; that they are necessary to protect the business of Company and its affiliates and clients; that the nature of Employee’s responsibilities with Company under this Agreement and Employee’s former responsibilities with Company provide and/or have provided Employee with access to Confidential Information that is valuable and confidential to Company; that Company would not employ or continue to employ Employee if Employee did not agree to the provisions of Article I; that Article I is reasonable in its terms and that consideration supports Article I, including new consideration as set forth in the Employee Employment Agreement; 4. Employee’s execution of this agreement, and Employee’s employment by Company, does not violate any agreement that Employee has entered into with a third party, and Employee acknowledges that any inaccuracy in this representation and warranty will constitute grounds for Employee’s immediate termination by Company which will, upon any such termination, have no further obligation to Employee. Employee agrees to indemnify and hold Company harmless from any and all suits and claims arising out of any breach of any terms and conditions contained in any such agreements entered into by Employee; and 5. Employee understands that the identity of Company’s Clients sometimes may be ascertainable by observation or through publicly available resources. Nonetheless, Employee acknowledges that as a result of Employee’s employment with Company, Employee will be acting as a representative of Company and will be utilizing Company’s assets, resources and will be benefiting from Company’s goodwill, name recognition, reputation, and experience in regard to these Clients, and Employee will gain Confidential Information about these Clients, and consequently, the covenants set forth above are reasonable and necessary to protect Company’s legitimate business interests. I. Injunctive Relief; Further Remedies. In the event that Employee breaches or threatens to breach, or Company reasonably believes that Employee is about to breach, any of the covenants of Sections I.B, I.C, I.D, I.E, I.F, or I.G, Employee understands that Company make seek injunctive relief, equitable accounting of all earnings, profits and other benefits arising out of this agreement, as well as any other rights or remedies to which Company may be entitled to under law or equity. Employee understands that Company may seek and, upon proper evidence as determined in the appropriate Court of Law, may obtain a restraining order and injunction ordering: 1. that Employee
immediately return to Company all Confidential Information as defined in this Agreement, and any other Company property described in Section I.B above, in any form whether original, copied, computerized, handwritten, or recreated, and that Employee be permanently enjoined and restrained from using or disclosing all said Confidential Information and records; 2. that, during Employee’s employment with Company and for the twelve (12) months following the termination of Employee’s employment for any reason, Employee be enjoined from engaging in, working for, providing services to, owning, managing, operating, controlling or otherwise engaging or participating in, or being connected as an owner, partner, principal, creditor, salesman, guarantor, advisor, member of the board of directors of, employee of, independent contractor of, or consultant to, any Conflicting Organization and/or any Client within any Business Area; 3. that, during Employee’s employment with Company and for a period of twenty-four (24) months following the termination of Employee’s employment for any reason, Employee be enjoined from employing, soliciting for employment, or otherwise seeking to employ, retain, divert or take away any Colleague, or in any other way assisting or facilitating any such employment, solicitation or retention effort; and further that Employee be enjoined from engaging in any conduct intended or reasonably calculated to induce or urge any Colleague to discontinue, in whole or in part, his/her employment relationship with Company; - 6 -

4. that, during Employee’s employment and for a period of twenty-four (24) months following the termination of Employee’s employment for any reason, Employee be enjoined from directly or indirectly, on behalf of himself/herself, or on behalf of any other person, entity, or organization, initiating contact with any Candidate for the purpose of employing, soliciting for employment, or otherwise seeking to employ or retain any Candidate; and 5. that, during Employee’s employment with Company and for a period of twenty-four (24) months following the termination of Employee’s employment for any reason, Employee be enjoined from soliciting any Client for the purpose of providing temporary and/or permanent staffing services, including without limitation that Employee be enjoined from initiating any contact or communication with any Client for the purpose of soliciting, inviting, encouraging, recommending or requesting any Client to do business with a Conflicting Organization in connection with the provision of temporary and/or permanent staffing services; and further, that Employee be enjoined from accepting or doing business with any Client in connection with the provision of temporary and/or permanent staffing services; and further that Employee be enjoined from engaging in any conduct intended or reasonably calculated to induce or urge any Client to discontinue, in whole or in part, its patronage or business relationship with Company. Employee hereby agrees that the duration of any injunction shall be increased in an amount equal to any period of time during which Employee failed to comply with the covenants contained in this Agreement. J. Notice of Agreement to Subsequent Employers, Business Partners, and/or Investors. Employee agrees that Employee will tell any prospective new employer, business partners, and/or investors, prior to accepting employment or engaging in a business venture that this Agreement exists, and further, Employee agrees to provide a true and correct copy of this Agreement to any prospective employer, business partner and/or investor prior to accepting employment or engaging in any business venture. Employee further authorizes Company to provide a copy of this Agreement to any new employer, business partner and/or investor. K. Severability. Company and Employee stipulate that, in light of all of the facts and circumstances of the relationship between Employee and Company, the agreements referred to in Sections I.B, I.C, I.D, I.E, I.F, or I.G (including, without limitation their scope, duration and geographic extent) are fair and reasonably necessary for the protection of Company, or any of its
affiliates’ or subsidiaries’ confidential information, goodwill and other protectable interests. Employee acknowledges and agrees that the covenants in I.B, I.C, I.D, I.E, I.F, or I.G of this Agreement are reasonable and valid in geographical and temporal scope and in all other respects, as are all terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement. If any arbitrator or court determines that any of the covenants, terms, or conditions set forth herein, or any part thereof, is invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of the covenants, terms, and conditions shall not be affected thereby and shall be given full effect, without regard to the invalid portions. If any arbitrator or court determines that any of the covenants, or any part thereof, is unenforceable because of the duration, geographic or other scope of such provision, such arbitrator or court shall have the power to and should, and Employee and Company request the arbitrator or court to, reform these provisions to restrict Employee’s use of confidential information and Employee’s ability to compete with Company, to the maximum extent, in time, scope of activities, and geography, the court finds enforceable, and, in its reduced form, such provision shall then be enforceable. II. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS A. Choice of Law. Company and Employee agree that this Agreement and all interpretations of the provisions of this Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of Washington, without regard to choice of law principles. - 7 -

B. Jurisdiction and Venue. Employee and Company hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submit to the jurisdiction of the Washington State Superior Court for Pierce County, or the United States District Court, Western District of Washington at Tacoma or to any court in any location where Employee is threatening to breach or is engaged in breaching the Agreement; Employee and Company consent to submit to venue and personal jurisdiction of the courts identified herein, and agree to waive any objection to venue or personal jurisdiction in these courts, including but not limited to any claim that any such suit, action or proceeding has been brought in an inconvenient forum. C. Binding Effect and Assignability. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors, assigns, affiliated entities, and any party-in-interest. Employee agrees and understands that, should Company be acquired by, merge with, or otherwise combine with another corporation or business entity, the surviving entity will have all rights to enforce the terms of this Agreement as if it were Company itself enforcing the Agreement.* Company reserves the right to assign this Agreement to its affiliates, an affiliated company or to any successor in interest to Company’s business without notifying Employee, and Employee hereby consents to any such assignment. All terms and conditions of this Agreement will remain in effect following any such assignment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Employee may not assign this Agreement. *Provided that agreement remains related to staffing industry only as therefore it would limit the Employee’s ability to obtain subsequent gainful employment. D. No Waiver of Rights. A waiver by Company of the breach of any of the provisions of this Agreement by Employee shall not be deemed a waiver by Company of any subsequent breach, nor shall recourse to any remedy hereunder be deemed a waiver of any other or further relief or remedy provided for herein. No waiver shall be effective unless made in writing and signed by the Chief Employee Officer of Company, Inc. This Agreement shall be enforceable regardless of any claim Employee may have against Company. E. Employment at Will. Nothing by way of this Agreement is intended to, nor shall it, affect the at-will nature of Employee’s employment with Company. Employee’s employment with Company shall terminate at the will of either Employee or Company, with or without cause and with or without notice at any time. This at-will relationship cannot be changed or altered in any way unless expressly
modified in writing by the Chief Employee Officer of Company, Inc. Employee agrees that if Employee elects to terminate Employee’s employment with Company, Employee will provide Company with two week’s prior notice of termination. F. Attorneys’ Fees. In any suit or proceeding to enforce the terms of this Agreement Employee and Company agree that the prevailing party in any such dispute shall be paid and indemnified by the non- prevailing party for and against all expenses of every nature and character incurred by in pursuing such suit or proceeding including, without limitation, all reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and disbursements. G. Headings for Convenience Only. The headings contained in this Agreement are for the convenience of the parties and for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. H. Survival. This Agreement shall survive the termination of Employee’s employment, however caused. EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT EMPLOYEE HAS READ AND UNDERSTANDS THIS AGREEMENT, THAT EMPLOYEE HAS BEEN GIVEN AN - 8 -

OPPORTUNITY TO CONSULT WITH LEGAL COUNSEL CONCERNING THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT, AND THAT EMPLOYEE AGREES TO THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above. EMPLOYEE COMPANY By: By: Name: Name: Date: Title: Date: - 9 -

TRUEBLUE, INC. RESTRICTED STOCK GRANT NOTICE & ACKNOWLEDGEMENT (“Grant Notice”) (TrueBlue 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated) TrueBlue, Inc. (the “Company”), pursuant to its TrueBlue 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated (the “Plan”), grants to Participant named below, as of the Date of Grant, the number of shares of the Company’s common stock set forth below. The shares granted hereunder are subject to certain vesting and transfer restrictions as set forth below and are referred to herein as “Restricted Stock.” The Restricted Stock is subject to all of the Restricted Stock Grant Terms and Conditions, attached hereto, and to the terms of the Plan, both of which are incorporated by reference herein in their entirety. Copies of the Plan are available upon request. Participant: «Full_Name» Number of Shares of Restricted Stock Granted: «Shares» Date of Grant: February 7, 2020 Grant Notice Confirmation Date: March 7, 2020 Vesting Terms: Three‐Year Vesting. The Restricted Stock vests in three equal installments. One third of the Restricted Stock will vest on each successive annual anniversary of the Date of Grant, becoming 100% vested on the third annual anniversary of the Date of Grant, so long as you are employed with the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate of the Company at such time. Additional Terms/Acknowledgements: Unless Participant contacts the Company’s Chief Legal Officer’s office in writing within 30 days of the date of this Grant Notice, Participant acknowledges receipt of, and understands and agrees to, this Grant Notice and the attached Restricted Stock Grant Terms and Conditions, and understands that a copy of the Plan is available upon request. Participant further acknowledges that as of the Date of Grant, this Grant Notice, the Restricted Stock Grant Terms and Conditions, and the Plan set forth the entire understanding between Participant and the Company regarding the acquisition of the Restricted Stock granted hereunder and supersede all prior oral and written agreements on that subject. Establishing a brokerage account as set forth below and/or accepting the Restricted Stock granted hereunder shall constitute agreement to the terms above and any other referenced terms. Brokerage Account: Participant agrees to establish and maintain a brokerage account with a financial institution designated by the Company, which is currently Merrill Lynch. The Participant will not be able to accept the award or sell any shares vested under this agreement until such a brokerage account is created. TRUEBLUE, INC. By: Signature Name: James E. Defebaugh
Title: EVP, Chief Legal Officer Date: February 7, 2020 ATTACHMENTS: Restricted Stock Grant Terms and Conditions

RESTRICTED STOCK GRANT TERMS AND CONDITIONS Pursuant to your Restricted Stock Grant Notice & Acknowledgment (“Grant Notice”) and these Restricted Stock Grant Terms and Conditions, TrueBlue, Inc. (the “Company”) has granted to you under its TrueBlue 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated (the “Plan”) the number of shares of the Company’s common stock (“Shares”) indicated in your Grant Notice. The Shares are subject to certain vesting restrictions and are referred to herein as “Restricted Stock.” Defined terms not explicitly defined in these Restricted Stock Grant Terms and Conditions, but defined in the Plan, shall have the same definitions as in the Plan. The definitions of “Cause,” “Terminate for Good Reason,” and “Change of Control” shall be the same as set forth in the Participant’s Employment Agreements (defined below). Subject to the limitations contained herein, the provisions of your employment agreement, and, if applicable, any change in control agreement between you and the Company, (the “Employment Agreements”) shall supersede and control any conflict between the (a) Employment Agreements and (b) the Grant Notice or these Restricted Stock Grant Terms and Conditions. The details of your award are as follows: 1. VESTING AND FORFEITURE OF RESTRICTED STOCK. (a) Termination of Employment. Subject to the limitations contained herein, you will vest in your Restricted Stock as provided in your Grant Notice, provided that vesting will cease upon the termination of your employment with the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates. Any Restricted Stock in which you are not vested when you terminate employment with the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates shall be forfeited and ownership of such Shares shall return to the Company on your employment termination date. (b) Change of Control. If there is a Change of Control while you are employed by the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate of the Company, and you are terminated without Cause or you Terminate for Good Reason, your Restricted Stock shall become immediately 100% vested upon such Change of Control and subsequent termination. (c) Retirement. If you retire (voluntarily terminate your employment) from the Company, and are: (i) at least 55 years of age, and (ii) have completed 10 years of service with the Company, then at the time of your termination, Shares that would normally vest at the next scheduled vesting will be prorated based on the days worked since the last vesting date and released to you within 30 days of your termination of employment. 2. NUMBER OF SHARES
OF RESTRICTED STOCK. The number of Shares of Restricted Stock referenced in your Grant Notice may be adjusted from time to time for changes in the Company’s capital structure at the Board’s sole discretion, as provided in the Plan. 3. OWNERSHIP AND TAXATION UPON VESTING IN RESTRICTED STOCK. (a) Until you vest in your Restricted Stock, the Restricted Stock shall be held by the Company on your behalf. Your ownership of the Restricted Stock shall be evidenced by a stock certificate, appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company, or other appropriate means as determined by the Company. In the event ownership of Shares is prohibited due to foreign exchange, securities regulations, or other provisions of applicable law, you or, in the event of your death, your legal representative, shall receive cash proceeds in an amount equal to the value of the Shares otherwise distributable to you upon vesting in the Restricted Stock, net of the satisfaction of the requirements of Section 3(b) below. (b) Upon vesting in your Restricted Stock, you shall pay, or make adequate arrangements satisfactory to the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate of the Company to pay, any sums required to satisfy the federal, state, local, and foreign tax withholding obligations of the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate of the Company, if any, which arise in connection with your vesting in the Restricted Stock. You hereby authorize the Company (or a subsidiary or affiliate of the Company that employs you), at the time your Restricted Stock becomes vested or at any time thereafter, to withhold from payroll and any other amounts payable to you, and otherwise agree to make adequate provision for, sums to satisfy the required tax withholdings. Alternatively, or in addition, if permissible under local law, the Company may (i) sell or arrange for the sale of a portion of the Restricted Stock to satisfy the withholding obligation and/or (ii) reclaim

ownership of a portion of the Restricted Stock, provided that the Company shall retake ownership in only the amount of Shares necessary to satisfy the minimum withholding amount. You shall pay to the Company (or the subsidiary or affiliate of the Company that employs you) any amount needed to pay the tax withholding obligations that cannot be satisfied by the means previously described. The Company may refuse to release the transfer restrictions on the Restricted Stock if you fail to meet your tax withholding obligations. (c) In lieu of releasing restrictions on fractional Shares, on the vesting of a fraction of a Share, the Company shall vest the entire Share where the fraction represents 0.5 or more of the Share and shall not vest any of the Share where such fraction represents less than 0.5 of the Share. (d) Until your Restricted Stock is evidenced by a stock certificate, appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company, or other appropriate means, you shall have no right to vote or receive dividends or any other rights as a shareholder with respect to such Shares. No adjustment will be made for a dividend or other right for which the record date is prior to the date you are recorded as the owner of the Shares, unless the Committee provides you with a dividend equivalent right pursuant to Section 4 of the Plan. (e) By accepting the Grant Notice through accepting the Restricted Stock grant at the Merrill Lynch website, you agree not to sell any of the Shares in which you become vested at a time when applicable laws or Company policies prohibit a sale. 4. TRANSFERABILITY. Your right in the Restricted Stock awarded under the Grant Notice and any interest therein may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypothecated, transferred, or disposed of in any manner, other than by will or by the laws of descent or distribution, prior to the vesting in respect of such Restricted Stock. 5. RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD NOT A SERVICE CONTRACT. Your award of Restricted Stock is not an employment or service contract, and nothing in your award shall be deemed to create in any way whatsoever any obligation on your part to continue in the employ of the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate of the Company, or any obligation on the part of the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate of the Company to continue your employment. In addition, nothing in your award shall obligate the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate of the Company, their respective shareholders, boards of directors, officers, or employees to continue any relationship that you might have as a Director or Consultant for the Company or a
subsidiary or affiliate of the Company. 6. GOVERNING PLAN DOCUMENT. Your Restricted Stock award is subject to all the provisions of the Plan, the provisions of which are hereby made a part of your award, and is further subject to all interpretations, amendments, rules, and regulations which may from time to time be promulgated and adopted pursuant to the Plan. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of your award or your Employment Agreements and those of the Plan, the provisions of the Plan shall control. 7. STOCKHOLDER RIGHTS. You will be deemed to be the holder of, and will have all of the rights of a holder with respect to, any Shares and with respect to your Restricted Stock once your ownership of such Shares or Restricted Stock is evidenced as set forth in Section 3 above, even if you have not vested in your Restricted Stock, provided, however, that any dividends paid or distributions made on Restricted Stock in which you are not vested shall be subject to the same vesting schedule as the Restricted Stock upon which the dividend is paid or distribution made, and the Restricted Stock shall be subject to transfer restrictions as set forth in Section 4 above. 8. GOLDEN PARACHUTE TAXES. In the event that any amounts paid or deemed paid to you pursuant to the Grant Notice are deemed to constitute “excess parachute payments” as defined in Section 280G of the Code (taking into account any other payments made to you under the Plan and any other compensation paid or deemed paid to you), or if you are deemed to receive an “excess parachute payment” by reason of the acceleration of vesting of your Restricted Stock granted under the Plan due to a Change of Control, the amount of such payments or deemed payments shall be reduced (or, alternatively, the number of Shares of Restricted Stock that become 100% vested shall be reduced), so that no such payments or deemed payments shall constitute excess parachute payments. The determination of whether a payment or deemed payment constitutes an excess parachute payment shall be in the sole discretion of the Company’s Board.

TRUEBLUE, INC. PERFORMANCE SHARE UNIT GRANT NOTICE & ACKNOWLEDGEMENT (“Grant Notice”) (TrueBlue 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated) TrueBlue, Inc. (the “Company”), pursuant to its TrueBlue 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated (the “Plan”), grants to Participant named below, as of the Date of Grant, the number of performance share units (“Performance Share Units” or “Units”) set forth below. Each Performance Share Unit granted represents the contingent right to receive one share of the Company’s common stock. The Performance Share Units granted hereunder are subject to certain vesting and transfer restrictions as set forth below. The Performance Share Units are subject to all of the Performance Share Unit Grant Terms and Conditions, attached hereto, and the terms of the Plan, both of which are incorporated by reference herein in their entirety. Copies of the Plan are available upon request. Participant: «Full_Name» Number of Performance Share Units Granted: «Units» Date of Grant: February 7, 2020 Grant Notice Confirmation Date: March 7, 2020 Vesting Terms: Performance Vesting. Your Performance Share Units are not immediately vested. Performance Share Units are awarded based upon the Company’s performance on key financial metrics over a three‐year period (“Performance Period”). The Performance Share Units will vest and be converted into Company common stock based upon the Company meeting certain performance metrics calculated at the completion of the Performance Period, as set forth below. Performance metrics are established by the Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors at the beginning of the Performance Period. Performance Share Units will vest and be converted into shares of TrueBlue, Inc. common stock two days after the disclosure of earnings for the final fiscal year of the Performance Period and review by the Compensation Committee. The performance metric during the Performance Period for the February 7, 2020 grant of Performance Share Units is the 3‐year average Return on Equity (“ROE”)*. Performance Period % of Shares *As determined by the Company and adjusted Fiscal Years 2020 through 2022 Awarded** according to the terms of the Plan. Maximum 18% Average ROE 150% Target 14% Average ROE 100% **Award levels will be extrapolated between Threshold 10% Average ROE 50% levels beginning at the threshold level. Additional Terms/Acknowledgements: Unless Participant contacts the Company’s Chief Legal Officer’s office in writing within 30 days of the date of this Grant
Notice, Participant acknowledges receipt of, and understands and agrees to, this Grant Notice and the attached Performance Share Unit Grant Terms and Conditions, and understands that a copy of the Plan is available upon request. Participant further acknowledges that as of the Date of Grant, this Grant Notice, the Performance Share Unit Grant Terms and Conditions, and the Plan set forth the entire understanding between Participant and the Company regarding the acquisition of the Performance Share Units granted hereunder and supersede all prior oral and written agreements on that subject. Establishing a brokerage account as set forth below and/or accepting the Performance Stock Unit granted hereunder shall constitute agreement to the terms above and any other referenced terms. TRUEBLUE, INC. By: Title: EVP, Chief Legal Officer Date: February 7, 2020

PERFORMANCE SHARE UNIT GRANT TERMS AND CONDITIONS Pursuant to your Performance Share Unit Grant Notice & Acknowledgment (“Grant Notice”) and these Performance Share Unit Grant Terms and Conditions, TrueBlue Inc. (the “Company”) has granted to you under its TrueBlue 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated (the “Plan”) the number of Performance Share Units (“Performance Share Units” or “Units”) indicated in your Grant Notice. The Units are subject to certain vesting restrictions. Defined terms not explicitly defined in these Performance Share Unit Grant Terms and Conditions, but defined in the Plan, shall have the same definitions as in the Plan. The definitions of “Cause,” “Good Reason,” and “Change of Control” shall be the same as set forth in the Participant’s Employment Agreements (defined below). Subject to the limitations contained herein, the provisions of your employment agreement, and, if applicable, any change in control agreement between you and the Company, (the “Employment Agreements”) shall supersede and control any conflict between the (a) Employment Agreements and (b) the Grant Notice or these Restricted Stock Grant Terms and Conditions, except with regard to Section 1(a)(ii) below. The details of your award are as follows: 1. VESTING AND FORFEITURE OF PERFORMANCE SHARE UNITS. (a) Termination of Employment. (i) If you are terminated with Cause by the Company, or its subsidiaries or affiliates, or you terminate your employment with the Company, or its subsidiaries or affiliates, without Good Reason all vesting in Units will cease and any Units which are not vested shall be forfeited and ownership of such Units shall return to the Company on your employment termination date. (ii) For the purposes of determining the vesting of Units only, if you are terminated by the Company, or its subsidiaries or affiliates, without Cause, or you terminate your employment with the Company, or its subsidiaries or affiliates, for Good Reason, or if your employment with the Company, or its subsidiaries or affiliates, terminates by reason of death, disability, or retirement, you will receive vested Units at the completion of the applicable performance period if the performance vesting provisions set forth in your Grant Notice are met. However, the actual number of shares of common stock you may receive upon conversion of a vested Unit will be pro‐rated based on the portion of the performance period you were employed as increased by any period of accelerated vesting to which you are entitled in your Employment Agreements, if any. (b) Change in Control. If
there is a Change of Control while you are employed by the Company or its subsidiary or affiliate, your Units shall become immediately 100% vested at the target levels upon such Change of Control, provided that the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Committee”) shall have the discretion to determine that the performance goals shall be deemed to have been performed at the maximum level. In determining the extent to which the performance targets have been satisfied, the Committee shall make reasonable adjustment for the unbudgeted impact of: (i) asset write‐downs or impairment charges; (ii) litigation or claim costs, judgments, or settlements; (iii) the effect of changes in tax laws, accounting principles, or other laws or provisions affecting reported results; (iv) restatements occurring as a result of errors that arise from events other than fraud or failures in performance; (v) accruals for reorganization and restructuring programs; (vi) extraordinary nonrecurring items as described in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30 and/or in management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations appearing in the Company’s annual report to stockholders for the applicable year; (vii) acquisitions or divestitures; and (viii) foreign exchange gains and losses. (c) Retirement. If you retire (voluntarily terminate your employment) from the Company and are (i) at least 55 years of age, and (ii) have completed 10 years of service to the Company, then the Performance Share Unit awards that are payable after the last day of employment will be prorated based on the number of days

worked during the Performance Period. Performance Share Unit awards will be paid at the regularly scheduled payout date, post‐employment, at this prorated amount. 2. NUMBER OF SHARES OF PERFORMANCE SHARE UNITS. The number of Units referenced in your Grant Notice may be adjusted from time to time for changes in the Company’s capital structure at the Board’s sole discretion, as provided in the Plan. 3. OWNERSHIP AND TAXATION UPON VESTING IN PERFORMANCE SHARE UNITS. (a) Until you vest in your Units, the Units shall be held by the Company on your behalf. Your ownership of the Units shall be evidenced by an appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized agent of the Company, or other appropriate means as determined by the Company. In the event ownership of Company common stock is prohibited due to foreign exchange, securities regulations, or other provisions of applicable law, you, or in the event of your death, your legal representative, shall receive cash proceeds in an amount equal to the value of the shares of common stock otherwise distributable to you upon vesting of the Units, net of the satisfaction of the requirements of Section 3(b) below. (b) Upon vesting in your Units, each Unit will be converted to one share of Company common stock and distributed to you. At that time, you shall pay, or make adequate arrangements satisfactory to the Company to pay, any sums required to satisfy the federal, state, local, and foreign tax withholding obligations of the Company or its subsidiaries or affiliates, if any, which arise in connection with your vesting in the Units. You hereby authorize the Company (or a subsidiary or affiliate of the Company that employs you), at the time your Units become vested or at any time thereafter, to withhold from payroll and any other amounts payable to you, and otherwise agree to make adequate provision for, sums to satisfy the required tax withholdings. Alternatively, or in addition, if permissible under local law, the Company may (i) sell or arrange for the sale of a portion of the earned shares to satisfy the withholding obligation and/or (ii) reclaim ownership of a portion of the Units, provided that the Company shall retake ownership in only the amount of shares necessary to satisfy the minimum withholding amount. You shall pay to the Company (or the subsidiary or affiliate of the Company that employs you) any amount needed to pay the tax withholding obligations that cannot be satisfied by the means previously described. (c) Until your Units are converted to shares of common stock and are evidenced by a stock certificate, appropriate
entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company, or other appropriate means, you shall have no right to vote or receive dividends or any other rights as a shareholder with respect to such Units. No adjustment will be made for a dividend or other right for which the record date is prior to the date you are recorded as the owner of the shares or common stock, unless the Compensation Committee provides you with a dividend equivalent right pursuant to the Plan. (d) By accepting the Grant Notice through accepting the Performance Share Unit grant at the Merrill Lynch website, you agree not to sell any of the shares of common stock in which you become vested at a time when applicable laws or Company policies prohibit a sale. (e) All Units are only convertible into shares of common stock of the Company. At the time of vesting and converting of Units into shares of common stock, you have no right to convert any Unit directly into cash. After Units have been converted into common stock, you may sell, trade, or otherwise dispose of such shares as you wish, subject to applicable laws, rules, and agreements regarding such shares. 4. TRANSFERABILITY. Your right in the Units awarded under this Performance Share Unit grant and any interest therein may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypothecated, transferred, or disposed of in any manner, other than by will or by the laws of descent or distribution, prior to the vesting in respect of such Units. 5. PERFORMANCE SHARE UNIT AWARD IS NOT A SERVICE CONTRACT. Your award of Units is not an employment or service contract, and nothing in your award shall be deemed to create in any way

whatsoever any obligation on your part to continue in the employ of the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate of the Company, or any obligation on the part of the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate of the Company to continue your employment. In addition, nothing in your award shall obligate the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate of the Company, their respective shareholders, boards of directors, officers, or employees to continue any relationship that you might have as a Director or Consultant for the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate of the Company. 6. GOVERNING PLAN DOCUMENT. Your Units award is subject to all the provisions of the Plan, the provisions of which are hereby made a part of your award and is further subject to all interpretations, amendments, rules, and regulations which may from time to time be promulgated and adopted pursuant to the Plan. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of your award or your Employment Agreements and those of the Plan, the provisions of the Plan shall control. 7. STOCKHOLDER RIGHTS. You will not be deemed to be the holder of, and will not have any of the rights of a holder or owner of any Company common stock represented by your Units until your Units have been earned and converted into Company shares and ownership of such Shares is evidenced as set forth in Section 3 above. Units do not make you eligible to receive any dividends, voting powers, or any other shareholder rights associated with Company common stock. 8. GOLDEN PARACHUTE TAXES. In the event that any amounts paid or deemed paid to you in connection with the Units are deemed to constitute “excess parachute payments” as defined in Section 280G of the Code (taking into account any other payments made to you under the Plan and any other compensation paid or deemed paid to you), or if you are deemed to receive an “excess parachute payment” by reason of the acceleration of vesting of your Units granted under the Plan due to a Change of Control, the amount of such payments or deemed payments shall be reduced (or, alternatively, the number of Performance Share Units that become 100% earned shall be reduced), so that no such payments or deemed payments shall constitute excess parachute payments. The determination of whether a payment or deemed payment constitutes an excess parachute payment shall be in the sole discretion of the Company’s Board.

EXHIBIT 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF TRUEBLUE, INC.
Incorporated in
CORPORATE NAME

state/country of:

Centerline Drivers, LLC

Nevada

Labor Ready Holdings, Inc.

Nevada

Labour Ready Temporary Services, Ltd.

Canada

PeopleReady, Inc.

Washington

PeopleReady Florida, Inc.

Washington

PeopleScout, Inc.

Delaware

PeopleScout MSP, LLC

Nevada

PeopleScout Pty, Ltd

Australia

SIMOS Insourcing Solutions, LLC

Delaware

SMX, LLC

Illinois

Spartan Staffing Puerto Rico, LLC

Puerto Rico

Staff Management Solutions, LLC

Illinois

Staffing Solutions Holdings, Inc.

Delaware

TBI Outsourcing Canada, Inc.

Canada

TBI Outsourcing Poland, Inc.

Poland

TMP (UK) Limited

United Kingdom

TrueBlue Enterprises, Inc.

Nevada

TrueBlue India LLP

India

TrueBlue Netherlands I, B.V.

Netherlands

TrueBlue Netherlands II, B.V.

Netherlands

TrueBlue Services, Inc.

Delaware

Worker’s Assurance of Hawaii, Inc.

Hawaii

TrueBlue, Inc. has several additional subsidiaries not named above. The unnamed subsidiaries, considered in the aggregate as a single subsidiary, would not constitute a significant subsidiary at the end
of the year covered by this report.

EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos: 333-226430 on Form S-3 and Registration Statement Nos: 333-164614, 333-167770, 333-190220, and 333-211737 on Form
S-8 of our reports dated February 24, 2020, relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule of TrueBlue, Inc. and subsidiaries and the effectiveness of TrueBlue, Inc’s
internal control over financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of TrueBlue, Inc. for the year ended December 29, 2019.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Seattle, Washington
February 24, 2020

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, A. Patrick Beharelle, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of TrueBlue, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee
of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 24, 2020
/s/ A. Patrick Beharelle
A. Patrick Beharelle
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Derrek L. Gafford, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of TrueBlue, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee
of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 24, 2020
/s/ Derrek L. Gafford
Derrek L. Gafford
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
We, A. Patrick Beharelle, the chief executive officer of TrueBlue, Inc. (the “company”), and Derrek L. Gafford, the chief financial officer of the company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350,
as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1)

The Annual Report of the company on Form 10-K, for the fiscal period ended December 29, 2019 (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the company.

/s/ A. Patrick Beharelle

/s/ Derrek L. Gafford

A. Patrick Beharelle

Derrek L. Gafford

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

(Principal Financial Officer)

February 24, 2020
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to TrueBlue, Inc. and will be retained by TrueBlue, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.

